——
o
[
P
————
P
—
e —
e —
S

FEREZRERA A

China Fortune Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, carrying on business in Hong Kong as CFH Limited)
(RBEFEIMKZ 2 BRAT - LACFH Limited 7 RTBA BB EITER)
Stock Code J&{n5%: 0110

ANNUAL &
REPORT ik

c02<

EELEELEETS ] |
T o




China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report
FEREERBRAT/ —E-NFFHK

CONTENTS H %

CORPORATE PROFILE
LT @

CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

BUSINESS STRUCTURE
RERE

CORPORATE MILESTONES
ERERE

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREBES

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBEHWRS R

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
ESRERETEARM

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRES

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BR HERELHRE

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EETHESE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ERvR 2 L

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERSRRAMZEBRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RaMBRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FecED®

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeLaRER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERME

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBE=E

10

13

35

40

70

96

112

120

122

124

126

128

284



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

CORPORATE PROFILE
AT EN

China Fortune Holdings Limited (“China Fortune” or the
“Group”), formerly named Fortune Telecom Holdings Limited,
mainly sells and distributes mobile phones and digital products
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group was
established in Hong Kong in 1992. It was first listed on the
GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock code: 8040) on 16 February 2000, and successfully
transferred to the Main Board (Stock code: 110) on 26 January
2004. The Group has a strong shareholder background and
well operational and professional management team.

In 2021, the Group tap into eco-friendly bag automatic bag
taking machine together with the database traffic monetisation
from mobile application business called Beijing Daizhangmen,
in the PRC.

In 2024, the Group entered into the master distribution
agreement with a licensor to grant a license to distribute
“PHILIPS” brand routers and related electronic products in the
channels including permitted digital channels in the region
including the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau for a term of five
years.

The corporate culture of the Group rests on the integration of
the West and the East, modern and traditional management
philosophy, with an aim to build up a “Continuous Learning
Enterprise”. The corporate spirit of China Fortune focuses on
“Human Enterprise”. Under the leadership of its aspiring and
energetic management, China Fortune’s staff will team up and
move towards the Group’s goal of ranking as one of the largest
and best wireless communication and data products and
services providers in the region.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. Lau Siu Ying

Executive Directors
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle
(Appointed on 27 August 2024)
Mr. Wang Yu
(Retired on 31 May 2024)
Mr. Li Jianwu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Law Chun Kwan

Dr. Lo Wai Shun

Mr. Leung Wai Hung

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. So Chi Kai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Leung Wai Hung (Committee Chairman)
Dr. Law Chun Kwan

Dr. Lo Wai Shun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Leung Wai Hung (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Lau Siu Ying

Dr. Law Chun Kwan

Dr. Lo Wai Shun

FEEBRERARAT / —B-WEFR

CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFRH

EETE
EIRERITES
B ERE

HTES

Bzt
(R=ZE-_MFENA=-+LtHEZT)

T B%HE
(R—ZE-_mERA=+—HEMT)

FEREE

BYEBITES
B
BaEEELT
REWHRE

DEME
TR

BERERE
REWSE(FEELE)
B+

e AIE

HFHEEE
REMELE(ZEELE)
B/ S

B+

LBt



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

CORPORATE INFORMATION

LAFEH

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yu
(Retired on 31 May 2024)
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle
(Appointed on 27 August 2024)
Dr. Law Chun Kwan
Dr. Lo Wai Shun
Mr. Leung Wai Hung

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

HONG KONG HEAD OFFICE
Room 1505-06, Tower A, Regent Centre
63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung

Hong Kong

CHINA HEAD OFFICE
Room 8001, Yong Xin Building
887 Huai Hai Zhong Road
Huangpu District

Shanghai, PRC

SHANGHAI OFFICE
Room 328, Xin Mao Lou

2 Tai Zhong Nan Lu
Waigaogiao Free Trade Zone
Shanghai, PRC
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Codan Services Limited

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

AUDITOR
SFAI (HK) CPA Limited
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISORS
As to Hong Kong law:
Franki Ho & Associates

As to Bermuda law:
Conyers Dill & Pearman

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR
Rainbow Capital (HK) Limited

Office No. 710, 7/F, Wing On House
71 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFRH

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFRRT
China Construction Bank HREl R R T

China Merchants Bank HREmR1T

ICBC (Asia) THRTM

Hang Seng Bank B4 RTT
CORPORATE WEBSITES NE L
www.fortunetele.com www.fortunetele.com
www.chinafortune.com www.chinafortune.com
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BUSINESS STRUCTURE
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China Fortune
Holdings Limited
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Trading and distribution
of telecommunication
equipment
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Investment
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Diversified business
development through
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CORPORATE MILESTONES
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The former trading arm of

MAR

The Group has achieved a record
annual sale of 2.1 million sets of
mobile phones and a record net
profit over HK$60 million.

REERITF#2,100,0008 BB E;
FM3B60,000,000% T AR 28 o

the Group - Express Fortune
Limited ("EFL") was founded
by Mr. Lau Siu Ying and

his brothers in Hong Kong.
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Commenced Fortune
Telecom Group's franchise
retail business in the PRC.
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JuL

Completed the acquisition
of 51% shareholdings of
Synergy Pacific (Holding)

TRREREES (15R)
BBAG ([RESH])
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JUN

Limited ("Synergy Pacific").

For a consecutive year, Fortune
Shanghai was again acknowledged
by Shanghai Waigaogiao Free Trade
Zone Management Committee as
one of the best enterprises for
commodity sales.
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EFL became one of Nokia's
earliest authorised
distributors in the PRC.
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DEC

A US$12 million syndicated
loan was successfully
arranged.
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SEPT

A HKS$160 million
syndicated loan was
successfully arranged.
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16 26
Listed on the GEM Board of Fortune Shanghai was Listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock acknowledged by Shanghai the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock code: Waigaoqiao Free Trade Exchange (Stock code:
8040). Zone Management 110).
HEBHRH GEM L conmitee 25 one ot RERBRFLRLT
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DEC

Successfully completed the
acquisition of 100% shareholdings
of Synergy Technologies (Asia)
Limited, and the disposal of 46%
shareholdings of Synergy Pacific.

B TR MBS Synergy Technologies

(Asia) Limited 2 100%%# &2 i1 &
RREI5.246%00E -
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CORPORATE MILESTONES
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Contracted to acquire 51% stake in
Zhuhai Reminda Telecom Equipment
Company Limited (A 8T BB EA
MREEBAF) and completed the
acquisition in October 2007.
HERE T ERERARE
BIRAF 2516 - TH
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SEPT

Formed a joint venture with
TeleChoice International Limited for
the Nokia fulfillment business.

£3TeleChoice International Limited

RU—HAERTE REFAT
Eﬂﬁfﬁ@%ﬁ% ° DEC
ocT Tap into the used
8 mobile phones and
mobile app market
Name changed to China Fortune inthe PRC.

Holdings Limited. EERE-FIH
FLAPERERRARAR - RBBEEER
2dmg .

00000

DEC
23
Newly obtained the Completed the
nationwide distributorship of acquisition of 50.8%
Samsung mobile phones. interest in Sifa Mining
= iy A which has the right to
/%jgéf_gﬁéb e conduct mining
7R activities in a Celestite
(Strontium), Zinc and
Lead mining site
Situated in the Hubei
SEPT province, the PRC.
KINME A R R El
‘ e —EXER
Successfully obtained the (48) SR SAEIS LT
Fulfiliment Distributorship HREERE R
for all Nokia Stores in the $50.8%M%E -

PRC.
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APR

Tap into eco-friendly
bag automatic bag
taking machine and
database traffic
monetisation
business in the PRC.
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nSARBEERE
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Established distribution business
for “PHILIPS" brand routers and
related electronic products in
the region including the PRC,
Hong Kong and Macau.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Fortune Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present to our shareholders the consolidated results and
prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group") for the year ended 31 December 2024.

REVIEW

In 2024, elevated international geopolitical risks and economic
instability significantly impacted the operation of various
industries. The Chinese economy suffered from a decline in
international trade and financial market volatility. This has
undoubtedly dealt a severe blow to the mobile phone and
electronics market in China.
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Customer's focus is expected to shift gradually from the
functionality of mobile phone to the shopping experience and,
in this regard, the large mobile telecommunication chain stores
have advantages under the high internal consumption. In order
to diversify the business of the Group, we have been actively
looking for opportunities which will further enhance the
shareholders’ value. Since we have been in the mobile phone
industry for decades, and the potential for mobile phone
related business development is surely enormous and
sustainable. The Group will continue to strengthen its major
business area include but not limited to artificial intelligence,
big data, mobile phone operating system and mobile internet.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024
decreased by approximately 46.5% to HK$43.6 million when
compared with the year ended 31 December 2023. Loss for
the year increased to HK$33.7 million when compared with
loss of HK$15.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
mainly attributable to the loss on disposal of subsidiaries
engaged in mining business and the fair value loss on financial
assets at FVTPL.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The world becomes even more and more challenging
nowadays, so as the mobile phone industry in China. As China
is one of the strongest countries in terms of economic
performance, and with its huge internal consumption and
room for expansion. Although there is keen competition in the
industry, development potential is still enormous. The Group
will continue to strengthen our existing relationship with the
leading manufacturers and customers to look for further
cooperation opportunities.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBES

Apart from strengthening our current principal business in the
trading of mobile phone and electronic products business, the
Group has tapped into a new business in the PRC which
mainly involving eco-friendly bag automatic bag taking
machine and database traffic monetisation in September 2021,
to cope with the policy in reducing plastic waste and shopping
bags in the PRC.

In 2024, an indirect 51% owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in the PRC entered into the master distribution
agreement to distribute “PHILIPS” brand routers and related
electronic products in the region including the PRC, Hong
Kong and Macau for a term of five years.

The recent global economy recession would foreseeably have
an adverse impact of the worldwide wholesale, retail
environment and as well as our business. There is an ongoing
concern on customers spending power and weakening the
global economy. In 2025, the Group will continue to actively
seek and grasp market opportunities and increase the depth
and breadth of our sources of revenue in order to generate
satisfactory returns for shareholders on a continuous basis.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all staff members and management team for their
dedication and contribution, and to our shareholders and
business partners for their support. Looking forward, the
Group will keep a closer watch on changes in the market and
seize development opportunities that can generate maximum
value for the Company and its shareholders.

Lau Siu Ying
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
total revenue of HK$43.6 million, which was approximately
HK$37.9 million or 46.5% lower than the revenue of HK$81.5
million reported in 2023. The decline in revenue was primarily
due to the decrease in mobile phone and electronic products
trading business activities in PRC and Hong Kong. The Group'’s
revenue was derived from mobile phone and electronic
products trading business in PRC and Hong Kong in both
years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from
mobile phone and electronic products trading business was
HK$43.6 million (2023: HK$81.5 million), contribution from
the PRC and Hong Kong was HK$9.6 million and HK$34.0
million (2023: HK$14.9 million and HK$66.6 million)
respectively, representing 22.0% and 78.0% (2023: 18.3%
and 81.7%) of the total revenue of the Group.

The decline in revenue was a result of a global economic
slowdown that negatively impacted the wholesale and retail
markets for mobile phones and electronic products in the PRC.
Additionally, the Group experienced a reduction in sales over
both years as Chinese consumers cut back on spending,
leading to a stagnant and declining retail market for these
products in the region.

Compared with 2023, the Group’s revenue contribution from
the PRC increased from 18.3% to 22.0%,
decreased from 81.7% to 78.0%. The main reason is the
Group adopted the supply chain diversification strategies to
expand its trade and distribution networks across more various
geographical locations and commenced to trade and distribute
the routers products business in the PRC during the current
reporting period.

Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFAWES N

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit and gross profit margin were HK$1.6
million or 3.6% and HK$0.4 million or 0.5% for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
increased in gross profit and gross profit margin was
contributed by the Group's trading and distribution of routers
and related electronic products business in the PRC
commenced during the current reporting period.

Other income

Other income was approximately HK$1.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, as compared to approximately
HK$2.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Group's other income mainly consisted of HK$0.3 million of
database traffic monetisation generated from our mobile
applications business for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$1.8 million). The decrease in database traffic
monetisation was primarily due to business model
transformation during the year.

Other gains and losses, net

We had net losses of HK$3.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 and net gains of HK$0.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the net losses mainly consisted of fair value loss on
financial assets at FVTPL of HK$1.4 million due to financial
performance and the impairment loss recognised in inventories
of HK$1.0 million.

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs were approximately HK$0.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to
HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Group's selling and distribution costs were primarily composed
of logistics and transportation, rental expenses and travelling
expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by HK$0.8
million or 4.8% from approximately HK$16.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$15.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Balance mainly
included salaries and allowances, rental expenses, legal and
professional fees and travelling expenses.

The decrease of administrative expenses by HK$0.8 million was
primarily attributable to the decrease in salaries and
allowances, directors’ emoluments and promotion expenses
incurred by Beijing Daizhangmen database traffic monetisation
of mobile application business due to strict expenses policy
implemented.

Finance costs

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group's finance costs amounted to approximately HK$0.4
million and HK$0.1 million, respectively. The Group's finance
costs mainly consisted of the interest on lease liabilities and
interest on short-term borrowings for both years. The increase
of financial costs by HK$0.3 million was primarily attributable
to the interest on short-term borrowings.

Income tax expense

The Group's income tax expense amounted to HK$13,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to income
tax expense of HK$22,000 in last year.

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

As a result of the factors set out above, the Group's loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$31.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, as compared to loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$12.6 million
in last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFAWES N

Loss per share

The basic loss per share was 13.91 HK cents in current year as
compared to the basic loss per share of 6.39 HK cents in last
year.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group held (i) an
unlisted fund investment (31 December 2024: Nil; 31
December 2023: HK$1.3 million); (ii) an unlisted equity
investment (31 December 2024: HK$0.1 million; 31 December
2023: Nil); and (iii) listed equity investments in the PRC (31
December 2024: HK$0.5 million; 31 December 2023: HK$0.6
million) engaged in different business.

As at 31 December 2024, unlisted fund investment mainly
represented the investment of 13.3% in the equity interest of
a fund which focuses on the investment in the property
market, including a property development project carried in
PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, unlisted equity investment
represented an investment of 4.8% in an entity which focuses
on artificial intelligence base data service provider in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, listed equity investments in the PRC
mainly represented the Group’s listed equity investments in the
ordinary shares of entities listed on Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Inventories

As at 31 December 2024, HK$0.6 million of inventories were
recognised, while HK$2.0 million of inventories were
recognised as at 31 December 2023. The decrease in
inventories was primarily due to the mobile phone and
electronic products were delivered and recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of the Group increased by
HK$31.3 million from approximately HK$19.5 million as at 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$50.8 million as at 31
December 2024. The increase in trade and other receivables
was mainly due to the increase in trade receivables of HK$22.0
million as at 31 December 2024, mainly due to longer
settlement period of the customers under the unstable
economic conditions.

Cash and cash equivalents

The total cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$7.2 million as at 31 December 2024 as
compared to approximately HK$11.9 million as at 31
December 2023, without any deposit pledged to banks. The
decrease of cash and cash equivalents was mainly due to the
operating expenditures, which was offset with the net
proceeds of approximately HK$6.72 million from the
subscriptions of new Shares under general mandate in June
2024. The Group is financed by a combination of its equity
capital and the cash flow generated from its operation.
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The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its financial and treasury policies. During the
year, the Group was on track with this approach to maintain a
healthy liquidity position. The Board closely monitors the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure
of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can
meet its funding requirements from time to time. The Group
may utilise the balance of cash for appropriate investment in
accordance with the Group’s strategic direction and
development.

During the year, there was no material change in the funding
and treasury policy of the Group. The Group considers there
was no material potential currency exposure as the majority of
its revenue and expenses are derived and incurred in Hong
Kong dollars in Hong Kong and Renminbi in PRC. The treasury
policy of the Group to manage its foreign currency exposure
whenever its financial impact is material to the Group. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging

policy.

Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables of the Group increased by
approximately HK$8.9 million from approximately HK$41.6
million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$50.5
million as at 31 December 2024.

The increase in trade and other payables was mainly due to
the increase in trade payables of HK$13.7 million as at 31
December 2024 (2024: HK$32.8 million; 2023: HK$19.1
million), mainly due to delay payments to suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Balances also consisted of value-added-tax payables (2024:
HK$0.2 million; 2023: HK$2,000), prepayment from customers
(2024: HK$0.9 million; 2023: HK$1.0 million), other payables
and accruals (2024: HK$15.4 million; 2023: HK$9.6 million),
amount due to an associate (2024: HK$1.1 million; 2023: Nil)
and provision for close down and restoration costs of Sifa mine
(2024: Nil; 2023: HK$11.8 million).

Other payables and accruals mainly consisted of accruals for
directors’ emoluments, staff costs, auditor’'s remuneration,
legal and professional fees and rental payable. The increase in
other payables and accruals was mainly due to the
commencement of trading and distribution of routers products
business in the PRC during the reporting period, which results
in higher operational expenses and payables.

Short-term borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding short-
term borrowings of approximately HK$10,469,000 (2023: Nil).
They were all unsecured, bearing fixed interest rates ranging
from 12.00% to 14.40% per annum.

Liquidity and gearing ratio

The net liabilities of the Group attributable to owners of the
Company as at 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$11.7
million when compared to the net asset value attributable to
owners of the Company of HK$28.0 million as at 31 December
2023. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$15.5 million when compared to
that of HK$21.8 million as at 31 December 2023.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a current ratio of
0.79 time (31 December 2023: 0.61 time). The Group's
gearing ratios (defined as total interest-bearing short-term
borrowings and lease liabilities divided by total equity) as at 31
December 2024 and as at 31 December 2023 were (78.9%)
and (9.0%), respectively.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any capital
expenditure contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements (31 December 2023: Nil).

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities or guarantees (31 December 2023: Nil).

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
or associates

Connected Transaction and Very Substantial Acquisition
— Acquisition of Interest in an Associate

On 27 September 2018, Shanghai Yuanjia International Trade
Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Yuanjia”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, purchased and Shanghai
Changying Investment Management Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor”)
sold 13.5% issued share capital of Beijing Feiying Changyou
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Feiying”) (the “Acquisition”). At
the time of the Acquisition, Beijing Feiying has become a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level due to
the Company’s shareholding in another subsidiary.

Following completion of the Acquisition, Shanghai Yuanjia
held 33.5% of Beijing Feiying. The total consideration for the
Acquisition was approximately RMB5,400,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,210,000), which was the Vendor's agreed
subscription amount of Beijing Feiying's registered capital and
the payment obligation for paid-up capital of Beijing Feiying
has been transferred to Shanghai Yuanjia upon the completion
of the Acquisition.
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The Acquisition was approved by the Shareholders at a special
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2024.
Further information were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 27 December 2019, 31 May 2024 and
the circular dated 28 March 2024.

Disposal of subsidiaries from Discontinued Operation

On 23 December 2024, Richly Giant International Limited
("Richly Giant”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement with an independent
third party, pursuant to which Richly Giant agreed to sell
100% equity interest of China Yellow Stone Group for a total
consideration of HK$100,000 (the “Disposal”). China Yellow
Stone Group is principally engaged in the exploration,
exploitation, refining and asset investment of mineral resources
business (i.e. the “Discontinued Operation”). Subsequent to
the Disposal of the Discontinued Operation, the Group ceased
its Mining Business (i.e. the “Discontinued Operation”).

The Disposal was completed on 23 December 2024, and the
Disposal did not constitute a notifiable transaction under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules or a connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries or associates during
the year.

Future plans for material investments and
acquisitions of capital assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any plans
for material investments or acquisitions of capital assets.
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has in total 31 employees
as compared to 34 employees as at 31 December 2023. All
employees were remunerated according to the nature of their
job duties and market trend. The Group provided staff welfare
and fund contribution to its employees in accordance with the
prevailing regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

During the year, there was no change in the remuneration
policy, bonus scheme and share option scheme. The Group
has a share option scheme which was expired on 28 May 2024
under which the Company may grant share options to the
participants, including directors and employees, to subscribe
for shares of the Company.

Significant investments held by the group
The Group did not have any significant investment during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Subscriptions of new shares under general
mandate

On 20 March 2024, the Company entered into the
subscription agreements (the “2024 Subscription
Agreements”) with six independent subscribers (the “2024
Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue to the 2024 Subscribers,
and the 2024 Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe for an aggregate of 30,000,000 subscription shares
(the “2024 Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price (the
2024 Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26 per 2024 Subscription
Share under the general mandate granted by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23
May 2023 (the “2024 Subscription™).
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The 2024 Subscription Price of HK$0.26 per 2024 Subscription
Share represented: (i) a premium of approximately 10.6% over
the closing price of HK$0.235 per share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on the date of the 2024 Subscription
Agreements; (ii) a premium of approximately 1.6% over the
average closing price of approximately HK$0.256 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five (5) trading days
immediately before the date of the 2024 Subscription
Agreements; and (iii) a premium of approximately 88.4% over
the unaudited consolidated net asset value attributable to the
Shareholders of approximately HK$0.138 per share as at 30
June 2023.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 14 May 2024,
two of the 2024 Subscribers terminated their respective
subscription agreement with the Company.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 3 June 2024,
the Company announced that all the conditions precedent set
out in the 2024 Subscription Agreements have been fulfilled,
and completion of the 2024 Subscription with the remaining
2024 Subscribers took place on 3 June 2024 in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the 2024 Subscription
Agreements.

An aggregate of 26,000,000 2024 Subscription Shares,
representing approximately 10.94% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the issue and allotment of the
2024 Subscription Shares, have been allotted and issued to the
remaining 2024 Subscribers at the 2024 Subscription Price of
HK$0.26 per 2024 Subscription Share. The net proceeds (after
deduction of all relevant expenses) from the subscriptions of
approximately HK$6.72 million would be applied as general
working capital of the Group.
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Subsequent events

On 8 January 2025, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with two independent third parties (the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 16,000,000
shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of
approximately HK$4.16 million (“the 2025 Subscriptions”).
The 2025 Subscribers were Mr. Lei Yongjia (EEB£) and Ms.
Cheung Ha (3R &). On 22 January 2025, the 2025 Subscriptions
have been completed. The net proceeds (after deduction of all
relevant expenses) from the Subscriptions of approximately
HK$4.12 million will be applied as general working capital of
the Group. Further details were set out in the Company’'s
announcement dated 8 January 2025 and 22 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant events
subsequent to the reporting period.

Charge of assets
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no charge on assets
(31 December 2023: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year (2023: Nil).
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Market Overview

According to statistics from the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the People’s Republic of China
("MIIT"), there are approximately 1.8 billion subscribers to
mobile phone services in the PRC. While competition among
major mobile phone manufacturers remains intense, they are
attempting to streamline the distribution process by supplying
directly to provincial distributors and leading retailers in order
to enhance their profitability. Consequently, these distributors
are adopting multi-channel distribution models that include
“national distribution”,
, and “direct to operator”.

“provincial distribution”, “direct to

retail”

Mobile carriers play a crucial role in the mobile phone industry
ecosystem. Recent restructuring and the introduction of 5G
licenses have intensified competition among carriers. By
collaborating with retailers, especially large
telecommunications chain stores, mobile carriers can leverage
deep insights into customer behaviors and spending patterns.
This partnership enables more professional, convenient, and
integrated customer services. Consequently, large mobile
telecommunications chain stores are anticipated to become
the primary sales channel for bundled mobile phone offerings.

While mobile phone market in the PRC has reached saturation,
the 5G economy continues to experience substantial growth.
With the nationwide 5G commercialisation and telecom
operators rolling out comprehensive data plans, the PRC has
accelerated its 5G infrastructure development. By the end of
2024, telecom operators are projected to have deployed
approximately 4.2 million 5G base stations. Over 950 million
mobile phone users are expected to adopt 5G services,
representing more than 65% of mobile users and accounting
for nearly 70% of global 5G base stations.
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Looking ahead, the PRC plans to install approximately 700,000
additional 5G base stations in 2025 to further enhance its
next-generation mobile network. At the same time, the
country is actively preparing for research and development in
6G wireless technology, aiming to sustain its technological
leadership in mobile communications.

6G is the next mobile network technology that will follow 5G,
which is still being implemented in many countries. The PRC,
with the largest internet user base and smartphone market,
has already established extensive 5G infrastructure. By the end
of 2025, the PRC aims to have 26 5G base stations for every
10,000 people. Given the estimated national population, this
means the country plans to have approximately 3.7 million 5G
base stations by that time.

In 2024, the mobile phone market in the PRC experienced a
decline, driven by international trade tensions, economic
instability, and a reduction in consumer spending. Despite
these challenges, the ongoing advancements in 5G and 6G
network technologies present a promising opportunity to
counterbalance these headwinds, with a gradual market
recovery anticipated in the coming years. We are encouraged
by the progress made in restructuring our network and
business strategies. These efforts are focused on strengthening
our financial performance through strategic initiatives and
operational enhancements, positioning us for sustained growth
and resilience in a dynamic market landscape.

Business Review

Mobile Phone and Electronic Products Business

The trading and distribution of mobile phones and electronic
products remained the Group’s primary business in current
year, solely contributing to its overall revenue. During the
current year, the Group secured the master distributorship for
the “PHILIPS” brand in the PRC, Hong Kong, and Macau for
routers and related electronic products. We anticipate that this
business will experience steady growth in the coming years
and will continue to be a core part of the Group’s business
moving forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2024, Changsha Changyuan Angxun Shuangyu Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* (R RESAEBBEERERH AR
7~ A]), an indirect 51% owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in the PRC (“the Distributor”), entered into the
master distribution agreement with TPV Audio and Visual
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (EHER R ORI BE A
A]) (the "Licensor”), pursuant to which the Licensor granted
the Distributor a license to distribute “PHILIPS” brand routers
and related electronic products in the channels including
permitted digital channels in the region including the PRC,
Hong Kong and Macau for a term of five years.

The Licensor is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability, a subsidiary of TPV Technology Co., Ltd., which was
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and specialise in the
research and development and sales of consumer electronic
products.

The Group intends to maintain the continual operation of its
existing principal businesses, the Company has recently been
exploring and identifying other potential business and
investment opportunities, aims in expanding and diversifying
the Group’s existing business portfolio in order to broaden its
sources of income. By doing so, the Company aims to achieve
sustainable growth in the long run, ultimately benefiting the
shareholders.

A suitable investment opportunity has arisen and the Group
intends to expand its principal businesses by engaging in
"PHILIPS” brand relevant electronic products distribution
business in the aforesaid markets, through distribution and
licensing collaboration. As of December 2023, the total
number of fixed internet broadband access users of the three
basic telecommunications companies in the PRC reached 636
million households, and the number of households with access
above 100M data usage reached 601 million, represented
94.5% of total number of the PRC users.
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The edge cloud router is an intelligent Al edge computing
router with comprehensive capabilities including content
distribution, edge computing, cloud storage, advertising
revenue, hardware upgrade, and distributed intelligent Al
router functionalities. The router not only provides high-quality
router products but also actively promotes technological
innovation and ecological development. The Group is
committed to delivering user-centric intelligent, high-efficiency
network services through comprehensive intelligent home
terminal architecture construction, we have also developed a
user-centered, distributed edge computing network
distribution platform, emerging as a global leader in Al edge
cloud computing technology services. By integrating home and
enterprise resource optimisation, we aim to maximise resource
sharing and value creation for users, driving value generation
and continuously propelling industry-wide advancement and
development.

We estimate sales of approximately 50,000 “PHILIPS” routers
from 2024 to 2025, with an anticipated gross margin of
around 10%. As the “PHILIPS” router trading and distribution
business is currently in its initial and development stages, we
expect a 20% annual increase in sales of units, which might
enhance the gross margin as purchase orders increase and
productivity becomes more efficient. In 2024, the higher gross
profit and gross profit margin of the Group were associated
with the trading of “PHILIPS” routers, this positive impact
showcasting potential for future growth.

The Group is actively engaged in the trading, wholesaling and
retailing of mobile phones and electronic products in the PRC
and Hong Kong, and with the accelerated development of
value-added business driven by the convergence of mobile
telecommunication and internet, we intend to constantly
realise business growth through broadening markets, products
and distribution channels in a diversified manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mining Business

On 23 December 2024, Richly Giant International Limited
(“Richly Giant”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement with an independent
third party, pursuant to which Richly Giant agreed to sell
100% equity interest of China Yellow Stone Group for a total
consideration of HK$100,000 (the “Disposal”). China Yellow
Stone Group is principally engaged in the exploration,
exploitation, refining and asset investment of mineral resources
business (i.e. the “Discontinued Operation”). Subsequent to
the Disposal of the Discontinued Operation, the Group ceased
its Mining Business (i.e. the “Discontinued Operation”).

The Disposal was completed on 23 December 2024.

Prospects and Outlook

The PRC economy is still showing signs of slowdown due to
the ongoing US-China trade war. The Group believes that the
consumption and retail sectors will continue to be impacted by
this trade conflict, which presents an uncertain outlook for the
coming years. While the mobile phone market in the PRC
remains strong, its growth is clearly slowing down as a result
of the trade pressure from the US, which is hindering
economic growth in the PRC.

However, the continued economic growth in the PRC is fuelled
by a high internal consumption. As the world’s largest mobile
handset market, there were approximately 1.8 billion handset
subscribers in the PRC which benefit from preferential mobile
internet traffic policies. The significant increase in 5G users and
internet users implies that there are huge business
opportunities in both mobile application and mobile
commerce. Since the Group has been in the related mobile
phone industry for decades, big data, mobile phone operating
system and mobile internet would be surely the key business
areas that the Group is interested in.
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As the technology for 5G telecommunications has advanced, it
is now ready for widespread deployment. Recent developments
in the Chinese market, along with our proactive approach to
building a strong 5G presence, position us to take advantage
of the expanding global economy. We will closely monitor
changes and explore opportunities in Hong Kong and ASEAN
trading markets.

As 5G technology becomes increasingly prevalent, it will
significantly enhance customer experiences. This advancement
will facilitate real-time intelligence and support for smart
devices and applications. Additionally, the evolving dynamics
of the mobile phone market, including challenges faced by
wholesalers and retailers, may prompt customers to seek
alternatives that could impact our overall performance.

Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on technological
advancements and market diversification to strengthen our
competitive edge. By aligning our strategies with emerging
trends and maintaining operational efficiency, we aim to
deliver long-term value to our stakeholders and ensure robust
growth in the years to come.

Increase efforts to promote environmental friendly bag
automatic bag taking machine and related database
traffic monetisation business (“Daizhangmen”)

The “Daizhangmen” business combines intelligent Internet of
Things (“loT") technology with the distribution of eco-friendly
bags to customers. By reducing the demand for traditional
environmental protection bags and utilising the loT system
along with a free model, it aims to generate online traffic and
match that traffic effectively. This approach seeks to create a
closed loop for monetising database traffic, fulfilling the social
value of environmental protection while tapping into the
significant commercial potential of the new environmental
protection industry.
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In 2020, the PRC Environmental Protection Bureau announced
a ban on non-degradable plastic bags by 2025, reflecting the
government’s strong focus on reducing plastic pollution. In
2021, the Group launched a business offering eco-friendly
bags through automated machines, generating revenue from
sales, usage fees, and maintenance. These machines are widely
used in hospitals, supermarkets, and residential areas. In 2022,
a technical team was formed to enhance the bag-taking
process, using data and feedback to improve efficiency and
user experience. In 2023, the Group aims to expand its
presence in Daizhangmen, focusing on eco-friendly bags and
machines. The free product model is expected to boost market
competitiveness.

In 2024, Daizhangmen introduced a new business model
focused on monetisation database traffic through private
community e-commerce. This model aims to retain users of
eco-friendly bags by engaging them in WeChat community
groups. It highlights a high repurchase rate among domestic
consumers and suggests that user monetisation could yield
greater returns compared to traditional advertising.
Additionally, the technical team also developed desktop power
bank mobile recharging services to attract restaurant
customers, further enhancing its revenue streams.

We will continue to lead with innovation, striving to achieve
new milestones and explore fresh opportunities. By fostering
strategic partnerships, we aim to build a strong foundation for
the company’s stable growth and long-term success. Looking
ahead, we remain confident in the potential of the
environmental products and services sector in the PRC. At the
same time, we are committed to maintaining a robust financial
position and efficient operations. We will stay vigilant in
identifying new business initiatives to drive growth and
enhance value.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The 2023 Subscriptions

Subscriptions of new shares under general mandate

On 27 March 2023 and 30 March 2023, the Company entered
into subscription agreements with six subscribers, all being
independent third parties (the “2023 Subscribers”), pursuant
to which the 2023 Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue, a total 28,000,000 shares of HK$0.26 each (“the
2023 Subscription Shares”) for a cash consideration of
approximately HK$7.3 million (“the 2023 Subscriptions”).

The closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 27 March 2023 and 30 March 2023, being the date of the
subscription agreements, were HK$0.295 and HK$0.295,
respectively. The net proceeds from the 2023 Subscriptions,
after deduction of relevant costs and expenses, is estimated to
be approximately HK$7.2 million. The net subscription price
per subscription share, after deduction of relevant costs and
expenses, is estimated to be approximately HK$0.256 per
subscription share.

On 4 July 2023, the 2023 Subscriptions have been completed.
The net proceeds (after deduction of all relevant expenses)
from the 2023 Subscriptions of approximately HK$7.2 million
will be applied as general working capital of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there is no change
to the intended use of the net proceeds disclosed as above.
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The table below sets out the net proceeds and the actual
usage up to 31 December 2024:

Utilised
Allocation of Unutilised amount Utilised Unutilised
net proceeds amount during the amount amount
as disclosed as at year ended up to as at
inthe 2023 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Subscriptions 2023 2024 2024 2024
“BC=F HE-Z-NE
ABBEMKEE R-B-=F +tZA=+-H BE-ZT-OF R-B-@OF
ZFBHE t=A=+-8 t¥E +=A=+t-B +=A=+-H
RESR 2ADAELE ZCHASE ZCBASE ZADALEHE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
Tt Tt Tt Tt a7
General working capital  —REEES 7,160 3,901 3,901 7,160 -
The 2024 Subscriptions —ECNERABEER
Subscriptions of new shares under general mandate R1E — R B IEA IR
On 20 March 2024, 14 May 2024 and 22 May 2024, the R-ZT-_MF=A-+H —T-MFH

Company entered into subscription agreements with four
subscribers, all being independent third parties (i.e. the 2024
Subscribers), pursuant to which the 2024 Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 26,000,000
2024 Subscription Shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash
consideration of approximately HK$6.76 million. The 2024
Subscribers were Mr. Liu Xiaocheng (21/]M8%), Mr. Su Xing (%
77), Ms. Yang Ping (#5) and Mr. Li Guohui (Z=BI#% ).

The closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 20 March 2024, being the date of the subscription
agreements, was HK$0.235. The net proceeds from the 2024
Subscriptions, after deduction of relevant costs and expenses,
is estimated to be approximately HK$6.72 million. The net
subscription price per subscription share, after deduction of
relevant costs and expenses, is estimated to be approximately
HK$0.259 per subscription share.
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On 3 June 2024, the 2024 Subscriptions have been completed.
The net proceeds (after deduction of all relevant expenses)
from the 2024 Subscriptions of approximately HK$6.72 million
will be applied as general working capital of the Group.
Further details were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 20 March 2024, 14 May 2024, 22 May 2024 and 3 June
2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, there is no change to the intended use of the
net proceeds disclosed as above.

The table below sets out the net proceeds and the actual
usage up to 31 December 2024:
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Utilised
Allocation of amount Unutilised Expected
net proceeds during the amount timeline for
as disclosed year ended as at using the
in the 2024 31 December 31 December unutilised
Subscriptions 2024 2024 proceeds
—EZNF a8z
RBEIE —E-mE iy
gz t=A=+—H —E-IMF ERAKRE A
IEEE/Q] LFE +=A=+—H IEEE S
FHEIR ZEBASE ZADASE WRIBER
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET AT
General working capital —R&E&E ¢ 6,720 5,458 1,262 Before
31 December
2025
R-_ZE_h%F
+=-—RA=+—8
Al
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Siu Ying, aged 61, is the founder, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 1992. Mr. Lau
has extensive working experiences in the telecommunications
industry for over 25 years and has established solid business
contacts in both Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Lau is
responsible for directing the Group’s overall business policy
and strategies as well as overseeing the Group’s business
development in Hong Kong and the PRC. Prior to setting up
his business, Mr. Lau worked for Hutchison Whampoa Group
for approximately 5 years, in charge of the business
development of the telecommunications in the PRC. Mr. Lau
holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master degree of
science in Information Technology from the National University
of Ireland, Dublin.

Mr. Lau is currently the trustee in New Asia College of the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and the Board Councilor of
China Mobile Communications Association. In the aspects of
social and economic activities, Mr. Lau is devoted to promoting
economic and educational development. He served as the vice
president of the Hong Kong Association of Jieyang, the
honorary president of Shanghai Chaoshan Chamber of
Commerce, Hong Kong and Macau Director of the Dongguan
City Youth Federation and the vice president of Hong Kong
Island Chaoren Association Limited.
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Ms. LAU Zi Yin, Michelle, aged 26, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of the nomination committee
of the Company in August 2024. Ms. Lau holds a bachelor’s
degree in finance from UBC Sauder School of Business — The
University of British Columbia in 2020. Ms. Lau is the daughter
of Mr. Lau Siu Ying, the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company. Ms. Lau is currently the chief executive officer
of a media company focused on promoting the consumer and
technology industries, an investment firm in Beijing of the PRC,
and a vice president of investment of an equity investment firm
in Macau that promotes the economic development of Macau
and the PRC and assists domestic enterprises to expand their
brands to overseas countries through Guangdong province
and Macau. She has extensive experience in corporate
development strategy, sales and marketing functions, export
marketing and product development, online and offline retail
operations in China.

Mr. LI Jianwu, aged 42, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in July 2023. He has over ten years of
experience in mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Li obtained a
bachelor’s degree in business administration and a master
degree in business administration from University of South
China and Sun Yat-sen University, in 2003 and 2008,
respectively. Mr. Li is currently the managing director of an
equity fund management firm in Hunan of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). He is also life associate member
of China Angel Federation (7 Bl & &84 &) and an executive
director of Software Association Blockchain of the PRC (F°
BHHheRREs )
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. LAW Chun Kwan, aged 59, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in June
2012. Dr. Law has extensive working experience in various
business fields including advertising, telecommunications,
information technology and real estate development in both
Hong Kong and the PRC. Dr. Law is presently engaged in real
estate development business in the PRC. Dr. Law holds a
bachelor degree of social science from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong, a master degree of e-business and a doctorate
degree of business administration in information systems from
the Edith Cowan University, Western Australia.

Dr. LO Wai Shun, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2018. Dr. Lo
holds a bachelor degree in sciences and a master degree in
philosophy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a
doctorate degree in Physics from Brown University, United
States of America (“U.S.A.”). He is also Adjunct Professor of
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and Visiting Professor of
Peking University (School of Innovation and Entrepreneurship).
Dr. Lo is currently a general partner of DL Capitals, an angel
investment fund focusing on disruptive and exponential
technologies and has over 20 years of extensive experience in
various business fields including intellectual property
commercialisation, business models innovation and technology
transfer. Dr. Lo had served as a non-executive director for
various listed companies in Hong Kong from 2000 to 2005.
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EFEREREEARMASN

Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee and remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee in July 2021.

Mr. Leung holds a bachelor degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and he has been a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Leung has more than 20
years working experience in various listed companies in Hong
Kong mainly engaged in property business including Cheung
Kong (Holdings) Limited (now known as CK Hutchison
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 001). Mr. Leung also has
extensive financial experience in initial public offering (“IPO"),
merger and acquisition as well as fund raising and is familiar
with the business environment of both Hong Kong and the
Mainland China. In addition, Mr. Leung has extensive
experience in real estate investment trusts (“REIT"). He
participated in the IPO setup of the first private sector REIT,
Prosperity REIT (stock code: 808) in Hong Kong in 2005 and
worked for the manager of Fortune REIT (stock code: 778) as a
Finance Director from 2011 to 2012. He also worked as the
financial controller of Shougang Concord International
Enterprises Company Limited (now known as Shoucheng
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 697) from 2013 to 2018. Mr.
Leung has also been an independent non-executive director of
Fineland Living Services Group Limited (stock code: 9978),
Sino-Ocean Service Holding Limited (stock code: 6677), Gemini
Investments (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 174), Wing Lee
Development Construction Holdings Limited (Stock code:
9639) since October 2017, April 2022, April 2024 and
September 2024, respectively. Mr. Leung has been appointed
as the Company Secretary and authorised representative of
BeijingWest Industries International Limited (stock code: 2339)
from 11 April 2022 to 31 December 2024.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. SO Chi Kai, was appointed as the Company Secretary of
the Company, the Financial Controller of the Group and the
authorised representative of the Company in April 2018. Mr.
So holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales (ICAEW). Mr. So has worked in an international
audit firm and various public and private companies in Hong
Kong. In addition, Mr. So has extensive professional and senior
managerial experience in financial reporting, financial
management and company secretarial matters.

EFREREEARBN

DEIWE

BrExE R \FHAEZIA
RRBIZARWE AEEYMBRERK
NEIZBEBERR -HEEREEAEIAX
B (LEB)NBELE - HABBS
MAeeE RERBREBITST 256
NE(ICAEW)E 8B © #RAEAE RN —HE
REANAARZEABRALLEREAR -
BEoN - BRE R ERR  MBEEEA
AMEEFE N EAGLENTERERE
BAgEs o

39



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance with a view to assuring the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure to protect the interests
of all shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on the principles and code provisions
("Code Provisions”) set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix
C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
complied with most of the Code Provisions of the CG Code,
except for the deviations as stated in paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” and “Re-election of
Directors”.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure
the business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

Code Provision C.2.1 and B.2.2

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual but Mr. Lau Siu Ying (“Mr.
Lau”) currently assumes both roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Code Provision B.2.2 states that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. However, Mr. Lau,
being the Chairman of the Board, does not need to retire by
rotation. Mr. Lau has been in charge of the overall
management of the Company since its incorporation.
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As a result, although Mr. Lau does not need to retire by
rotation and assumes both roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, the Board considers
that such arrangement at the current stage of development of
the Group can facilitate the execution of its business strategies
and maximise the effectiveness of its operations. Nevertheless,
through the supervision from the Board including the
Independent Non-executive Directors, the interests of the
shareholders should be adequately and fairly considered.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company during the year
under review.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, each of whom
has confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2024. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall accountability

Members of the Board are individually and collectively
accountable to the shareholders for the success and
sustainable development of the Company. The Board provides
direction and approval in relation to matters concerning the
Company’s business strategies, policies and plans whilst the
day-to-day business operations are delegated to the executive
management. The Board is accountable to the shareholders
and in discharging its corporate accountability, every Director
of the Company is required to pursue excellence in the
interests of the shareholders and fulfill his fiduciary duties by
applying the required level of skills, care and diligence to a
standard in accordance with the statutory requirements.
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Board composition

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors and
three Independent Non-executive Directors of whom all are
independent as defined under the Listing Rules. Independent
Non-executive Directors constitute more than one-third of the
Board. The Company has received from each Independent
Non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent. To the
best knowledge of the Company, other than Ms. Lau Zi Yin,
Michelle is the daughter of Mr. Lau Siu Ying, the Chairman
and an Executive Director of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the members of the Board. Brief
biographical particulars of the Directors are set out on pages
35 to 38.

Re-election of directors

All Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws. In accordance with
the relevant provisions in the Bye-laws of the Company, if the
appointment of Directors is made by the Board, the Directors
so appointed must stand for election by the shareholders at
the first annual general meeting following their appointments
and all Directors, except the Chairman, must stand for re-
election by the shareholders by rotation. Separate resolutions
are proposed for the election of each director.

Nomination of directors

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to
determine the policy for the nomination of Directors, to set
out the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted to select and recommend candidates for directorship.
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Board responsibilities and delegation

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies of the
Company, monitors performance and the related risks and
controls in pursuit of the strategic objectives of the Company.
Day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to the
Executive Directors or the officer in charge of each division and
function who is required to report back to the Board. Functions
reserved to the Board and those delegated to management are
reviewed periodically. All Board members have separate and
independent access to the senior management, and are
provided with full and timely information about the conduct of
the business and development of the Company, including
monthly reports and recommendations on significant matters.
Should separate independent professional advice be considered
necessary by the Directors or any Board Committee,
independent professional services would be made available to
the Directors or such Board Committee upon request. The
Board has delegated some of its functions to the Board
Committees, details of which are set out below. Matters
specifically reserved for the Board include approval of financial
statements, dividend policy, significant changes in accounting
policies, material contracts, significant appointments such as
Company Secretary and external auditor, terms of reference of
Board Committees, as well as major corporate policies.
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To implement the strategies and plans approved by the Board,
Executive Directors and senior management meet on a regular
basis to review the performance of the Group and make
financial and operational decisions. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover on directors and officers liability
for its directors and officers.

Details of the responsibilities, membership, attendance and
activities during the year of each Board Committee are set out
on pages 48 to 55.

Board meetings and attendance

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company and to discuss future
strategy. Four Board meetings were held in 2024. At the Board
meetings, the Board reviewed significant matters including the
Company’s annual and interim financial statements, proposals
for final and interim dividends (if any), annual report and
interim report. At least 14 days’ notice is given to all Directors
for all regular Board meetings and all Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. All
minutes of the Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available to all Directors for inspection.
During the year, the Chairman of the Company has held a
meeting with all the Independent Non-executive Directors
without other directors presented.
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The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings in
2024 is set out below:

©RER

BEE

R-ZZE_MF REFHFEFEER
ALEREHIANT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Directors B= HE EERE
Chairman and Executive Director FERPTES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2 NEEE 4/4
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yu T FJiasE 2/2
(Retired on 31 May 2024) (RZZEZWFRA=FT—HEMR)
Mr. Li Jianwu FRRLE 4/4
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle e odum 11
(Appointed on 27 August 2024) (RZZ2ZWFNAZT+EBHEZE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BAHITES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan ERHEE LT 4/4
Dr. Lo Wai Shun m,\ETLT@:t 4/4
Mr. Leung Wai Hung REETE 4/4
* One Board meeting was held after Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle was ~ * REFEZLTR T _MFNA=Z++EH
appointed as an executive director on 27 August 2024. EZAAEWNTESER BRITAESY
/;l\ﬂ;% ©
Chairman and chief executive FERITHAR

Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual but Mr. Lau Siu Ying
currently assumes both roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that all directors should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years, Mr. Lau Siu Ying, being the Chairman of the Board,
does not need to retire by rotation.
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Mr. Lau Siu Ying has been in charge of the overall
management of the Company since its incorporation. As a
result, although he does not need to retire by rotation and
assumes both roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, the Board considers that such
arrangement at the Group's current stage of development can
facilitate the execution of the Group's business strategies and
maximise the effectiveness of its operations. Nevertheless,
through the supervision from the Board including the
Independent Non-executive Directors, the interests of the
shareholders should be adequately and fairly considered.

Directors’ continuing professional development
Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws,
rules and regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company updates Directors on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.
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The individual training record of each Director received forthe REEZE_ZE-_NF+-_A=+—HILFE
year ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below: NEEEBESE 2 ARt mT -

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/reading
relevant materials in
relation to the business
or director’s duties

HFEEEBRESHE

WHEZEE RES

Name of Directors EEnE FEMEEER

Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2 NEEE Yes

=

Mr. Wang Yu T FJia&E Yes

(Retired on 31 May 2024) (RZZEZWFRA=+—HRE) =

Mr. Li Jianwu FEREE Yes

=

Mr. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle* BBt * Yes

(Appointed on 27 August 2024) (RZZFZmWFNA=++tH =
BEE)

Dr. Law Chun Kwan ERHEE L Yes

Z

Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEL Yes

=

Mr. Leung Wai Hung B RAE Yes

E

* Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle, was appointed as an executive director ~ * BTN _E_mFNAZTHE
of the Company on 27 August 2024, has obtained the legal ZAER/ARRBITESZ WERRAR L
advice on the same date referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing THAMEREREEAAATEENET
Rules from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong AR B 2 B R R B S e

/4B
law as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
J ¥ y BRI BRE M- RABHRRES

applicable to her as a director of the Company and the possible o
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false RRRHERORBOIRE ETRAUS

information of the Stock Exchange. 3.09D AT EER B R -
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of the Board’s responsibilities. Sufficient resources
are provided to enable the Board Committees to undertake
their specific roles. The respective role, responsibilities and
activities of each Board Committee are set out below:

Remuneration committee

The principal role of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages and terms of services contract of
individual executive directors and senior management,
including salaries, bonuses, the matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and other
plans. The Remuneration Committee reviews and approves the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives and considers salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group, so as to align management incentives with
shareholders’ interests.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and an Executive
Director. The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr.
Leung Wai Hung, an Independent Non-executive Director. The
Company Secretary of the Company serves as the secretary of
the committee. Minutes for the meetings are sent to the
committee members within a reasonable time after the
meetings. The full terms of reference are available on the
Company’s website and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited’s website.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the
year as well as the meeting attendance of the committee
members are as follows:

ERELHWES

FHEZEEENFAZERREZEEGNKE
hEEgZzBERI T

Membership and Attendance HERLEELR
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Members RE HE EERE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan FIRHE T 2/2
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BEE T 2/2
Mr. Leung Wai Hung (Chairman) PR A (L E) 212
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2/ NEHLAE 2/2

Two meetings were held in the year in which the
Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration policies
and approved the salaries and bonuses of the Executive
Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee has communicated with the Chairman of the
Company about proposals relating to the remuneration
packages of other Executive Directors and senior management.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Company by
band for the year ended 31 December 2024 were as follows:

FNEZBRERNFANGRITMAEH 8L
EEMNHFHBE  TEHATEZTRSR
EEABZHFEREL - FHEZEgE N
ARBEEREMATESTRSREEA
B2 BERETER -

RIECEE BT ZTANEETS AR
FefEREEZ2_ _NF+ - A
—t+—HUEFEZFEEHHNEENT :

Number of
individual

AB

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of directors’ emoluments and retirement benefits are
disclosed on pages 221 to 223. Remuneration payable to
members of senior management is disclosed on page 272. At
31 December 2024, there were no outstanding shares in
respect of which options had been granted. Details of the
Company'’s share option plan are disclosed on pages 266 to
268.

£ % 1,000,000 7T 1

EEME RKREHNFBRE221E223R
BE - BNSMREEEXE ZHHNE 272
BfRE -R-_ZF-_WNF+-_A=+—8"
MECREBRERBZCRTRD - B
BARRBERETEFBRERE266E
268 H °
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Audit committee

The Audit Committee reviews financial information of the
Group, monitors the effectiveness of the external audit and
oversees the appointment, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the Company’s external auditor, as well as
their independence. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for reviewing the financial reporting process and the system of
internal controls and risk management. The Board also
delegated corporate governance functions to the Audit
Committee, including the determination, review and
monitoring of (a) the development and review of the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and recommendations; (b) the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management;
(c) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; (d) the code of conduct of
the Company; and (e) the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and its compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The full
terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and
its role and responsibilities are available on the Company’s
website and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s
website.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, with one of whom having the
relevant professional qualifications and expertise. The
Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Wai Hung, an
Independent Non-executive Director. The Company Secretary
acts as secretary of the Audit Committee. Sufficient resources
are made available to the Audit Committee when independent
legal or professional advice is required.
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The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The external
auditors of the Company are invited to the meetings, take part
in the discussions and answer questions from the committee
members. By invitation of the Audit Committee, other
Directors and senior executives may also attend the meetings.

The Audit Committee held three meetings in the year. The
Company Secretary prepared full minutes of the audit
committee meetings with details of discussions and decisions
reached. The draft and final versions of minutes were sent to
all committee members within a reasonable time after each
meeting.

The composition of the Audit Committee during the year as
well as the meeting attendance of the committee members are

ERELHWES

ERZEEBFRIBITMAER AR
AZMNEZBEMBERLEEE  2RAH
EkOEZEgXERMA - EHEZENS &K
TRABNEEZZESHBHFEEE -

ERREERFRNERT_REE - A7
WMECRUERZE GBI TEIHEC
8% RLERRT R A IB MER ZIRE c @&
BERLERECREEHRZIAERHEA
BERTEREBEKE -

EZZEENFRAZEAKRLEZEEKE
hEeEBRT

as follows:
Membership and Attendance HKERHERGXL
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Members RE HEBRBXH
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan EiRIRE L 3/3
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEL 3/3
Mr. Leung Wai Hung (Chairman) REETE(EE) 3/3

During the year, the Audit Committee has discussed with the
external auditor their independence and the nature and scope
of the audit; reviewed the interim and annual financial
statements of the Group, particularly judgmental areas, before
submission to the Board; reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group,
findings and management’s response; reviewed the Group's
adherence to the code provisions in the CG Code. The Audit
Committee recommended the Board to adopt the 2024
interim and 2023 annual financial statements. The Audit
Committee has also performed the aforesaid corporate
governance duties as delegated to it by the Board.

FR BRZESCEIMNEZBE TmE
B ARBEZMEEREE: E2RE
ZERNEHNAKE 2PN FEMBEEHRE -
LEHAEHSE  EHAKERREERA
MEETE 2R GREREEEDE:
EHAREETEEERTRZTRIGX
ZIER - BRZERHAEFTERMN_F
THFEZHRBAE T =FEHBRE -
EZZEgNCRTESEMAZIRZ b
MEERRE
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Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to
determine the policy for the nomination of Directors, to set
out the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted to select and recommend candidates for directorship.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, and assessing
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board regularly and makes
recommendation to the Board to complement the corporate
strategy of the Company. The appointment of a new Director
is a collective decision of the Board, taking into consideration
the procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company and the Board Diversity
Policy. The Board believes that changes to the Board
composition shall be managed without undue disruption, and
shall continue to provide a balanced composition of the
Executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive
Directors, so that there is a strong independent element in the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a set of nomination
procedures for selection of candidates for directors by making
a reference to the skills, experience, expertise, personal
conduct and time commitments of individuals, the Company’s
needs and relevant laws and regulations.
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The procedures sets out for (i) nominating new Director to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making recommendation to
Directors and Shareholders regarding any Director proposed
for election or re-election at general meeting; and (iii)
nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director. The
Nomination Committee may identify potential candidates from
any source as it may consider appropriate and evaluate them
by considering various factors, including their professional
expertise, industry and business experience, time
commitments, potential contributions to board diversity,
material conflict of interest with the Group (if any) and
independence (for Independent Non-executive Directors). The
Committee will then make recommendation of suitable
candidates to the Board for consideration of appointment. In
case of reappointment of existing Directors who will retire at
an annual general meeting (“"AGM"), the Committee will
review the retirement of Directors and make recommendations
to the Board accordingly.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company, contribution to the
diversity of the Board and ability to effectively carry out the
Board'’s responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria
and the procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members,
a majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors
and is chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The Company
Secretary of the Company serves as secretary of the
Nomination Committee. Minutes for the meetings are sent to
the Nomination Committee members within a reasonable time
after the meetings. The full terms of reference are available on
the Company’s website and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited's website.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee during the IEZRZEeNFRNZEREEEZEEKE
year as well as the meeting attendance of the committee HEeZ2BRET
members are as follows:
Membership and Attendance KERHEEXL
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Members RE HE EEXRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (Chairman) R NEBERE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Wang Yu (Retired on 31 May 2024) F REERZZ-MF 11
HA=+—HEE)
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle* BIRFBE L L~ 0/0
(Appointed on 27 August 2024) (RZZZmWFNA=++tH
BEEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan Ze RIS A 2/2
Dr. Lo Wai Shun Bl L 2/2
Mr. Leung Wai Hung REHRE 2/2
* No meeting was held after Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle was * REFEBZETR T _WFNA=-++H
appointed as an Executive Director on 27 August 2024. ﬁ;&'ﬁiﬂﬁ%%?ﬁ CEBRITIREES

During the year, two meetings were held, in which members FRERITMAEH  RELZEGKED
of the Nomination Committee have performed, considered, A& EETT - EE K& HFE AR 5| HE
and/or resolved the following matters:

— annual review on the structure, size and diversity of the — $EEFERE HABREZTILZFE
Board; 5

— reviewing the existing Nomination Policy and Board  — %Ffﬂﬁﬁh%ﬂlﬁ&%% ZaM Kk
Diversity, and the implementations; BMITIER

— discussion of appointment of Executive Director; — HWmEARITES:

— assessment on the independence of Independent Non- — &FHEBIERITES 2B 1T R EE
executive Directors and review of the annual REBLE 2 FERR &

confirmations on their independence; and
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— review of the re-appointment of Directors who retired
from office by rotation at the past AGM and offered
themselves for re-election.

BOARD DIVERSITY AND WORKFORCE

The Company has formulated the board diversity policy aiming
at setting out the approach on diversity of the Board of the
Company. The Company believes that a diversity of
perspectives can be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to skills, regional
and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities. Board appointments will be made on merit basis and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. There is
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships between Board members. Under the revised Rule
13.92 of the Listing Rules that came into effect on 1 January
2022, a single gender Board will not be considered by the
Stock Exchange to have achieved Board diversity. The
Company had complied with this new requirement before 31
December 2024, being the end of the transitional period as
specified by the Stock Exchange.

Mechanism in respect of Independent Views and
Opinions available to the Board

The Company ensures that the Board has a strong independent
element, and ensures that there is a good mechanism to assist
the Board to obtain independent views and opinions, so that
the Board can effectively make independent judgments and
enhance the accountability and transparency of the Board, so
as to better protect the interests of the shareholders. Specific
mechanisms include: Independent Non-executive Directors are
required to confirm their independence to the Company in
writing in accordance with the procedures and requirements
for nominating directors of the Company upon appointment,
and the Listing Rules and the regulatory requirements of the
independence, qualifications, number and diversity of
directors. The Nomination Committee assesses the
independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors on
an annual basis and confirms that each Independent Non-
executive Director still meets the independence standards set
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out in the Listing Rules and that each member of the
Nomination Committee avoids assessing his or her own
independence. The Company encourages the Directors to have
independent access to and consult with the senior
management of the Company. The directors of the Company
shall be entitled to seek independent professional views in the
performance of their duties at the expense of the Company, if
necessary.

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender
diversity) across all levels of the Group. The employee gender
ratio of the Group (including senior management) as at 31
December 2024 is 64.5% male: 35.5% female. The Group
when hiring employees considers a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, qualification, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and the
Group will make sure achieving gender diversity across the
workforce. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Board was not aware of any mitigating factors or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across
the workforce (including senior management) more
challenging or less relevant. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for monitoring and reviewing the implementation
of the board diversity policy to ensure its effectiveness and
recommending any revisions of the policy to the Board for
consideration and approval.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged the responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. The auditors are
responsible to form an independent opinion, based on their
audits, on the Group’s financial statements and express their
opinions.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 112 to
119.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

Pursuant to Code Provision D.1.3, the Board draws the
attentions of shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company to a situation where the directors are aware of
certain material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern which has
been disclosed in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to
refer to the Independent Auditors’ Report for the details of
going concerns issues.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of
the Company, SFAI (HK) CPA Limited, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. SO Chi Kai (“Mr. So"”), was appointed as the Group
Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Company
("Company Secretary”) on 3 April 2018 and is responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting, financial
management and company secretarial matters.

The Company Secretary is mainly responsible for assisting the
Chairman of the Board and its committees to prepare agendas
for meetings and to prepare and disseminate meeting material
to the Directors and committees’ members in a timely and
comprehensive manner; ensuring every Director complies with
the Board's policy and procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations; and ensuring accurate records of Board/committee
meeting proceedings, discussions and decisions are recorded.
According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. So has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year. His biography is set out on page 39 of this Annual
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL FRAMEWORK

The Group's existing corporate governance framework and the
significant risks of the Group were summarised as follows:

Goals and Obijectives

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group'’s strategic objectives, and ensuring the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Board acknowledged that the risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Group's risk governance structure and the main
responsibilities are summarised below:

Board

o To evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring the implementation of an
effective risk management and internal control systems;

o To oversee the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis;

o To perform an annual review to ensure the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions; and

o To oversee the management/responsible party
(“responsible management”) in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems.

Management
° To design, implement and monitor the risk management
and internal control systems;

o To perform risks identification assessment which might
threaten the strategic objectives set;

e To review the risk and risk level and advise on any
matters which might be raised by employees and the
Group;

o To assist external consultant to analysis and appraise the
adequacy and efficiency of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems; and

e To coordinate all the risks management and activities
process and in compliance with Listing Rules and report
periodically to the Board.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group were summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

Identified the risks through discussion with the
management. Risk Assessment Questionnaire was used
to document the risk identified by the responsible parties.

Risk Assessment

Identified the existing controls and analysing risks in
terms of consequence and likelihood in the context of
those controls. The risk analysis considered the range of
potential consequences and how likely those
consequences were to occur. Consequence and
likelihood might be combined to produce an estimated
level of risk.

Risk Response

Categorised the risks into low risk, medium risk and high
risks;

Determined the strategy to handle the risk; and
Developed the risk register and internal control audit plan

and determined the frequency of review and control
testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting
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On-going communication of monitoring results to the
Audit Committee which enables it to assess control of
the Group and the effectiveness of risk management
during the year, including:

— Risk questionnaires completed by the management,
risk register and internal audit plan; and

—  Fact finding report with recommendations on the
review and testing of internal controls on certain
operating cycles and areas.
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Internal Audit Function

With the assistance of the external consultant, the Group’s
internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to assist the
Company to:

o Perform the risk assessment based on management
evaluation on identified area and report the findings and
recommendations to the management;

o Conduct various agreed upon reviews, on a rotationaly
basis, on the Group’s existing internal control policies
regarding notifiable transactions and connected
transactions and identify any significant weakness in its
controls; and

o Conduct various agreed upon reviews, on a rotationaly
basis, on material controls and perform testing of internal
controls on certain operating cycles and areas in
accordance with the Company’s Internal Control Audit
Plan.

The Company has considered the recommendations on the
internal audit findings identified by the external consultant and
will be completed the implementation of the aforesaid
recommendations in the upcoming financial year.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
were adequate and effective during the year.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is fully aware of its obligations under the new
Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter
571 and the Listing Rules. The Board has adopted procedures
and internal controls policy which contains the guideline to the
Directors and officers of the Company to ensure that the inside
information of the Company is to be disseminated to public in
an equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable
laws and regulations. Such policy provides guidance on the
Company conducting its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by
the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June
2012.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company is committed to high standard of business ethics
and integrity. A code of conduct is enforced on all employees
of the Group. The employees at all levels are expected to act in
an honest, diligent and responsible manner. No personal gifts
or other forms of advantages from any person or organisation
doing business with the Group can be accepted by any
employee. Business partners and customers are reminded from
time to time that our policy forbids any employee or agent of
the Group from accepting any gift from them.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great importance to communications
with shareholders and investors as always, and is committed to
disclosing information that is important to shareholders and
investors in a timely and objective manner through multiple
channels. We actively and effectively communicate the
Company’s latest business development and strategies to the
capital market. To further optimize this communication, the
Group has established Investors (Shareholders Included)
Communication Policy and regularly reviews and assesses its
implementation and effectiveness. During the reporting period,
the Board has reviewed the Investors (Shareholders Included)
Communication Policy and considers it to be effective. Major
means of communication with shareholders of the Company
are as follows:

Information disclosure on company website

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information
about the Group to all interested parties as widely and timely
as possible. The Company maintains company websites at
www.chinafortune.com and www.fortunetele.com where
important information about the Group’s activities and
corporate matters such as annual reports and interim reports
to shareholders, announcements, business development and
operations, corporate governance practices and other
information is available for review by shareholders and other
stakeholders. When announcements are made through the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
same information will be made available on the Company’s
website.
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General meetings with shareholders

The Company’s annual general meeting provides an useful
platform for direct communication between the Board and
shareholders. Separate resolutions are proposed on each
substantially separate issue at the general meetings.

The 2024 annual general meeting (“2024 AGM") was held on
31 May 2024. The attendance record of the Directors at the
2024 AGM is set out below:

BREXE
ApalzRRBAFRgRE—REERFES
RESeHRRERER  RREXRE L
ERZEAR LB I ZEHIREB LIRS
ZEMFRREAFAE (T MWFER
RAFAE)ER_ZE_MNFRA=+—
HERT - EFEF_T_MFRIEBAFK
R HEIT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Directors = HE SERE
Chairman and Executive Director FTERYPTES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2 NEEE 1/1
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yu T Jia&E 1/1
(Retired on 31 May 2024) (RZZE-_mMFRA=+—HRMT)
Mr. Li Jianwu FREREE 171
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle BBt 0/0
(Appointed on 27 August 2024) (RZZ_WFNAZ+EHEZT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFEHITES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan ERIAE L 171
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEL 171
Mr. Leung Wai Hung REMHRE 1/1

* No general meeting was held after Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle was
appointed as an executive director on 27 August 2024.

The Company's external auditor also attended the 2024 AGM.
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Investor relations

The Company recognises its responsibility to explain its
activities to those with a legitimate interest and to respond to
their questions. Questions received from the general public
and individual shareholders are answered promptly. In all
cases, great care is taken to ensure that no price-sensitive
information is disclosed selectively.

BENEFIT PLAN

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes vest fully and immediately with the employees.
Accordingly, (i) there was no forfeiture of contributions under
the Defined Contribution Schemes for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023; and (ii) there were
no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce its
existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

For the details of the Defined Contribution Scheme, please
refer to note 33 of the consolidated financial statements for
further details of retirement benefit schemes.

Constitutional Documents

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents. The constitutional
document of the Company was published on the Company’s
investor relations website (www.fortunetele.com) and Hong
Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Shareholders’ rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
shareholders of the Company as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the mandatory disclosure requirement under Part
1 Paragraph K of the CG Code:
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Convening of a special general meeting on requisition by
shareholders

Pursuant to clause 58 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, a special
general meeting may be convened by the Board upon
requisition by any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth
of the issued share capital of the Company and the securities
being held carrying the right of voting at any general meetings
of the Company. The shareholder shall make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the
Company at the head office address of the Company,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within
two (2) months after the receipt of such written requisition.
Pursuant to clause 59 of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Company shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting,
including the time, place of meeting and particulars of
resolutions to be considered at the meeting and the general
nature of the business.

If within twenty one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such special
general meeting, the shareholder shall do so pursuant to the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Act”).
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

Shareholders are requested to follow the Act for including a
resolution at an annual general meeting of the Company
("AGM"). The requirements and procedures are set out below:

()

(ii)

(iii)

Pursuant to section 79 of the Act, shareholder(s) holding
(i) not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights
of all shareholders having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, can
submit a written request stating the resolution intended
to be moved at the AGM or a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the
shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the
Company’s registered office and/or principal office in
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary,
not less than six weeks before the AGM in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less
than one week before the general meeting in the case of
any other requisition.

Pursuant to section 80 of the Act, if the written request
is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board (i)
to include the resolution in the agenda for the AGM; or
(i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the shareholder(s) concerned have
deposited a sum of money reasonably determined by the
Board sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
serving the notice of the resolution and/or circulating the
statement submitted by the shareholder(s) concerned in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the
requisition is invalid or the shareholder(s) concerned have
failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s
expenses for the said purposes, the shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included
in the agenda for the AGM or the statement will not be
circulated for the general meeting.
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(iv)

If a shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote
at the general meeting convened to deal with
appointment/election of director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the shareholder himself/herself) for
election as a director at that meeting, he/she can deposit
a written notice at the Company’s registered office and/
or its principal office in Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary, not less than seven (7) clear days
but not more than fourteen (14) clear days before the
date of the general meeting. In order for the Company
to inform all Shareholders of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person proposed
for election as a director, his/her biographical details as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be
signed by the shareholder concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

China Fortune Holdings Limited

Room 1505-06, Tower A, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road,
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Email: info@chinafortune.com
Tel No.: +852 2422 0811
Fax No.: +852 2428 0988

The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board
committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer
the shareholders’ questions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Company'’s ability to distribute dividends will
depend on, among others, the profits, operating results, cash
flow, financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital
requirements and other factors of the Company which the
Directors consider relevant, and the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The remaining profit will be
used for the development and operation of the Group. The
Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with any
restrictions under the applicable laws of Bermuda, the laws of
Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the bye-laws of the
Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders of
the Company. The Company will continually review the
Dividend Policy from time to time. There is no guarantee that
any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any
specific periods.
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China Fortune Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
present the Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG")
Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Group is committed to fulfilling its environmental and
social obligations while striving for economic growth and
creating value for the Company’s shareholders. We focus on
strategic priorities in terms of maintaining a peaceful natural
environment, creating a harmonized working environment and
sustaining an ethical business environment. Through this ESG
Report, we hope to continually refine our corporate strategy
for sustainable business growth, and deliver long-term value
for our stakeholders.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has the
overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting, as well as overseeing and managing its ESG-related
issues. The Board is also responsible for setting targets and
goals. In order to better evaluate, prioritise and manage the
Group’s ESG-related issues, the Board discusses and reviews
the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities, performance,
progress, goals and targets periodically with the assistance of
the ESG working group. The Board also ensures the
effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal control
mechanism.

The ESG working group is comprised of senior management
and staff members with adequate knowledge on ESG. In
addition, the ESG working group also engage a third-party
consultant for assistance. The ESG working group facilitates
the Board's oversight of ESG-related issues and has the
responsibility for collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring
and evaluating the Group’s ESG performance, ensuring
compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations, and
preparing ESG Reports. The ESG working group arranges
meeting periodically to discuss and review ESG-related issues
including but not limited to the effectiveness of current
Group's performance, ESG policies and procedures, ESG-
related performance, as well as the progress made against the
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Group's ESG-related goals and targets in terms of sustainable
development. The ESG working group reports to the Board
periodically and assists the Board to discharge its oversight
responsibility.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report presents the Group's ESG performance for the
financial year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period” or “2024").

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report is prepared with reference to the Appendix C2
— Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
"ESG Reporting Guide") of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
information disclosed in this report is derived from the result of
internal statistics and analysis of the Group's internal
management systems.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
structure and practices has been set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality,
guantitative, balance, and consistency during the preparation
for this ESG Report, the Group has applied these reporting
principles in the aforementioned ESG Reporting Guide as the
following:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify
material issues during Reporting Period, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of
this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board. Please refer to the sections headed
“Materiality Assessment” for further details.
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Quantitative: This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide and the key performance indicators
("KPIs") are disclosed in a quantitative manner. Information
regarding the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or
calculation references; and sources of key conversion factors
used for KPIs is stated wherever appropriate.

Balance: This ESG Report was prepared based on an objective
and impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed
faithfully reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies used in this ESG
Report are generally consistent with those used in the previous
year for meaningful comparisons. Any changes that may affect
comparisons with previous reports will be described in the
corresponding sections of this ESG Report.

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group are distribution and trading of mobile
phones and electronic products and mining and processing of
celestite, zinc and lead minerals. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company disposed of its entire equity
interest in China Yellow Stone Investment Company Limited
and its subsidiary (the “China Yellow Stone Group”) which is
mainly engaged in the exploration, exploitation, refining and
asset investment of mineral resources business and thus the
Company ceased its Mining Business. This report only covers
which are major components in the Group, namely China
Fortune Holdings Limited, Fortune (Shanghai) International
Trading Co., Ltd, It RREFIRHIAR A A, b RERHEHL
BRAR, RABRESERBRAR, R&E(HE)ERE
[RAF and RARESAEBBERIARAA.

72

Bl ARE - HEREAMERRIRIR -
HeRkERAREHESIRE - MERERE
FURRERERDNELTARE - K
BERNBEBRAEERETE - 7% BRR
R/SEE2EZER - A RBRERIE
FRAEEEBRRARIRIELHA -

T ARE  HEREAMEDNRE
BRI A mEMAK - BIRFTHEEHR
TERBMAKEZEEBRE HEREA
RIR

— Bt AR B RERBEFAG
ST rEmEAERAE R WA
BRI - EAYER FRBEL B
BRHERARE  HEREAR S
SEHA -

ABE2EHE

RABRFEERAG - AEBZEEZH
BEDHEHEEBEVHEERETERULK
AEA HRWBEACHAERINTIER -
RBE-_T-_NF+A=1T—HItFE -
ARRIEEERPEEARERR AR R
HfEAR([FREASE]  FEZRER
EEREBOME AR REEREER
B)NEEARE - B AR AR IEERESE
%o RREERENEBNEZHEK AT
hERERERERAR  RE(LE)H
BESERAR  ERREMBEEARA
A ARERFRBBERAA RAOEER
BSERERAR  RECHRE)IZERER
RARRDRESAEABEREERA
Ej °



FEREEREAERAA /

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

The Board considers ESG as part of the fiduciary duty and
strives to embed ESG considerations into daily operation and
management. The Board is responsible for and delegating the
Group’s management to timely discuss environmental, social
and governance issues and review the governance codes to
enable the Group to keep abreast of and comply with the
latest regulatory requirements in prior to the approval of this
report. This system monitors the management to design,
implement and continuously monitor risk management and
internal control systems and to assure the suitability and
effectiveness of the relevant systems and to assure timely
implementation of the Group’s sustainable development
measures, the accuracy and reliability of the data presented.
The Board also helps for formulating relevant strategies in their
respective areas and for the effectiveness of implementation in
accordance with the sustainable development strategies and
objectives. To fulfill the environmental responsibility, the Board
puts its green and sustainable development philosophy into
action by implementing an efficient Environmental
Management System to ensure energy efficiency, proper waste
management, and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in daily operations. Meetings are arranged regularly
to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies, systems,
procedures and formulate appropriate solutions to improve the
overall performance of ESG policies.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group continues to maintain the relationships and
communicate with its key stakeholders. We have identified our
employees, customers, suppliers, investors, shareholders and
communities at large as our key stakeholder groups. In daily
business, we communicate with different key stakeholders
through various channels such as conferences, electronic
platforms and public events so as to understand the concerns
of various stakeholders. To formulate the operational strategies
and ESG measures, the Group takes into account the
expectations of stakeholders and strives to improve its
performance through mutual cooperation with the
stakeholders, resulting in creating greater value for the
community.

MATERIALITY

Materiality assessment was conducted by discussing the
expectation and feedback from the key stakeholders in respect
of ESG to understand their views, seriously considered and
responded to their needs and expectations, evaluated and
prioritised their inputs to improve the performance, and finally
strive to provide values to the stakeholders.

Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the
management of the Group identified use of resources, product
responsibility and health and safety as key aspects of its long-
term sustainability. Effective risk management and internal
control systems on these aspects are reinforced with the aim
of enhancing efficiency of operations and generating the
environmental and social benefits to the stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

We value your feedback on this report. If you have any
feedback or suggestions, please contact us at
info@chinafortune.com.
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THE ENVIRONMENTAL

In order to seek long-term sustainability of the
environment and to fulfil our social responsibilities, the
Group has its policy to manage air and greenhouse gas
emissions, energy consumption and waste disposal
throughout its daily operations. Our policy towards the
environment is to minimise the impact on the
environment with sustainable operations. We place
strong emphasis on environmental protection by
maximizing the efficiency of resources and reducing
pollution. Our sustainable practices encourage employees
to be more considerate of the environment by savings on
energy consumption and use of materials so that impact
on the environment and natural resources can be
minimised.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and PRC relating to air and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.
Such relevant laws and regulations include but not
limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311,
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Cap. 354, Laws of Hong Kong) the Energy Conservation
Law and Environmental Protection Law of the PRC.

A1. Emissions
The Group recognised that consumption of
electricity at workplaces account for our major
indirect GHG emissions.

During the year, business operations of the Group
did not result in the consumption of natural gas or
diesel. Due to the Group’s business nature, only an
immaterial amount of air emissions was generated
from the use of company vehicles. As such, there
were no material nitrogen oxides (“NOx"), sulphur
oxides (SOx"), or particulate matters (“"PM")
emissions during the Reporting Period.
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Air and GHG Emissions

During the year, the Group's total greenhouse gas
emissions increased approximately 1.29 tonnes
from 10.4 tonnes in 2023 to 11.69 tonnes in 2024.
The detailed summary of GHG emission for the year
is shown as below:

RERBEEREHK

FRN - AEEZBREREHRE
EHR-T-=FH1048E N
H)120WEZE — T —PO4FH) 11.69
ME o & RORZE RS HE A2 FF AR

2R

CO,e Emission

(Tonnes) Intensity
“EBEEER
Scope of GHG BEREEGE (Wg) ZE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRINE —TO-F ZBIQNE —To=F
Scope 1 Petrol consumption — #E 17 E#E - 0.15 - 0.004
Scope 2 Electricity HE2ENERE
consumption 11.69 10.25 0.377 0.301
Total GHG emissions mEREHNES 11.69 10.40 0.377 0.305
Notes: Hfat
1. Petrol consumption: according to purchase volume 1. URERE REBRARARER

of gasoline and diesel of company vehicle;

2. Electricity consumption: according to electricity bills
received by the Company;

3. Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/
emissions per employee.

B2 Rk SmERE

2. EHER: REBEAQRNKEIZ

BEEHE
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To reduce the energy consumption and the amount
of carbon emission, we have implemented a
number of measures to mitigate such consumption
and emission, we reinforced our management of
energy conservation in our offices through the
ventilation system with a stabilized room
temperature at 25 degrees Celsius, as well as
reminding employees to turn off any computers,
printers, light and other office equipment that are
not being used. We try to use daylight wherever
possible, and choose energy efficient equipment
during procurement. We encourage our employees
to travel by public transport to reduce carbon
footprint. We advocate a green lifestyle by growing
plants in the office. Awareness of environmental
protection among our staff was raised through the
promotion of green office culture.

To reinforce the Group's commitment to reduce
GHG emissions, it has set a target of maintaining its
total GHG emissions intensity to be not more than
the 2023 baseline.

Hazardous Waste

Given the nature of our businesses, the Group did
not produce material amounts of hazardous waste
during the Reporting Period.

Although the Group does not generate significant
amounts of hazardous waste, the Group has
established guidelines on the management and
disposal of these wastes. In case there is any
hazardous waste produced, the Group would
engage a qualified chemical waste collector to
handle such waste in compliance with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

To reinforce the Group’s commitment to reduce
GHG emissions, it has set a target of maintaining its
total GHG emissions intensity to be not more than
the 2023 baseline.
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To pursue the GHG emissions reduction target, we
have actively adopted electricity conservation and
energy saving measures to reduce the GHG
emissions, such measures are described in the
section A2 Use of Resources.

Non-hazardous Waste

The Group generates no hazardous waste in our
operation. Non-hazardous wastes are preferred to
be recycled, otherwise, they are sent for landfill or
incineration. Non-hazardous wastes from the
Group’s operation are mainly the paper waste.
During the Reporting Period, the consumption
volume of paper waste generated by the Group is
shown as below:

RETAERBAE R - B
TR R A i B [ &P pe ¥ e LA R
BEREBHEN ZERGEIEN
A2 éﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ—ﬁu °

HEEERY
AEBZEBEVEELBEERER
Yo BMEEREWEANETD
Y anESAE - B g X KRR
SR - AEEEEEL 2 EE
BEEVNETELERRERY - NR
EHE AREELE 2 HFOBRE
IR

Category of BEEEN Quantity (Tonnes) Intensity
Non-hazardous waste Al 2B () BE
2023 2024 2023
RN —To=F ZBI@E —T-o=F
Paper Waste MRERY) 0.14 - 0.004
Note: Mtat -
1. Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/ 1. *fiﬁi%ﬁéﬁ’ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ/m

emissions per employee.

The Group has implemented paperless processing
in its internal communications. In order to reduce
paper consumption, we encourage employees to
use duplex printing and copying.

MEtE o

AREBERERNIERE ER
{LERIR o AR D HRIRIEFE - FAM
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To reinforce the Group's commitment to reduce
paper waste, it has set a target of maintaining its
intensity to be not more than the 2023 baseline.

Use of Resources

Energy saving tips and guidelines are in place as a
direction on the efficient use of resources
throughout daily operations. Our strategy is to
reduce resources used in daily office operation,
through wise use of energy and water, wastage
and paper consumption, as well as promoting the
practice of recycle, reuse, reduce, and replace. We
recognise the importance of transitioning our
operations to bring upon more sustainable options.

Use of Resources

A2.

ASFRAL N SR BB D R AR B A
HEeRERR  #RmETES

e e 5= 0P = 92
EREA

HIPIRRA ERKIBEIREE R M 3R B -
MRBREEPREARERE
R o BPIRV RS DB B H(E
FRERRIK - BEY) R AR SRIBFE -
RS REREE BYER
A8 A R U R R B R >
AEBRAZEFEMERNER
B IR R IR 2B AT K
FEAREEREENERN -

BREH

Fuel Efficiency

We are committed to replacing old vehicles with more fuel-efficient vehicles.

PR R R BB BETERTRRE AR RGN TE -
We encourage employees to use telephone conference whenever possible to
reduce the carbon footprint of business travel.
B BEENFTEATEASESE - WD ERNEE D -
Materials We encourage to use automatic pencil leads and ball pen refills.
kL BB RBEBmE TN ERRIREEL -
We encourage employees to bring their own water bottles instead of using paper
cups.
H P ENE 8 B EAOR A ERCARHR o
We promote wise use of toilet paper.
AP AR (£ AT AR -
We advocate the use of double sided printed to reduce paper wastage.
BIREEEITEILUR AR BAK -
Water We make sure there is no leakage of taps to conserve water.
X HPIRERKBE BRI IR /K A B A) FA7K »
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Energy We maintain the room temperature at 25 degree Celsius to converse energy.
BER B =R R T AWK 25 ELARAIREIR
We keep the air ventilation system off if the room is vacant.
BN EREASBREBRE RS -
We encourage employees to save energy by turning off lights and electronics
when not in use.
BIsxEE S & AVELIR - W NMERARRIEE X RER
We remind employees to turn off lights, computers, printers and other office
equipment after work.
BIREES N TR - FHE - TTEIR R E MM A ERE -
We keep track on the power consumption record and take measures when there
is significant increase in consumption.
HiPIBE 52 E )RR 8% S b0 R B K E RIS MBS EREUE B
Resources We encourage employees to reuse plastic bags, recycle glass bottles and aluminum
cans.
BIR HifisxEEEEMABER - CIWIHIEH & iR -
Recycling of printer cartridges and toners is implemented.
BACEREBITEIREZ LIRS -
Energy consumption BEJE K FE
During the year, the Group’s consumption in petrol FER o RNEBZHARE S HEE
and electricity were: =%
Quantity Unit Intensity
Energy Type BERER £ =] B ZE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBCoME —TO=F “RCRE —TO=F
Petrol R - 645.74 litre A FF - 18.89
Electricity W) 26,212.00 23,355.23 kWh TR 845.55 686.92
Note: Mt
1. Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/ 1. EERSREEMEREE B

emissions per employee.

WEHE -
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has
increased approximately 2,856.77 kWh electricity
consumption compared to that in 2023. Regarding
the petrol consumption, the Group has decreased
consumption from 645.74 litre in 2023, to zero litre
in 2024.

The Group's ability to use energy efficiently can be
revealed by its intention and measures for the
reductions in energy consumption. Energy
consumption has a direct effect on the
environmental footprint of the Group, its
operational costs, and exposure to certain risks (e.g.
fluctuations in energy supply and prices). The
Group's policies and measures specific to managing
energy use have been stated above.

To reinforce the Group’s commitment to efficient
energy use, the Group has set a target of
maintaining its electricity consumption intensity to
be not more than the 2023 baseline.

To pursue the energy use efficiency target, the
Group has implemented various energy saving
measures. The Group's energy saving measures are
described above.

Water consumption and use of packaging
materials

The Group’s water consumption is minimal and no
issue in sourcing water for the Group’s operation
had been noted during the Reporting Period. To
further reduce water consumption, the Group
educates its employees on conservation habitats,
performs regular cleaning and maintenance of
refrigerators to consume less electricity, and re-
using the used water for watering plants.

Besides, due to the nature of business, the Group
did not involve any use of packaging material and
hence the disclosure is not applicable to the Group.

BE -HEREIERE
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A3.

A4.

The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group's policy on minimising its significant
impact on the environment and natural resources is
mentioned in A1 Emissions and A2 Use of
Resources.

Since our core operations are confined to the office
environment, we do not make significant impact on
the environment and natural resources. Still,
adhering to our policy, we will review in due course
to seek for continual improvement, if any.

Climate Change

Climate change has been a worldwide growing
issue in recent years. The Group recognises the
importance of the identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues, therefore, the
Group is committed to managing the potential
climate-related issues which may impact the
Group’s business activities. The Group has
established risk management policy in identifying
and mitigating different risks including climate-
related risks. The Board meets periodically and co-
operates closely with key management to identify
and evaluate climate-related risks and issues and to
formulate strategies to manage them. Acute
physical risk can arise from extreme weather
conditions such as flooding and storms and chronic
physical risk can arise from sustained high
temperature, while transition risk may result from
the change in environmental-related regulations or
change in customer preferences.
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Upon evaluation of the potential acute physical risk
that may cause disruption to the operation,
precautionary measures have been implemented by
the Group, including work arrangements of
extreme weather conditions such as black rainstorm
warning, flooding and typhoon signal No. 8. while
sustained high temperature may result in an
elevation of electricity consumption, the Group has
adopted energy conservation measures in
managing such risk, which are detailed in the
subsection of “Use of Resources”. As for the
potential transition risk, the Group continues to
monitor the regulatory market environment to
ensure that our food and services meet customers
and regulatory expectations.

It is expected that potential extreme weather
condition, sustained high temperature, change in
environmental-related regulations do not directly
impose material threat to the Group’s operations.
However, the Group will continue to monitor the
climate related risks regularly and implement
relevant measures to minimise the potential impact
of climate change.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

We believe that our employees are valuable assets
to the Group. In order to build a harmonized
working environment, we recognise the importance
of fostering a supportive workplace for employees
to grow with the Group together.
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We firmly believe in the principle of equal
opportunity for all employees and this is addressed
in the staff handbook as our employment policy.
We ensure that our recruitment, promotion,
compensation, training and dismissal practices are
on a fair and equal basis. We do not tolerate any
discrimination based on race, religion, sex, marital
status, age, national origin, or other considerations
deemed inappropriate by local laws. We strictly
comply with relevant local laws and regulations
relating to hiring, compensation, dismissal, working
hours, rest periods and diversity.

We respect and protect the legal rights of
employees by abiding to the local laws and
regulations including “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and “Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, as well as
“"Employment Ordinance” in Hong Kong.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of
any material non-compliance with employment-
related laws and regulations in Hong Kong and PRC
that would have a significant impact on the Group.

a) Employee’s Distribution by Age

BPRERAERERETFEH
SR YEBEHABTF
fittE AT IR B IR ERR © FiPItE
RIBES ~ BT - #BH - 1R 9 R
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2o MR BIRARR - FE
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ETEME  HH - R T
& BB EZTETENEEE
HE R R IRB o
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a) EFRETHESSMH

Age Group Fip4a 5 2024 2023

—ENE —E-=F
18-30 18-307% 5 7
31-50 31-50 5% 21 23
>50 S0BRA 5 4
Total HEt 31 34
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Employee’s Distribution by
Gender

b) BMFIETHEES M

Gender %5 2024 2023

—EopmEF —T-=
Male B 20 20
Female i 11 14
Total HBEr 31 34
Employee’s Distribution by o KHEBEFZSKWIESS
Employment Type il
Employment Type EEER 2024 2023

—EB-IF ==
Full-time 28 31 34
Total st 31 34
Employee’s Distribution by d BHEVEISHESS
Geographical Location il

2024 2023

—E-EF —F-=
Hong Kong BB 7 7
PRC a3 24 27
Total st 31 34
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e) Employee’s Turnover Rate by e) EBMFIBZTHESRKAL
Gender =
No. of Headcount Turnover rate
AE Tk =
2024 2023 2024 2023

CECINE —Eo-F ZENF —T-—F

Male B - 5 - 25%
Female 7% 3 3 27.27% 21.43%
f)  Employee’s Turnover Rate by ) HFERAFESHIESR
Age Group K HEE
No. of Headcount Turnover rate
AE Fktb=
2024 2023 2024 2023

“ECNE —F--F ZBE-NE —T-=F

18-30 18-305% 1 5 20% 71.43%
31-50 31-50 5% 2 3 9.52% 13.04%
>50 505R A - - - -
g) Employee’s Turnover Rate by 9 EHENEZHSHNESR
Geographical Location KEE
No. of Headcount Turnover rate
A KL=
2024 2023 2024 2023

“ECNE —E--F ZBE-NE —ZT-=F

Hong Kong &5 - - - -
PRC H 3 8 12.50% 29.63%
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B2. Health and Safety

Safety always comes first throughout the operation
and is the basis of success. Our health and safety
policy is to minimise occupational hazards and
provide a safe working environment. We have set
up procedures for our employees to follow in case
of typhoons and severe rainstorms to ensure their
safety during the journey from and to work. Access
to and egress from workplace is maintained
unblocked. First aid box with emergency contact is
in place. We did not find any work fatality cases or
lost days due to work injury in the past three years
including the Reporting Period.

Apart from physical health, we also take care of the
mental health of our employees as well. Paid
annual leaves higher than the statutory requirement
are offered to enhance the work-life balance. In
addition, we have lunch gathering during special
festivals such as the winter solstice and the
Christmas Eve. We arrange birthday parties for our
employees to maintain their spirit in a pleasant
working environment.

In order to comply with the "Employees’
Compensation Ordinance” and “Regulation on
Work-Related Injury Insurances”, all employees are
covered by insurance against any accidents. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material noncompliance with the health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group encourages continuous learning within
our employees and puts emphasis on their holistic
development. All new joiners are required to
undergo an induction briefing regarding corporate
culture, company’s policy and procedure, health
and safety, basic knowledge about the Group’s
operation and system. Measures on professional
training, enhancing leadership and talent team
building are available for employees to achieve their
personal goals while growing with the Group.

A performance appraisal is in place to review the
employees’ performance annually. This provides an
opportunity between the Company and the
employees to communicate so that we can meet
employees’ expectations and objectives.

The Group provides occasional on-the-job training
and on-the-spot guidance to enhance employees’
expertise and productivity. Moreover, the Group
values the long-term development of its employees
and strives to provide them with different learning
opportunities, including external training and
specific training development programs. The Group
also encourages the culture of sharing knowledge
and experience.

During the Reporting Period, the training rate of
male employees, female employees, management
and general staff were 45%, 72.72%, 50% and
55.17% respectively. During the Reporting Period,
the average training hours of male employees,
female employees, management and general staff
were 9 hours, 8 hours, 1 hour and 16 hours
respectively.
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B4. Labour Standards B4. % T %A

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited in the
workplace. Stringent hiring procedures and
processes are enforced to verify the legal proof of
age before commencement of work. We also
regularly review the employees’ information to
ensure no employment of child labour and forced
labour. The Group has strictly complied with the
Labour Contract Law of PRC, the Hong Kong
employment laws and other relevant laws and
regulations to avoid child or forced labour and
other potential irregularities. We do not adopt any
kind of forced labour including prison labour as
supplier.

If the responsible personnel identify the existence
of child labour or forced labour within the Group,
the work of such child labour or forced labour will
be terminated immediately.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on
employment and labour practices, including those
related to preventing child and forced labour.
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B5.

Supply Chain Management

One of our procurement principles towards
sustainability is to ensure that our procurement
system can manage any environmental and social
risks in the supply chain. In order to maintain
sustainability as well as quality, our strategy is to
build a long-term relationship with suppliers. We
continue to assess and monitor the existing
suppliers’ performances, according to a series of
quantitative indicators, which include fundamental
capability, cost competitiveness, delivery fulfilment,
quality control, customer service, business
innovation, and safety and environmental
protection, to ensure their quality and performance
is up to our standard. We encourage our colleagues
to cooperate with suppliers who have considered
environmental and social impacts in their products
or services, so as to control our risks and maintain
the quality and the healthy development of our
supply chain. New suppliers have to undergo
assessment and evaluation before being adopted.

The Group prefer local suppliers whenever possible
to reduce carbon emissions from transportation
and to support the local economy. During the
Reporting Period, the Group worked with five
suppliers, three of them was locally based at PRC
while the other two was locally based in Hong
Kong. All suppliers were assessed according to
standard procedures.
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In order to manage potential environmental and
social risks in supply chain, the Group embeds
environmental and social considerations in the
procurement process, which implies the following:

o Complying with all relevant and applicable
legal and other requirements;

o Controlling the use of materials and resources
(e.g. electricity, fuel, paper), minimising the
generation of all kinds of wastes; ensuring
that sewage is discharged in accordance with
legal requirements, and reducing, reusing and
recycling materials wherever possible;

o Requiring contractors to ensure that all waste
materials are properly handled, stored and
disposed in an efficient and sensitive manner
to avoid any contamination;

° Oversee the entire project cycle to ensure
their regulatory compliance to minimise
potential social risks;

o Reviewing the suppliers’ environmental, social
and governance policies; and

e Assessing suppliers’ performance in the
aspects of human rights, labor practices,
health and safety etc.

Environmentally and socially responsible suppliers
will be prioritised in the selection process.
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B6.

Green procurement has been our procurement
approach. In the process of sourcing materials, we
require that components used by the suppliers be
in full compliance with environmental protection
requirements, in accordance with national and
industry standards. The Group also arranges
meetings with the suppliers on a regular basis to
ensure the provision of quality products and
services to customers and to monitor the supplier’s
performance in business ethics, environmental
protection, human rights and labour practices.

Product/Service Responsibility

Product and Service

Quality is the key component to take shape of
customer satisfaction. With regard to product
quality, we ensure that all products should comply
with national standards including China
Compulsory Certification (CCC) in terms of testing
certificates issued by accredited laboratory. In
addition to following national standards regarding
product quality, we abide by the internal principles
to secure the safety and quality of our products.
We strictly monitor the entire lifecycle of our
products, from sourcing materials to product recall,
return and replacement, so as to ensure the
execution of technical standards, operational safety,
as well as product and service quality. Each quality
report and product recall request, if any, from our
customers will be investigated and examined
seriously by our designated quality control team to
determine appropriate follow-up actions.

We value customers’ feedback, as this is the driving
force for our continual improvement. Once a
complaint is received, we will take prompt actions
to investigate the issue and carry out remedial
action plans.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no product
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons and
no products and service-related complaints
received.

Customer privacy

Customer information is treated as confidential
data in the Group. Only core staff of relevant
department are granted permissions to access
according to different hierarchy and locations. The
Group has the right to executive disciplinary actions
on employees who violate the rules stipulated in
the employee handbook.

Intellectual property

The Group endeavours to protect intellectual rights
by different measures. We actively monitor any
infringement in terms of counterfeit goods across
the country with people’s court and public bodies.
In addition, we renew the registration of any
expiring trademarks and patents based on the need
of our business. We strictly abide by relevant laws
and regulations, including the “Copyright Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and “Trademark
Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

Advertising and labelling

Systematic review and approval process is in place
before advertisement launch to the market to
safeguard accurate presentation and protect
customers. Appropriate safety warnings are
attached on the product packaging for consumers’
information.

We are in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations including “Advertising Law of People’s
Republic of China” and “Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests”. There are no breaches of
laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters in
connection with our products and services provided
during the Reporting Period.
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B7.

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption is the cornerstone of the business
and sustainability, which at the same time the most
material topics rated by our stakeholders. Stringent
policies are stipulated in the employee handbook in
relation to compliance with the “Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance”, such as soliciting or accepting
any advantages in the business operations, to
ensure employees’ actions abide by our internal
regulations. Procedures are established to minimise
corruption risks related to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering in the business operation.
Internal control mechanism is in place for
monitoring. To achieve and maintain the highest
standards of openness, probity and accountability,
the Group establishes the whistleblowing policy
which allows our employees to report
whistleblowing matters anonymously.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations or concluded legal
cases that has a significant impact concerning
bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

The Group will provide training to our directors and
employees on anti-corruption practices in the
ensuing financial year.
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B8. Community Investment BS. HERE

As part of our’s strategic development, we are
committed to supporting social participation and
contribution, and to nurture the corporate culture
and practices of corporate citizen in its daily
operation. We aim to promote the stability of
society, and support the underprivileged to improve
their quality of life. We create job opportunities and
promote economic growth in the local communities
through our business and operation. We also
endeavour to foster employees’ sense of social
responsibility, encouraging employees to participate
actively in voluntary services during their leisure
time to help people in need.

The need of labour is the Group’s focus area.
Various channels such as appraisals and staff
meetings etc., are provided to staff for sharing their
response to the Group about their needs and
concerns.

Work-life balance is one of the important elements
in retaining employees in the Group. In this spirit,
the Group has organised various activities to help
relieve employees from work stress, as well as to
foster employees’ relationship, for example, the
Group organised weekly sports activities, annual
dinners and team buildings activities.

In order to seek further development opportunities
to maintain a harmonious relationship with
stakeholders, the Group will continue to explore
the possibility of investing available resources to the
community and uphold the principles of
accountability to shareholders, investors, suppliers,
customers and the public community.
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The directors present their annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 120 to 121 of the
annual report.

No interim dividend was declared during the year. The
directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend.
There are no arrangements under which a shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 consisted of contributed surplus
and accumulated profits were nil.
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Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) it is, or would after payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium accounts.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yu
(Retired on 31 May 2024)
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle
(Appointed on 27 August 2024)
Mr. Li Jianwu

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Law Chun Kwan

Dr. Lo Wai Shun

Mr. Leung Wai Hung

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) and Bye-law 87 of the
Company’s bye-laws, Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle and Mr. Leung
Wai Hung shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election,
respectively.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors is the date up to his retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHEE

BREARZE-NN\—FREDE(KER)
ARBZEFRAB(NE) TRUADIK - A
e ERINERT KRBT BAEHA
HREIRIORN R B HIEL DK

(@ RERREIIGEEINIBNZE
& =%

() BEEZAZAEERMINEBELED
TR R B it (B AR 2 4870 »

S

ARBARAFERNEEAREARLZE
==

HITEE

B/ NELE ()

T 2a%4
(R—Z-WMFERA=+—HIEMT)

Bzt
(R—ZE-MENA-++LBHERT)

FEREE

BYFHITES:
AR RIS £
BHEEEL
RIEMTLE

RIBFAQE 2 AR Z AR 86(2) 15 K2
MAE 7 5 BINBL L RREBHELLER
DHREEBRRBFRE LEREER - I
MAEBEMILMEERST -

BRRERRBFAE L ERETZES
B AN R BT B AR R LR —
FATA BHAKEBEMECEEMERIN)
Mz RIBEHK

BB TESTZEHEERBEALRT
Z AR ARE SR ZBLLE -

97



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors, the chief executive and their associates in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (“SFO")), which were required to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code"), were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
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Percentage of

Number of the issued share
issued ordinary capital of
Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
FRiEFE®RT MHELTACRT
EspR 54 EEREE RAB S
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (“Mr. Lau”)  Held by a discretionary trust (Note) 37,660,002 15.86%

Bl NERAE(TRIKAED) 2RERSA (Wit)
Beneficial owner 78,685,479 33.12%

EmEAA

116,345,481 48.98%

Note: These shares are held by Future 2000 Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which in turn is held by
a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lau,
his spouse and his children.

The interest disclosed above represents long positions in the

shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporations.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, chief executives
nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO at 31 December
2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or their close associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) has any other interest in a business apart from the
business of the Group which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 28 May
2014 to provide incentives to directors, eligible employees and
other qualified persons who in the opinion of the board of
directors has made or will make contributions which are or
may be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme:

(i) Purpose
The primary purpose of the Scheme is to provide
incentives to directors, eligible employees and other
qualified persons who in the opinion of the board of
directors has made or will make contributions which are
or may be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

(i) Who may join

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may,
subject to certain conditions, grant to any directors,
employees, suppliers, agents, customers, distributors,
business associates or partners, professionals or other
advisors of, or consultants or contractors to, any
members of the Group or any associated companies who
in the opinion of the board of directors has made or will
make contributions which are or may be beneficial to the
Group as a whole.
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(iii) Maximum number of Shares and total number
of shares available for issue subject to options
The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and other share option schemes of our Company (and to
which the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
are applicable) shall not exceed 21,155,588 Shares
(representing 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in
issue on the date the Shares commence trading on the
Stock Exchange and on the date of this report). Since its
adoption, no share option had been granted. The Share
Option Scheme was expired on 28 May 2024.

(iv) Limit for each participant
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time.

(v) Option period
Options granted must be taken up within the time period
set out in the offer letter.

(vi) Minimum period
There is no minimum period for which an option granted
must be held before it can be exercised unless otherwise
imposed by the Directors.

(vii) Payment on acceptance of option offer
An offer for the grant of options must be accepted
within seven days inclusive of the day on which such
offer was made, upon payment of HK$1.

(viii) Subscription price

Options to subscribe for shares in the Company at any
price but not less than the higher of (i) nominal value of
a share, (ii) the closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange on the day of grant, and (iii) the average of the
closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the options, subject to a maximum of 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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(ix) Present status of the Share Option Scheme
No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption. As at 31 December 2023, the Company had
no outstanding share option under the Share Option
Scheme. The Share Option Scheme was expired on 28
May 2024.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate. None of the directors, their spouses
or children under the age of 18 had any rights to subscribe for
the securities of the Company or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
were entered into or subsisted during the year ended 31
December 2024.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered
into any contract of significance with a controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS BEEAH

No contracts concerning the management and administraton HR—-ZT-WME+—-"HA=+—H ' i\ T
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 78174 ~ B B/ R 7 & 50 sk £ {a] & A 2P
Company were entered into or existed as at 31 December  DEBKZEIENITHRZBHL] °

2024.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the  IZRA R FRIEF A N HE &M 55336 1%
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, as FIFEZ T ERRZMIR R T
at 31 December 2024, the following shareholders had notified F+=-HA=+—H ' KA "] ER 5L
the Company of relevant interests in the issued share capital of ~ FEARRXA B R EITIRATMERIEBEREZ -

the Company.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company AATEREEO BT ZEER

Percentage of
Number of the issued share

Name of substantial issued ordinary capital of
shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
FriFe 81T (thAARDET

TERRLE 54 HER BEES

Mr. Lau Held by a discretionary trust (Note 1) 37,660,002 15.86%

Elbes DREEFERR (Mt 1)

Beneficial owner 78,685,479 33.12%
BB A
116,345,481 48.98%

Mr. Lee Wai, Timothy Held by controlled entity (Note 2) 37,660,002 15.86%

FEEE Rt EEEE (Mit2)

Notes: Bfat -

1. These shares are held by Future 2000 Limited, a company 1. ZERHBEEEBELESTMXRIZA
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which in turn is held by A] Future 2000 Limited A& - 7% A 7] H
a discretionary trust. The beneficiaries of the discretionary trust —IBEEETEA 22 HETZZEA
include Mr. Lau, his spouse and his children. BERRE HEE@BREFZ -

2. Under the SFO, Mr. Lee Wai, Timothy is deemed to have 2. iRIEBLERIEEN  ARZELEGRE
interests in the shares of the Company as he is entitled to 7 Future 2000 Limited 2 JRE K& L171F
exercise more than one-third of the voting power at general =2 ERERE  REEKRAREAR
meetings of Future 2000 Limited. ARG AR o
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considers all of the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT OF
DIRECTORS

(@ Mr. Wang Yu, has not been re-elected as an executive
director of the Company at the annual general meeting
("AGM") held on 31 May 2024 and retired with effect
after the conclusion of the AGM.

(b)  Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle (“Ms. Lau") was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company with effect from 27 August
2024. Ms. Lau is entitled to a director’s fee of
HK$240,000 per annum, which is determined by the
Board by reference to her background, qualification and
experience and her duties and responsibilities with the
Company. Ms. Lau is the daughter of Mr. Lau Siu Ying,
the chairman and an executive director of the Company.
Further details of Ms. Lau’s appointment were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 27 August 2024.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, other changes in the information of
Director(s) since 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules are set out below:

— Mr. Leung Wai Hung, the independent non-executive
Director of the Company, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of Gemini
Investments (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 174) with
effect from 20 April 2024.
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— Mr. Leung Wai Hung, the independent non-executive
Director of the Company, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of Wing Lee
Development Construction Holdings Limited (Stock code:
9639) with effect from 20 September 2024.

— Mr. Leung Wai Hung, the independent non-executive
Director of the Company, has resigned as the Company
Secretary and authorised representative of BeijingWest
Industries International Limited (stock code: 2339) with
effect from 1 January 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company.

Materials Events after the Reporting Period

On 8 January 2025, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with two independent third parties (the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 16,000,000
shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of
approximately HK$4.16 million (“the 2025 Subscriptions”).
The 2025 Subscribers were Mr. Lei Yongjia (& B1E) and Ms.
Cheung Ha (5K ). On 22 January 2025, the 2025 Subscriptions
have been completed. The net proceeds (after deduction of all
relevant expenses) from the Subscriptions of approximately
HK$4.12 million will be applied as general working capital of
the Group. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 January 2025 and 22 January 2025.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant events
subsequent to the reporting period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any
concrete plans for material investments or capital assets.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2024:

(1) The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the largest customer represent
approximately 99% and 77%, respectively, of the
Group's total revenue;

(2) The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier represent
approximately 100% and 79%, respectively, of the
Group's total purchase.

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a
director or a shareholder of the Company which to the
knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group's five largest suppliers and customers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 40 to 69 of this annual report, the Company has
complied throughout the year with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices and the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules which were then in
force during the respective periods.

Detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is also set out in the Corporate Governance Report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Group has a share option scheme under which the
Company may grant share options to the participants,
including directors and employees, to subscribe for shares of
the Company, details of the scheme is set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, which are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Business Risk

The Group's business risks include rapid change in the general
market conditions, downturn pressure on the overall economy
of the PRC and price competition from other market players.
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the
business and reviews of material business decisions involving
material risks exposures from time to time.

Financial Risk

The Board monitors closely the Group’s currency risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Board also reviews
monthly management accounts, capital structure and key
operating data of the Group.
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Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations.
The Group engages professionals from time to time to keep
abreast of the latest developments in the regulatory
environment, including legal, financial, environmental and
operational developments. The Group also adopts a strict
policy in prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of
confidential or inside information.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems covering
business, financial and compliance risks of the Group and is
satisfied that such systems are effective and adequate for the
current operations of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance and risk management policies and
procedures, and members of the senior management are
delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and
regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are
reviewed regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES
AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
businesses and the communities with which it engages. The
Group pursues this business approach by managing its
business prudently and executing management decisions with
due care and attention. The Group keeps on reviewing
environmental issues in its operations from time to time.

For details, please refer to section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 70 to 95 of this
annual report.
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries remained
outstanding.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company had a permitted indemnity provision (as defined
in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in force for the
benefit of the Directors during the year and up to the date of
approval of this Directors’ Report, pursuant to which the
Company shall indemnify any Director against any liability, loss
suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he/she is involved by
reason of being a Director, except in any case where the
matter in respect of which indemnification is sought was
caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the Directors. The
Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the
Directors arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the year, no
claims were made against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
Shares.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s
risk management, internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Connected Transaction and Very Substantial
Acquisition — Acquisition of Interest in an
Associate

On 27 September 2018, Shanghai Yuanjia International Trade
Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Yuanjia”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, purchased and Shanghai
Changying Investment Management Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor”)
sold 13.5% issued share capital of Beijing Feiying Changyou
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Feiying”) (the “Acquisition”). At
the time of the Acquisition, Beijing Feiying has become a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level due to
the Company’s shareholding in another subsidiary.

Following completion of the Acquisition, Shanghai Yuanjia
held 33.5% of Beijing Feiying. The total consideration for the
Acquisition was approximately RMB5,400,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,210,000), which was the Vendor’s agreed
subscription amount of Beijing Feiying's registered capital and
the payment obligation for paid-up capital of Beijing Feiying
has been transferred to Shanghai Yuanjia upon the completion
of the Acquisition.

The Acquisition was approved by the Shareholders at a special
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2024.
Further information were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 27 December 2019, 31 May 2024 and
the circular dated 28 March 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, the Group has not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
which should be disclosed pursuant to the requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2024. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the above non-exempt
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations
under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the
date of this report, based on the information available to the
Company and to the knowledge of the Directors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 January 2025, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with two independent third parties (the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 16,000,000 shares
of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of approximately
HK$4.16 million (“the 2025 Subscriptions”). The 2025
Subscribers were Mr. Lei Yongjia (& 5{E) and Ms. Cheung Ha
(3REE). On 22 January 2025, the 2025 Subscriptions have been
completed. The net proceeds (after deduction of all relevant
expenses) from the Subscriptions of approximately HK$4.12
million will be applied as general working capital of the Group.
Further details were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 8 January 2025 and 22 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant events
subsequent to the reporting period.
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AUDITOR

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were audited by SFAI (HK)
CPA Limited (formerly known as Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited).

A resolution for re-appointment of SFAI (HK) CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff
for their outstanding contribution towards the Group's
development. The Board wishes to sincerely thank the
management for their dedication and diligence, and they are
the key factors for the Group to continue its success in future.
Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for the
continued support from its shareholders, customers, and
business partners. The Group will continue to deliver
sustainable business development, so as to meet its business
objectives for 2024 and realise higher values for its
shareholders and other stakeholders.

On behalf of the Board
Lau Siu Ying
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA FORTUNE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Fortune Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 120 to 283, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$31,511,000 and as at 31 December 2024,
its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$15,545,000. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 3(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The directors, having
considered the measures and plans being taken by the Group,
are of the opinion that the Group would be able to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matter described below to be the key
audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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Revenue recognition regarding to sales of goods

AR mHE 2 R hEsd

Key audit matter

BEESSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZERNMNEEEHEE

As disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s revenue was derived from
sales of mobile phones and electronic products.
WG E MBS MERMFTIMEE - EEB KR
REHERHEZLEFERD °

Revenue from sales of mobile phones and electronic
products is recognised when control of the goods is
transferred to the customers, generally when the
goods are delivered to and the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to customers.
BYHEELEFEMEERANERIEHIEEET
B ZEEE(—RABEMmIXN TEF A IER &
BEZEBREBRERFR)BR -

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the Group
as a whole and errors in the recognition of revenue
could have a material impact on the Group’s results.
EERURAERBNASARERETEIHRA
Y EXEEERBCEEMUARKARERRER]
o BEEECEBEENEATE -
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Our audit procedures in relating to revenue recognition

regarding sales of mobile phones and electronic
products included, among others, the following:
EENEEBHEERETEMHE 2 WA ERETT
WEEFBEIEATEIER

(i)

(ii)

To inspect sales and purchase agreements, on a
sample basis, to understand the terms of delivery
and to assess whether management recognised the
related revenue in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

MEREEERHZ - U TRIMNEGER T EERE
ERBIRE SEEEZSFBRALERITE
BRI 2 7 EERA W

To assess, on a sample basis, whether sales
transactions recorded during the financial year had
been recognised properly by inspecting the
transactions selected with relevant underlying
documentations;

BTNV BEEARZHER S RBH R
R AABUEEXHREMEEZLRS
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

RREEEE BEE2BERNMNEEEREER

(i) To assess, on a sample basis, whether sales
transactions before and after the financial year end
had been recognised in the appropriate period by
comparing the transactions selected with relevant
underlying documentations; and

(il) WA EMRFERFEZHEHERXIRTERE
SHRE®ER  FARMEEX G L EBTEE 2 X
2 Kk

(iv) To review if there are any significant adjustments to
revenue during the reporting period, to understand
the reasons for such adjustments and to compare
the details of the adjustments with relevant
underlying documentations.

(iv) BREREHA BB ERELERERAR - 7
FRARFERZIER - WABR X L BFARFE -

OTHER INFORMATION Hitngs

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other EBARAREZAEHHEMEREBE - EMER
information. The other information comprises all of the BIEFMAFHNAEER - HEE T E W
information included in the annual report other than the RN EFFRUILE L AZEEIRERIN ©
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not & F ¥ 4RE P BEMENE R TRE H Ay
cover the other information and we do not express any form  &E#  EENTHEMERBRTHE R
of assurance conclusion thereon. HEEB 4R ©

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial EEERREMBHRER  EENET
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information ~ AMEHEMER @ W BRFS @ EEH
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is &M TEGE VB RE KBS EEZ
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial IR TREOBRFEERDTF - Al
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or  AETFFEE ANEAFRFRM -

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that WEREZDETZLIE EE 2R A
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we  ZEMERFEE AERR - B EEA
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in ~ SR&EEBEEE - it TEEWEREEFIE -
this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. The Audit
Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

116

BRARESEMRGEAMBMRARIE
2HE

EAREFAREREEEGHALEH
o2 BB R E LR R BB D AR 2
BEATHEE  RAEQRMIIESS
BEE LEEERAGEXSHEANY
WERFBEZ NEBER - AERA B R
ERFERR RS R TSR B
S -

RimEUR A BmEAE - ERRESEEAR
Biffh BREBERELEZEN  BEM
ER)ARREREZEE  UEAFKERL
SREZEFTRENE BRI ERAE
EHRE BEEEFBRIRULELLHHIIA
SMNRIEBRRAITT 2 BRTER -

BERAEENARAEER BESEZUK
BERETF BRZESRRLBHESRE
17

BB EF LGRS W B WRARE
28T

EENERRAEREERMEAREMK
WRED TR EKEF SRR M E B
ER#HREM  YEHBEEEER K
BEHRE - AREERBARE-NN\—
F(REVE)F 0GR BTHERER)M
e WEHEMAR BFLTAARS
MIATEEREMATAETAEFLE
EERSE-



FEREEZRERLAE /| —E-NHFEFR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors of the
Company, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Fok Tat Choi.

SFAI (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fok Tat Choi
Practising Certificate Number: P06895
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME ZEZ=F
Notes HK$000 HK$°000
Hiat FET FA&T
(Restated)
€ <3=270))

Continuing Operations BHECEEL
Revenue s 9 43,634 81,542
Cost of sales SHE R (42,078) (81,166)
Gross profit EF 1,556 376
Other income EH A 1,073 2,297
Other gains and losses, net Hmas REHE - F58 10 (3,163) 569
Selling and distribution costs THE MO HK AR (208) (179)
Administrative expenses 1THREHR (15,931) (16,726)
Finance costs BEKA 11 (431) (103)
Share of results of associates DEEE AR 2 EE 21 (927) (362)
Loss before income tax BRATIS TR E 1R 12 (18,031) (14,128)
Income tax expense FSHim X 13 (13) (22)
Loss for the year from REFESEERLN

Continuing Operations FEEE (18,044) (14,150)
Discontinued Operation EARIEREER
Loss for the year from Discontinued B #% |F4E & #£55H)

Operation FEEE (15,662) (949)
Loss for the year FEEIE (33,706) (15,099)
Other comprehensive expenses AREZEBZFEE 2

that may be subsequently Hib 2 EFX

transferred to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising on M EEREZZT

translation from functional B mMELEZER

currency to presentation =%

currency (161) (4)
Share of exchange differences of D {EHE&E A A 2 [ S

associates =5 (61) (65)
Release of translation reserve oS FT B R B AR bR

upon disposal of subsidiaries T 35 (13,313) (1,130)

Total comprehensive expenses AFEEZHEHXELE
for the year (47,241) (16,298)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERRRRAMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
Notes HK$000 HK$°000
Hiat FET FET
(Restated)
(= 5)
Loss for the year attributable to RREIHE AEIEEE
owners of the Company: E518
— Continuing Operations — REREER (16,138) (12,127)
— Discontinued Operation — ERIECEER (15,373) (489)
A1) (12,616)
Loss for the year attributable to NN A FEIE R A A
non-controlling interests: FRERE :
— Continuing Operations — REREER (1,906) (2,023)
— Discontinued Operation — ERIECEER (289) (460)
_____________________ 2195)_  (2483)
Loss for the year FEBR (33,706) (15,099)
Total comprehensive (expenses) AATEEAEGFEEZE
income for the year WA (BAx) 48 %88 :
attributable to owners
of the Company:
— Continuing Operations — REREER (31,104) (15,362)
— Discontinued Operation — ERIEREER (15,373) 507
. o..-0.£.) S (14,855)_
Total comprehensive (expenses) 77 7] 3E% R FEAG
income for the year AXEE2E(FAX)
attributable to WA
non-controlling interests:
— Continuing Operations — REREER (1,860) (1,948)
— Discontinued Operation — ERIEREER 1,096 505
_______________________ (764) ... (.443)
Total comprehensive expenses ZAFEZEAXELE
for the year (47,241) (16,298)
HK cents HK cents
A B
(Restated)
€ <3-270))
Loss per share BRER
From Continuing Operations and REFELE R EKIE
Discontinued Operation R
— Basic and diluted — ZEARKEE (13.91) (6.39)
From Continuing Operations REFESEER
— Basic and diluted — AR KREE 17 (7.12) (6.14)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

maMERAR

At 31 December 2024 HE—Z - F+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-_E —E=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaF FET FET
Non-Current Assets FREBEE
Plant and equipment R K 55 18 26 20
Mining right TR E 19 - -
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 20(a) 452 1,596
Interests in associates KB E A a2 e 21 529 1,015
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZ
through profit or loss MIBEE 22 102 1,300
Club memberships e 23 680 680
1,789 4,611
Current Assets HREBEE
Inventories 7E 24 629 1,964
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 BRI B
JE W AR 3R 25 50,844 19,479
Amounts due from non- A SEPNGIE 22
controlling shareholders of IR 2 /1A
subsidiaries 26 - 340
Financial assets at fair value BAVEFABRZ
through profit or loss MIEEE 22 533 642
Cash and cash equivalents B FReEEY 27 7,182 11,866
59,188 34,291
Current Liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 AR R EAth
JETRR R 28 50,512 41,589
Amounts due to related parties JEE 11 A BSS 75 3k IR 37(@a) 10,657 11,663
Amounts due to non-controlling  FETHTEB A B2
shareholders of subsidiaries B3R 2 /I8 26 27 28
Tax payables JERTHIE - 1,706
Contract liabilities AHaE 29 2,703 =
Short-term borrowings AR 30 10,469 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 20(b) 365 1,063
74,733 56,049
Net Current Liabilities REBAERE (15,545) (21,758)
Total Assets less Current HEERRBAERS
Liabilities (13,756) (17,147)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ReMBRAE

At 31 December 2024 HZE= - U+ _-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NFE —T-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Hia FET FET
Capital and Reserves BEXR#E
Share capital &N 31 2,376 2,116
Reserves G (14,097) 25,925
Equity Attributable to Owners ZAAFHE AEGLER
of the Company (11,721) 28,041
P o B 5
Non-controlling interests SRR 2,135) (45.723)
(13,856) (17,682)
Non-Current Liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 20(b) 100 535
100 535
Total Equity and Liabilities Bk EERE (13,756) (17,147)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 283
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 31 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lau Siu Ying
2L

Chairman
TE

F120E 2B AZEEAMBRREEETERN
“ECAF= A=+ BRUEWRETIE -

WHNATEFRERE

Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle

Bt

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
=g ¥4 IES

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAREAEL
Non-
Share Share Special Translation  Statutory Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve reserve funds  reserve losses ~ Sub-total interests equity
R RGEE BHEE BERE  iEEE  EiRE  ZHER Nt OEBRER  BREE
HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TET TAT T T T AT AT T TET TEL
(note (i) (note (i) (note (i) (note (iv) (note (1)
below) below) below) below) below)
(BFx  (RFfx  (Efx  (BFX  (RFX
W) MEm) FEG)  WEe)  WEe)
At 1 January 2023 A—F-=F-f—H 1,836 463,439 2,481 65,481 30,132 1667 (529,348) 35,688 (45,038) (9,350)
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - (12616)  (12616)  (2483) (15099
Exchange differences arising on A EERE R 25
translation from functional curency ~ E¥MESZEXZ8
to presentation currency - - - (1,044) - - - (1,044) 1,040 (@)
Release of translation reserve upon ~ HEHBAAEER
disposal of a subsiiary (note 35(b) BB (it 35(b)) - - - (1,130) = - - (1,130) = (1,130)
Share of exchange differences of HME—EHERALZ
an associate ELER - - - (65) - - - (65) - (65)
Total comprehensive expenses for ~ AEF2ERX LS
the year - - - (2,239 - - (12,616) (14,855) (1,443) (16,298)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ANBAR
(note 35(b) (F3£35(0)) - - - - - - - - 758 758
2023 Subscription of New Shares ~ ZZ == ZEHRH
(as defined and described in (TERERR
note 31(a)) Bz 31() 280 7,000 - - - - - 7,280 - 7,280
Issuance of new shares expenses BTHREX - (72) - - - - - (72) - (72)
At 31 December 2023 RZTZZE
+-A=1-H 2,116 470,367 2,481 63,242 30,132 1667 (541,964) 28,041 (45,723) (17,682)
At 1 January 2024 R=Z-mF-A-A 2,116 470,367 2,481 63,242 30,132 1,667 (541,964) 28,041 (45723)  (17,682)
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - (1511)  B151) (2195 (33,706)
Exchange differences arising on A EERE R 25
trandlation from functional curency ~ E¥MESZEXZE
to presentation currency - - - (1,592) - - - (1,592) 1431 (161)
Release of translation reseve upon ~ HEMBA B R
disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) BB R (i 14) - - - (13313) - - - (13313) - (13313)
Share of exchange differences of HMEBERTZIER
associates E8 - - - (61) - - - (61) - (61)
Total comprehensive expenses for ~ AFF2ERZ4H
the year - - - (14,966) - - (31.511) (46,477 (764)  (47,281)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERRAF
(note 14) (32 14) - - - - - - - - 80 4820
Capital contribution from FERERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1,532 1,532
2024 Subscription of New Shares ~ ZZZREZEHRNH
(as defined and described in (TERELR
note 31(b) HizE31(0)) 260 6,500 - - - - - 6,760 - 6,760
Issuance of new shares expenses BIHRORR - (45) - - - - - (45) - (45)
At 31 December 2024 RZF-mE
+-A=1+-H 2,376 476,822 2,481 48,276 30,132 1,667 (573475  (11,721) (2135)  (13,856)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeEERgE=R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

Notes:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The share premium represents the amount subscribed for share
capital in excess of nominal value.

The special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for their
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation in 1999.

The translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on
retranslating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

The statutory funds are required by the relevant laws applicable
to the Group’s subsidiaries established in the People’'s Republic
of China (the “PRC") and can be utilised to offset the prior
years' losses of the PRC subsidiaries.

Other reserve represents the imputed interest portion calculated
by the effective interest method on the loan from a related
party which was provided interest-free and also the amount
relating to the set-off arrangement with a related party during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

it -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

B EEHERERA BB EE IR -

B Rl RE R TR P UEB BY B A R 2 B £ T B 2
ARBR—NNANFETREEERK
BRETZBENEERZERE

BhERBEERBINEB CEE BBEFHE
BB REFNERmES 2K, EE o

AEESHERARAKEETEARKAM
B ([ 7 B ) PRz 2 B B 2 B) 2 B BA B P
MEE > LA BREBHEZEHERER A
BEFEZER -

HihREBIERKRE —BAEALZ TR
BERUEBRMEEFE 2 HERN SIS
UEREZE-_E-_—F+=-A=+—81t
FEHE—ZEMA T 2T RS -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr
(Restated)
(&)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REES
Loss before income tax from A B S EBRBRTEHAT
Continuing Operations Eia (18,031) (14,128)
Loss before income tax from BRI E TR S AT
Discontinued Operation &8 (15,662) (949)
(33,693) (15,077)
Adjustments for: P
Interest income FEWA (63) @81
Interest expenses BRI 431 103
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value BATEFABR U KEE
through profit or loss ZATEEE 1,364 593
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 880 1,016
Depreciation of plant and equipment BE REEITE 12 11
Share of results of associates DIREE N T 2 EE 927 362
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade ~ BLIEUE 5 B 7 & H 4 8 U BR
and other receivables, net IR RMEETE - FRE 397 19
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) TR U B B 8 R SR TR A AR ER
recognised in respect of amounts due from FIBZ R EEE (BE)
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 340 (31)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of AN NI W g
interests in associates ZBEEE 134 1,124
Impairment loss recognised in respect of REERRREEE
inventories 999 -
Loss on termination of lease contracts RIFEEEHZER 83 78
Loss on disposal of financial assets at HEEAFEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss MBEEER - 65
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HEmME Rz W - (5)
Loss (gain) on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FNBARZ
B () 15,060 (1,919)
OPERATING CASH FLOWS BEFORE EEESRBAIZ
MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL BEHEHRE (13,129) (13,742)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERD (Em) 336 (1,040)
Increase in trade and other receivables FEWE 5 B8R 30 M E b U BR 3R
Bl (32,311) (18,251)
Increase in amount due from non-controlling FEUPRT B 1 RIFEIERR AR 3 2 3R I8
shareholders of subsidiaries #n - (125)
Increase in trade and other payables FER B 5 BR A R E M R (T BRSX
Zm 22,710 22,153
Increase in contract liabilities ERAEEMN 2,754 =
Decrease in amount due to non-controlling FERT BT A RIFE R IR AR BR 2 FRIE
shareholders of subsidiaries A - (185)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS EEXRARS (19,640) (11,190)
Income tax paid BRAER (37) (30)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EEfTARESFHE (19,677) (11,220)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NF —TC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FéET FET
(Restated)
(=5)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received EYAE 63 82
Purchase of plant and equipment BERE L&E (18) )
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  HEME & &R E 2 FiEHIE - 5
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair &% AF(&? S AiBa T B
value through profit or loss BEZFTS50E - 2
Acquisition of an unlisted equity investment W BE—TE 5 A B (102) -
Investment in an associate RE—KWE A (636) -
Net cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiary ~ H&E—FEMBRA R ZRE R
YFEE (26) (43)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM REEE (FTA) EESFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (719) 44
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment of lease liabilities EREMERE (994) (1,216)
Net proceeds from subscription of ZHEFIRG 2 S RETE
new shares 6,715 7,208
Proceeds from other borrowings HAh &R TS 5008 10,667 -
Capital contribution from non-controlling R 2T E
shareholders 1,532 -
Interest paid =50 %'J/%\ (356) =
Advance from related parties )iyl 83 11,350
Repayment to related parties 1%&%[@ 5 5R3E (1,089) =
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING B FBFIEREFE
ACTIVITIES 16,558 17,342
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE INCASHAND  H&RBREZEY (BD)
CASH EQUIVALENTS b0 F 5R (3,838) 6,166
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERzRERREEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 11,866 6,225
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXGH s F8 (846) (525)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERZAESRAEZEY
END OF YEAR 7,182 11,866
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERASEENERDN - B
CASH EQUIVALENTS, represented by
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTAES 7,182 11,866
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Bermuda under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). The shares of the
Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its parent and
ultimate holding company is Future 2000 Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"). Mr. Lau Siu Ying (“Mr. Lau"), the Chief Executive
Officer and executive director of the Company is the
controlling shareholder of the Company. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are distribution and
trading of mobile phones and electronic products and
mining and processing of celestite, zinc and lead
minerals. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company disposed of its entire equity interest in China
Yellow Stone Investment Company Limited and its
subsidiary (the “China Yellow Stone Group”) which is
mainly engaged in the exploration, exploitation, refining
and asset investment of mineral resources business and
thus the Company ceased its Mining Business (the
“Discontinued Operation”). Subsequently, the Company
remains its Mobile Phones and Electronic Products
Business (the Continuing Operations”) and details of
which are set out in notes 8 and 14.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") for the
convenience of the shareholders, as the Company is
listed in Hong Kong.

The English names of all the companies established in the
PRC presented in these consolidated financial statements
represent the best efforts made by the directors of the
Company for the translation of the Chinese names of
these companies to English names as they do not have
official English names.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale
HKFRS 16 and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and
related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The directors consider that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

EREEMBHRELEA(ER
B ¥R EER]) 285

() RAFERFERZHITR

RIETERBYBREER
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JlmEA G NS ([BEE
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HiR R il 3K - AR BUAR & BT 7%
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BAFBRE ERERRST
HRIFE 1655 WHERAE

(1BETA)

BEREHER  ABEIEARD
E15% EE &S
(1BETA) BREESH

BEER]
(ZEZZF)

BAGHEN  HEEZENIER
F15 B}EE
CHES

BAGHEN HEERERH
FIRRES
IR 2R
EWE
CHEN

EEAR NAFEERAH R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued
but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint

Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements
Accounting Standards to HKFRS Accounting

Standards — Volume
113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. EHEBUBRELEAN(ES
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B SR #ER ]) 2 85T (@)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

(b) EEMEMKRERZHITR

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued

but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (“HKFRS 18"), which sets out
requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements (“HKAS 1").
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS
1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the
notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to
HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7
Statement of Cash Flows (“HKFRS 7). Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 and HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made.

RIETEBYBREER (&)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued

but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (Continued)

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the
process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS
18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated

132

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z= —Z - ME+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability market at
the measurement date.

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that
the entity liability can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other
than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group incurred a loss attributable to the owner of
the Company of approximately HK$31,511,000
(2023: HK$12,616,000) and a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$19,677,000 (2023:
HK$11,220,000). In addition, as at 31 December
2024, its current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$15,545,000 (2023:
HK$21,758,000).

The conditions described above indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue
as a going concern and hence, its ability to realise
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

3.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment (Continued)

136

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group.
The directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group’s cash flow projections prepared by the
management of the Company. The cash flow
projections cover a period of at least the next
twelve months from 31 December 2024. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
can meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due within the next twelve months from 31
December 2024, after taking into consideration of
the measures and plans made by the Group as
detailed below:

(i)  On 8 January 2025, the Company entered into
subscription agreements with certain
subscribers and pursuant to which the
subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe, and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, a total 16,000,000
shares of HK$0.26 each under the general
mandate for a gross proceeds of approximately
HK$4.16 million. The directors of the Company
will consider to improve the financial position
of the Group and to enlarge the capital base of
the Company by further conducting fund
raising exercises such as share placement, right
issues or others as and when necessary;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company obtained a letter of undertaking
(the “Letter of Undertaking”) dated 31 March
2025 from Mr. Lau, the Chief Executive
Officer, executive director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company that he agrees
to provide adequate funds to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities and to settle
financial obligations to third parties as and
when they fall due so that the Group can
continue as a going concern and carry on its
business without a significant curtailment of
operations for a period of at least the next
twelve months from 31 December 2024;

The Group will also continue to seek for other
alternative financing and bank borrowings to
finance the settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures; and

The directors of the Company will continue to
implement measures aiming at improving the
working capital and cash flows of the Group
including closely monitoring general
administrative expenses and operating costs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment (Continued)

138

In light of the above measures and plans
implemented to date, the directors of the Company
are of the view that the Group has sufficient cash
resources to satisfy its working capital and other
financial obligations for a period of at least the next
twelve months from 31 December 2024 after
having taken into account of the Group's projected
cash flows, current financial resources and capital
expenditure requirements with respect to the
development of its business. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company are of the view that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties
exist as to whether the management of the
Company will be able to achieve its measures and
plans as described above. Whether the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows in the
near future and obtain the continuous financial
support from its controlling shareholder.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to restate the values of assets to their
estimated recoverable amounts, to provide further
liabilities that might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects
of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non- controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwiill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwiill (Continued)
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group'’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the
customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts with
customers is provided in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 Leases at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e  the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes, in
which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non- monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group'’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit
or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EXEABERER &

INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are recognised as other revenue,
rather than reducing the related expenses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
other PRC state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes. Plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Plant and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, including costs of testing whether the
related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Sale proceeds of items
that are produced while bringing an item of property,
plant and equipment to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced
when testing whether the asset is functioning properly),
and the related costs of producing those items are
recognised in the profit or loss. The cost of those items
are measured in accordance with the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress represents plant and equipment
under construction or pending installation and is stated
at cost less any impairment losses. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until
such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The items of plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following
useful loves after taking into account the residual value:

Leasehold improvements ~ 5%-20% or over the term
of the relevant leases,
whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20%-33%

equipment

Motor vehicles 20%-25%

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Club memberships
Club memberships with indefinite life are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Mining right is amortised using the units of
production method based on the proven and probable
mineral reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z= —Z - ME+ - A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash- generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash- generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash- generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provision for close down and restoration costs
Close down and restoration costs are provided in the
accounting period when the obligation arising from the
related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs during
mine development or during the production phase,
based on the net present value of estimated future costs.
The cost is capitalised where it gives rise to future
benefits, whether the rehabilitation activity is expected to
occur over the life of the operation or at the time of close
down. The capitalised cost is amortised over the life of
the operation and the increase in the net present value
of the provision is included in borrowing costs. Where
there is a change in the expected decommissioning and
restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded against the
carrying value of the provision and related assets, and
the effect is then recognised in the profit or loss on a
prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation.
Provision for close down and restoration costs do not
include any additional obligations which are expected to
arise from future disturbance. The cost estimates are
reviewed and revised at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or as measured at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and cash and
cash equivalents which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

(i)

170

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial

Instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low
risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)
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Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 180 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EXEFHBEREN &

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) MBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets subject to ARBEBHBHREEREIRZH

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial TEREETHREFEZHBEEERE

Instruments (Continued) (#8)

(iv) Write-off policy (iv) MEBE
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is MEERBRIRZHFRBRARE
information indicating that the counterparty is in A E - BIWEERA LK
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic B - BlnE 2 5% FERSEA
prospect of recovery, for example, when the WERF - HEWE ZERERM
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or T ESHAR—F(UAREE
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the RE)E REBEMETKE
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are E o FTMEEN B IS EE NS RIE
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. REBEHU BT EITREIBIT
Financial assets written off may still be subject to EE)  WEEEBR T ERERE
enforcement activities under the Group'’s recovery BR o MBI EREMY -
procedures, taking into account legal advice where EEBKEIHNIESER

appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v FREEERAZGTERBSE
The measurement of ECL is a function of the BHEEBB A ERENR
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the EEBNEBX(AIELEKE
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the BOEE) KE AR KE -
exposure at default. The assessment of the SR EAMEREBABEXRURE
probability of default and loss given default is based SERKRATELER RER - 18
on historical data and forward-looking information. HEEEBM R ER R LR
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and EINENERE  Z2BEANEEE
probability-weighted amount that is determined FEAONERIESEEMETE °
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —mmE  BHEEEEARE
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in BHENAEB 2 MEEHRE
accordance with the contract and the cash flows mEEALEREAYE 2R EMR
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at EfCER  RUTHEIARET
the effective interest rate determined at initial Z BRI -
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial

Instruments (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company'’s parent.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

176

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"). The CODM,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of
the Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

As explained in note 3(b), the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
and have not included any adjustments that would be
required should the Group fail to continue as a going
concern since the directors of the Company are satisfied
that the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming year after taking into the considerations as
detailed in note 3(b). The directors of the Company also
believe that the Group will have sufficient cash resources
to satisfy its future working capital and other financing
requirements for a period of at least the next twelve
months from 31 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z= —Z - ME+ - A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group performed impairment assessments on its
interests in associates. Determining whether impairment
loss should be recognised requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the relevant associates which is
the higher of value-in-use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires the
management of the Group to estimate the present value
of the estimated cash flows expected to arise from
dividends to be received from the associates and the
proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the investment
taking into account the discount rate, revenue growth
rate etc.

In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation, a
material reversal or further recognition of impairment
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal or further recognition
takes place.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group's interest in associates are set out in note 21.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial assets
measured at FVTPL

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value which are determined with reference on the
available market information, such as quoted market
price and other comparable market data. Where there is
no such information, the management of the Group uses
their judgements and estimates in the fair value
calculation, with reference to the other available
information using valuation techniques that are required
in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could result in material adjustments to the fair
value of these instruments.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group's financial assets measured at FVTPL are disclosed
in note 22.

Impairment of trade receivables

The provision rate of trade receivables is made based on
assessment of their recoverability and ageing analysis of
trade receivables as well as other quantitative and
qualitative information and on management'’s judgement
and assessment of the forward-looking information. At
the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation between historical
observed default rates, forecast of economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast of
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of debtors’ actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in note 7(b).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in note 25.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce cost of capital.

The directors of the Company consider that the capital
structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes
lease liabilities, amounts due to related parties and
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries as disclosed in notes 20(b), 37(a) and 26,
respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

5.

RS HERAFTIEER
EZEZ2FERE(®)

EF T RERZNEERER (&)

B ZEW SRR E (&)
AHEREBRMAFSRR LR - BAR
ERENMAMEEEER ZEOREETD
—IRBAMGEF - AHEEERESES
REBEREBANARMN BT E -
AEBHNBEEEBBRERLEKEE
BRATER - RBEAREHARK
KNBEBRENER BEAKREES
RUFRNFEREEERZEHNEKE
RHTEE7(b) °

RZE-_WNF+=-_A=+—H' ' &K
B = 5 fE WA A BR T B 58 P M =T
25 °

BEXERER

AEBzEAERBBERNRERAEE
REREZE  EtMARREHRDR
[l By R B EL b A a5 AR B 2 Flad - I
MR RIEZ BB IAREE AR

RAREERE  AEBECEAREE
BIRER (BIEME20(0) « 37(a) & 26
SDRERE s HEASE  EABEAL
FRIE N R FEIE AR AR R AE) - kR
BeRBESEBYRAREHEE AR
g (RREEBITRAREE) -

181



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. BARKREIE (&)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure RAREETEHRFTERERE o RaT
periodically. As part of their review, the directors consider B EFEEEEANKANE@ARE -

the cost of capital and the risks associates thereto.

Based on recommendations of the directors of the BERARNBES2HEHEEZ  A5E
Company, the Group will maintain its overall capital BE BRI E BT R BT
structure through the payment of dividends, new share MESNERRAERESLBRER
issues as well as issue of new debt or the redemption of INZEIE o

existing debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from REB 7 BERRELEFEETE o

prior years.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

7. EMTHA

(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) @I EER
2024 2023
—EoMFE S —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets BKEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEENATEZ
MEEE 50,222 30,884
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFTABZRZZ
MEEE 635 1,942
Financial liabilities Bgas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1Rk SR N1 & 2
MBaRE 70,944 53,851
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. £EMTE@®)
(a) Categories of financial instruments () ERIEER (&)

(Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial TETAEZ A FEE

instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial WHEERMBAGBEZ AT EE

liabilities are determined as follows: TR :

— the fair value of financial assets with standard — EHEEERRRIEHETRE
terms and conditions and traded on active BREMBEBECHKE
liquid markets are determined with reference EZRAVTEDZ2ETNS®
to quoted market price; and BmMETE : &

— the fair values of other financial assets and — HMWUBEEMTEEE
financial liabilities are determined in ZAFEDBEARERE
accordance with generally accepted pricing BRIZENIRIE & RE DT
models based on discounted cash flow MEE °
analysis.

HKFRS 13 requires disclosures for financial BT BERELEANFI13HRTE

instruments that are measured at fair value by level BUAT RV EFERBR BT

of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: BREATEAEZEMIA

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F14: HRABESABERE
markets for identical assets or liabilities; BHmiEmE(KEL

FHEE)

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included 284 BIREBEANRE
within Level 1 that are observable for the AN B EE S B E ]
asset or liability, either directly or By  A\BE(EE
indirectly; and gEE) &

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not F3H: WIHERABEEMS
based on observable market data. BECEENEER

AEUE ©
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. EWMIA@®)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) EWMTEER (&)

(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and BREMEED N FEFTEZAX
financial liabilities that are measured at fair EEBEESERMBEEREZ AF
value on a recurring basis =)
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREHEBEATEIRZE/T
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair BIRAFEERE D 201

value hierarchy:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14R E2WM E3IR @sr
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

THET THET THET TET

Financial instruments BAVEIIRZ
carried at fair value ERMIA

At 31 December 2024 R-BZ-WF

+=ZA=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEFABREZ

MKEE
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3F_E AR #EIRE - - 102 102
— Unlisted fund investment —FLEMESKE - = - _
— Listed equity investments — EmRERE 533 - - 533

533 - 102 635

At 31 December 2023 R-BEZ=F

+=A=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFETFABRZ

MBEE
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — FE_ETHIRIERE - - - -
— Unlisted fund investment — I ETMESKE = = 1,300 1,300
— Listed equity investments — EmRERE 642 - - 642

642 - 1,300 1,942

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level FRF1REE2HR A&
2 or into or out of Level 3 during the year. E o PEEAREHEIR -

184



HFEREEZERERAA | —E-NFEFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. EWMIA@®)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) EWMTEER (&)

(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and BEREMEEL N FEGTEZAK
financial liabilities that are measured at fair EEBEESERMBEEREZ AF
value on a recurring basis (Continued) 15 (4&)
The following table provides information of the TREH T E@EER - @
valuation technique, key inputs and the correlation ) A BUE DA KBS T ml B sk A
of key unobservable input to the fair value FEBRENAABEFENERT
measurement of financial instruments carried at fair BERAFEEGFENEBEENE
value: B ¢

Fairvalue  Valuation technique and

Effect on fair value for

Item 2024 2023 hierarchy  key inputs increase of inputs
RERR BABBE MY
EH ZEoME —ZC-F AVEER BRBANE DNYENZE
HK$'000  HK$'000
Tk FET
Listed equity 533 642 Level 1 Quoted bid-prices in an active market ~ N/A
investments
FRERE 533 642 E1R RETSHRE TE
Unlisted equity 102 - level3 Asset-based approach adjusted by The lower the
investments marketability discount for the year marketability discount,
2024: 15.6% (2023: N/A) the higher the fair value
I EMRIERE 102 - B3R “ToMERmEABENRELS THRBERERE D
BR7EER 156%(ZF-=F: TEAS
TER)
Unlisted fund - 1,300  Level 3 Discount cash flow method was use to  The higher of the discount
investment capture the present value if the rate, the lower of the fair

expected future economic benefits to
be derived from the ownership of this
investee. The discount rate applied is
197.39% (2023: 40.45%)
RARRE SR ARERKIRE R
RBREMS R AL Bz
WIR(E - FTIEM . 3£ /5197.39%
(ZEZ=%:40.45%)

FLEMEERE - 1300 %34

value
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments
(Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements
The movements of financial instruments, including
unlisted equity investments and unlisted fund

7. EWMIA@®)

() EMIAER (&)
FBIRAFENEZHIER

NFEEBRZFIFANEHT
H(BHEFLMERERERIEL

investment under Level 3 of fair value hierarchy are MESKE) BB :
as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
At 1 January R—H—H 1,300 2,109
Fair value change N EES (1,277) (693)
Addition 0 102 =
Disposal ak=5 = (67)
Exchange adjustments ME 34, 3R B (23) (49)
At 31 December w+—-—A=+—H 102 1,300
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial assets included
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and cash and cash
equivalents. The Group’s major financial liabilities
included trade and other payables, lease liabilities,
amounts due to related parties and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and short-term
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)  Foreign currency risk management
Certain subsidiaries of the Group are exposed
to foreign currency risk primarily arising from
bank deposits, other receivables and trade
and other payables that are denominated in
foreign currency. The Group has not used any
financial instruments to hedge against
currency risk. However, the management
monitors foreign currency risk exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

7. EWMIA@®)

(b)

B EREERERBE

AEEERMBEERTRA
FEFABSEZHBEEE - K
B SRR B b EUARR -
B B8 2~ B IR AR AR 2 SRIR A S
ReMReEEY - AKEZE
EMBREBRRENEZRI R
HEMERR  HEAE - BN
BB A BB A R FEEARAR R
ZHRBNEHRER - ZFERT
BAZHBREHBENERE - B
AzEeRIAZAREETS
R (SN R M A R R ) ~ 15
SRR N RBE SRR - TXE
SRR F R 2 R - BIEE
SEENEEZTRAR - AR
KB B IR EUE & 1R 16 ©

55 3 B

() sMEEREEE
AEEETH B QR Y
SNEEREER - 2R B LASH
BAHEMRITER - Bt
J& W R XA K2 FE A B 5 B
AN EMBEMERRK - A&
By EEREIMNSRTA
HihEERR - R &
B EERINERER - A
REFERZEHHEX
SNES LR o
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

188

(i)

Foreign currency risk management
(Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group's significant monetary
assets amounted to approximately
HK$32,690,000 (2023: approximately
HK$23,742,000) and monetary liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$40,471,000
(2023: approximately HK$21,935,000) are
denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group
entities.

The Group is mainly exposed to the
fluctuation of HK$. At 31 December 2024, if
4% appreciation in functional currency of
relevant subsidiaries in RMB against HK$ with
all other variables held constant, loss for the
year and equity would have been
HK$299,000 higher/lower (2023: loss for the
year and equity would be HK$70,000 lower/
higher), respectively 4% (2023: 4%)
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of reporting period
for a 4% (2023: 4%) change in the exchange
rates.

In the management’s opinion, the above
sensitivity analysis is not necessarily
representative of the inherent foreign
currency risk as the exposure at year end does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

7.

£RTHm®)
(b) MAKEMEERBEREE

Mm% 2 Bz (#E)
(i) SMERBEE (E)
R ESH R K&
E‘b’ﬁ%éﬁmﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
#4) /32,690,000 T
(Z T = = §: 8

23,742,000 7T) * MEK
B &4 A&40,471,0007% 7T
(Z T = = §: 8
21,935,000 7T)  HHLAAE
BEBERNINEEEN

S SR8 -
AREBTFEERH BT ZE
T/&@Jﬂlﬁmo \—7—|7—q

FT-_A=1t—8 &M
EHMEBERFIENE
N =l Y = NG
N EBAAREL BT

FHEA% - I IR R
346 5 7 MR D

299,000 L (=T ==F :
FEBEBRER /D B
4/ 1% 7170,000% 7T ) °
4% (ZZTZ=F 1 4%) B
B2 HMNEE R 0] g
REEEE 2T o BUX
EoMERBEMARBEZ
SNEETEERIER - TR
WEMKRUERLI% (ZF
ZE=FA%) 2 EEAE
"mHE -

BEERS BN R
% R 3 R A 4
EHEY Y AR - B
B 5 IR — e R
BB SNEE -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed rate lease liabilities
(note 20(b)). The Group is exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to floating-
rate bank balances (note 27). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

The management considered that the Group's
exposure to the interest rate risk on financial
assets is not significant due to short-term
maturities. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is presented.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, and
bank balances. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all debtors
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the debtor’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the debtors as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtors operate.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of the debtors. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from debtors.

7. EWMIA@®)
(b) BEEBEREEFERBEEKE)

i 45 3 i (A8

(i) FIFEEpz
AEBAXBEHEESEE
BE (M5 20(b) 2 A F{E
MR - REBERT R
RITAEER (B RE27) AR
EREMERR AKH
3R B 30 B R R AR R -
R BEEBGEEF X
R YteEEFERE
BEPE RN EE R o

BEERA ARZIHA
SRR BAASEEHE
MBEENEXRARY A&
Ko Bt - I 2 51 U
BT -

=E A
AEEZEERBRTIZHREHE
WOE 5 8RRk S B Al R MR K~ 8
Wit B 8 % ] FE PR R AU BR 2 3R I
RITHEH - EEERAEER
R URHBEERAREZEFEE
[\ o

AL B 55 R 3R K L A R U R K
mE ' MAEEREE—EEHE
ZEBAABEZEREEF
ft - AR ST REBAM
BIMRIR 2 AR BRI R B
N AREBEEBAZAEBER
FABTE N & 58 P 3 2 1B 3R
5 o REBEERAZ B
METHBEENE - AREB
FAERERSAMEUERGS
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. £MTIA @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HERMREEAERBEKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =B (E)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade AEEZERREHEHREEE
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, BB 2R KE SRR ZE
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the BEE  HFE AR EREErT
Group's historical credit loss experience does not AE - HRAEEBEEEER
indicate significant different loss patterns for WA TRZF D EBRERT
different customer segments, the loss allowance FIEEERE - AR @EikE 5
based on past due status is not further distinguished BRETERAEETRZFE
between the Group's different customer bases. MeEE—FPED °
The following table provides information about the TREHAUREEAXZEE
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade R MERE SRR EREE
receivables: EEER
Gross
carrying Loss
ECLs rate amount  allowance
HHEE

190

EE=E #RREE B R
HK$000 HK$000

FET FET
At 31 December 2024 RS- E
+=A=+-8
Less than 12 months past due #1218 A 0.81% 39,630 (320)
Over 12 months past due B HRER R 12 1@ A 100.00% 3,022 (3,022)
42,652 (3.342)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=
+=A=+-AH
Less than 12 months past due #HA 7 12 1E A 0.00% 17,274 =
Over 12 months past due w0 HAER A 12 (& A 100.00% 3,166 (3,166)
20,440 (3,166)
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. EWMIA@®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HERMREEAERBEKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =EEkE (&)
ECLs rates are based on actual loss experience. FBEEEBE R TIIRERERL
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences BT 8 o R EF R LA
between economic conditions during the year over W £ 38 1 BUE 2 F (< 1B AR
which the historical data has been collected, current S~ B RTAR O AN S B R UK
conditions and the Group’s view of economic TEEEH EFE AR EEAR N 2 BIEZ
conditions over the expected lives of the EZRo
receivables.
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect FANEBEWE SRR 2 EER
of trade receivables during the year are as follows: BEEREEFIT -
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Balance at 1 January N—A—Hz&E% 3,166 3,272
Impairment loss recognised EHERRBEEIE 322 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHREBAF (29) (19)
Exchange adjustments ME 3 B (117) (87)
Balance at 31 December R+=—A=+—8H
2 REER 3,342 3,166
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

192

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 79%
and 100% of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively (2023: 100% was
due from the Group’s largest customer). The Group
has closely monitored the recoverability of the
receivables from these counterparties and taken
effective measures to ensure timely collection of
outstanding balances. The Group has not obtained
collateral from customers.

In addition, the Group had concentration of credit
risk on its liquid funds as 90% (2023: 94%) of bank
balances were placed with four (2023: four) banks.
However, the credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because management believes the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit quality.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of
geographic risk on revenue which is generated
mostly from customers located in the PRC. The
Group has closely monitored the business
performance of these customers in the PRC.

7.

SMTIA @)
(b) BEEBEREEFERBEEKE)

=ERE (&)

MREKE 5 RFHERET79%
% 100% D RIREAREBHEAR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, and other receivables
are measured at amortised cost. They are subject to
the ECLs model and the loss allowances limited to
12 months ECLs. After applying the ECLs model,
impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and
other receivables, net of HK$397,000 has been
debited and impairment loss recognised in respect
of amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, net of HK$340,000 has been
debited to the profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2024. (2023: impairment loss
recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables, net of HK$19,000 has been debited
and reversal of impairment loss in respect of
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, net of HK$31,000 has been credited to
the profit or loss).

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in listed equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments quoted
in the PRC stock exchange. Management monitors
the price risks and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arises.

The management considered that the Group’s
exposure to the equity price risk on financial assets
at FVTPL is not significant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

7. EWMIA@®)

(b)

MR EE B R RBUER(#)
=E @R (&)
FE W B 8 2 B FFE AR AR 3R 2 3K

&Emﬂ’éuﬁﬂﬁmi@&%&%ﬁxmf
2 - ZEBBEAXBHEEERE
BRRBRRIR2EAESREES
Bz EEREFTHR - FERATEE
EEEEEXE H#E-_T /N
¢+ AZ+—HLFE - ﬁda

W B 55 AR 3 B EL A e Ui BR SR e R
Zi}ﬁfﬁ}&ﬁa(?ﬂ[&397,ooo,ﬁm
%) REEWKKEB AR IEER
AR 2 FIERER 2 R A E5 18 (30
% 340,000 L&) 2 B B =
Bro (ZZEZ=F : iEKES
AR 3 N EL At U AR SR R 2 R (B
&5 18 (305 19,0008 7t 18 ) E 1
B - BEAEURT B A R FIEE AR AR R
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REEKRER
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

194

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management closely monitors the borrowings as
well as the cash flows from operating activities on
timely basis. Having considered the factors and
circumstances set out in note 3(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, the directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient liquidity
to meet its cash flows requirements for the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its derivative and non-
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities and the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. EWMIA@®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HERMREEAERBEKE)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) =EEkE (&)
Liquidity table mEBE 2 F
Carrying
Weighted Morethan  More than amounts
average Ondemand  1yearbut  2years but Total asat
effective  or less than less than less than  undiscounted 3
interest rate 1 year 2 years Syears  cash flows Dec:_mber
Rt=A

ngwy  BERE SME SMF ARERE =t-H
ERNE  OME BOME  BORSE RBAE  REE
% HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
% THET TET TET TET TET

At 31 December 2024 ﬁéiiiﬁ‘l'iﬁ
S=
Non-derivative financial FEHKER
liabilities
Trade and other payables EREARZR N/A 49,326 - - 49,326 49,326
AR TER
Amounts due to related parties  FE/S B3 2 3108 N/A 10,657 - - 10,657 10,657
— non-interest bearing — T3t TER
Amounts due to non-controlling  FERHE A A3HER N/A i - - 7 i
shareholders of subsidaries BE 2 HE TER
— non-nterest bearing — Gt
Short-term borrowings RHER 13.84 10,469 - - 10,469 10,469
Lease liabilties HERR 458-133 n 102 - 479 465
70,856 0 - 0% 09
At 31 December 2023 migiiﬁ'iiﬁ
=t-7
Non-derivative financial FEnEaR
liabilities
Trade and other payables EREARRR NIA 40,562 - - 40,562 40,562
AR TER
Amounts due to a related party  JE—fiL %7 2 308 NIA 11,663 - - 11,663 11,663
— non-nterest bearing —F3E NER
Amounts due tonon-controlling ~ FEFHB A AI3ER R NIA 28 - - 28 28
shareholders EvE ] R
of subsidiaries —RitE
— non-interest bearing
Lease liabiltes HEAE 5.07-10.09 1,139 543 - 1,682 1,508
53392 53 SR 53
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@) Reportable segments and reconciliation of

196

reportable segment revenue, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-makers (the “CODM"), being
the executive directors of the Company throughout
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 that are used to make strategic
decisions and also for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, the Group has two reportable
segments: (i) Mobile Phones and Electronic Products
Business; and (ii) Mining Business.

The following describes the operations in each of
the Group’s reportable segments:

o Mobile Phones and Electronic Products
Business: Sales and marketing of mobile
phones and electronic products and
components.

o Mining Business: Exploration, exploitation,
refining and asset investment of mineral
resources.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company disposed of its 100% equity interest in
China Yellow Group which is mainly engaged in
the exploration, exploitation, refining and asset
investment of mineral resources business (the
“Disposal”). Subsequent to the Disposal, the
directors of the Company decided to cease its
Mining Business (i.e. the “Discontinued Operation”)
and the Group continues to be engaged in the
Mobile Phones and Electronic Products Business (i.e.
the “Continuing Operations”).

8.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DEEM &)

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of () TEHFsHRITEH D FHUW
reportable segment revenue, profit or weoBn EEREBEZYH
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BR (&)

Information regarding the Group's reportable HE-_Z-_WW&E+-_A=+—H
segments from Continuing Operations and F—E-_=F+-_A=+—HIt
Discontinued Operation as provided to the Group’s ZEEMAEBNARRRINITE
executive directors of the Company for the ESIRHERBRSE LD I RIRFT
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of HRENEEAEBFEKE:
segment performance for the years ended 31 BRELIEREXRBNA E®RD
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 is set out EBERIOT o
below.
Mobile
phones
and
electronic
products Mining
business business*  Unallocated Total
BBHER
RETER
% REER L @t

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TAT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HBZ-ZE_-[E

TZRA=+-HLEE
Reportable segment revenue PER:Viral 6 43,634 - - 43,634
Reportable segment results 2R HEE (4,429) (602) - (5,030)
Loss on the Disposal HEZEZER (15,060)
Unallocated and corporate income RABRREERA 1,361
Unallocated and corporate expenses RARREERR (14,964)
Loss before tax BRHAIER (33,693)
Income tax expense FERRAX (13)
Loss for the year ERER (33,706)
Reportable segment assets 2RI BEE 60977 NATER  NATER 60,977
Unallocated and corporate assets RORRGEEE N/A FER
Total assets BEEs 60,977
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. NEPENKWES &)

() AEH 7R A2 H D HP U
w B BERAEEZY

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of
reportable segment revenue, profit or

loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BR (&)
Mobile
phones
and
electronic
products Mining
business business*  Unallocated Total
BBEF
RETER
¥ FEER AAE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TAL TAT TET TAT
Reportable segment liabilities S V-1 (74833) NAZTER NAFER (74,833)
Unallocated and corporate liabiliies AOEREEEE N/A R
Total liabilities BEEE (74,833)
Other segment information: At &R
Deprediation of plant and equipment HERXERE - - 12 12
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RREEENRE 218 - 602 880
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ~ FLIEME BEH R EA
trade and other receivables, net YRR 2R ER
B e 357 - 40 397

Impairment loss in respect of amounts due  FEM B2 A3ERRRIRE

from non-controlling shareholders of FEAERE 58

subsidiaries, net 340 - - 340
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ~ FERA B LN A 2

interest in an associate WA RERE 134 - - 134
Share of results of associates PMEBE DR EE 927 = = 927
Loss on termination of lease contract RIERERNER 10 - 73 83
Additions to non-current assets ERYEERE 270 = 18 288

* RESwmA— T _NE—F—
HE-_Z-_MF+-_A=+=
HHIMASEREELE A RN
MHEER -

* The amounts represent the financial information of
the Group’s Mining Business companies during the
period from 1 January 2024 to 23 December 2024.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DEIERRUWNES (&

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of (a) ATEHFTHKRAT2H D IBU
reportable segment revenue, profit or weoBn EEREBEZYH
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BR (&)

Notes: HfaE -

(@  The unallocated and corporate income mainly (@) AOBOELEWATXEBEME
included miscellaneous income and other corporate WA R E D FEWA o
income.

(b)  The unallocated and corporate expenses mainly (b) FAOBELCERIETEZBEZRA
included fair value loss on financial assets at fair FEAABSZHBEEEZ A
value through profit or loss, salaries and allowances FEEE - FHe OB REAM
and other corporate expenses. hERE -

(0 The unallocated corporate assets mainly included (0 AOECEBEEFZHERE
plant and equipment and deposits for the REEREBBEIZRS

headquarter in Hong Kong.

(d)  The unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included (d) FOECEEEZTZAESRS
lease liabilities for the headquarter in Hong Kong, wE o HEAE - EBitHs
accrued salaries, professional fee and audit fee. BEEEHRANKEE -

(&) Additions to non-current assets consists of (&) ANEBEIRBDEEREAERE
additions to plant and equipment and right-of-use KRB A R FRAtE & E -
assets.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. AHENRYE &)

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of (a) ATEHFTHKRAT2H D IBU
reportable segment revenue, profit or weoBn EEREBEZYH
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BR (&)

Mobile

phones

and

electronic

products Mining

business business Unallocated Total

HBES

RETER
5% FRES KAR Eh

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR TET

For the year ended BE-B-=H
31 December 2023 TZA=+t-HLEE

Reportable segment revenue 2RI BUE 81,542 - - 81,542
Reportable segment results 2RI DEE (1,633) (949) - (2,582)
Unallocated and corporate income RABRREERA 4,707
Unallocated and corporate expenses RARREGERX (17,202)
Loss before tax BEAIEE (15,077)
Income tax expense MR (22)
Loss for the year FEBR (15,099)
Reportable segment assets TEHFHEE 26,671 475 = 27,146
Unallocated and corporate assets AAEREFREE 11,756
Total assets BEAH 38,902
Reportable segment liabilities TEHIHEE (20,560) (14,773) = (35,333)
Unallocated and corporate liabilties RORREGXBE (21,251)
Total liabilities AEGE (56,584)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. AHENRYE &)

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of (a) ATEHFTHKRAT2H D IBU
reportable segment revenue, profit or weoBn EEREBEZYH
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BR (&)

Mobile

phones

and

electronic

products Mining

business business Unallocated Total

BBES

LETER
#% FRER RAR e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

Other segment information: HtAHER
Depreciation of plant and equipment ~ HERRENE - 2 9 11
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 326 - 690 1,016
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ~ FHEME HEH KL

trade and other receivables, net RS R 2 RE

BR 38 13 - 6 19

Reversal of impairment loss in respect of B FE MU B 2 RIFEE R

amounts due from non-controlling REFEZREER

shareholders of subsidiaries (31) - - (31)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of RS —FEIH & A 5] 2 s

interest in an associate RLRERE 1124 = = 1124
Share of results of an associate AME—BEBERR EE 362 - = 362
Loss on termination of lease contract ~~ #I-EAX 2B - - 78 78
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RRBA R R (1919) - - (1919)
Additions to non-current assets FRBEENE - - 1,756 1,756
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of

202

reportable segment revenue, profit or

loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)
Notes:

(@  The unallocated and corporate income mainly
included miscellaneous income and other corporate
income.

(b)  The unallocated and corporate expenses mainly
included fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, salaries and allowances
and other corporate expenses.

(0 The unallocated corporate assets mainly included
plant and equipment and deposits for the
headquarter in Hong Kong.

(d)  The unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included
lease liabilities for the headquarter in Hong Kong,
accrued salaries, professional fee and audit fee.

() Additions to non-current assets consists of
additions to plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets.

8. THEMMNIE &

() A2HIBRAZ2H/D HW
w B BERAEEZY
R (48)
Hiat

(@) ARAOREEWATIEZEEMEA
WAREMBEWRA -

() AAREEFAXTIBE/ERN
FEFABREZIBEEZR
FEEBRE  Fe kR REM
PERX -

@ AORGCXEEIZEEEE
KREREBRTRE -

d RORCXEBEIEEEEE
wEl s HERE  ERtEHS -
BEXRERRZEE -

() FREFRDEEBREAEME
KA R REEE -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. NEPENKWES &)

(b) Geographical information

(b) iHEHR

The following table sets forth the Group’s revenue
from Continuing Operations and Discontinued

TRIGIAEEREFIENE
D RERBREEBRER

Operation by geographical location of customers: 1FAR S Z IR U R
2024 2023
ZBRf It it
Continuing Continuing
Operations Operations
— Mobile — Mobile
Phonesand Discontinued Phonesand  Discontinued
Electronic  Operation Electronic ~ Operation
Products  — Mining Products ~ — Mining
Business  Business* Unallocated Total  Business  Business  Unallocated Total
REge B
B £H—
BHEFER BAL HBEER B
E7ER HEXK- BTEm BEXH-—
i REREr AR it % RBXE AR fast
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
fér  TAn  TEn  TAn TEr  TEr FEr TEn
PRC i 9,612 - - 9,612 14,876 = = 14,876
Hong Kong B 34,022 - - MR 66666 - - 66,666
43,634 - - 43,634 81,542 - - 81,542

* The above amounts represent the financial
information of the Group’s Mining Business
companies during the period from 1 January 2024

to 23 December 2024.

* bieEATE_NE—H—
AEZZ-_mMF+=—A=+=
HEM A S BB ES A AN
W ER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. SEPEN YRS (&)
(b) Geographical information (Continued) (b) M ER (&)
The information about the Group’s non-current FRAREEZREENEEI D 2R
assets from Continuing Operations and B EReEB R RIS
Discontinued Operation by location of assets are BIEmENEE 2 X MERIE S
detailed below: T
2024 2023
“E-|E kSt
Continuing Continuing
Operations Operations
— Mobile — Mobile
Phones and Discontinued Phones and  Discontinued
Electronic ~ Operation Electronic ~ Operation
Products  — Mining Products ~ — Mining
Business  Business* Unallocated Total  Business  Business  Unallocated Total
Ege M
B EY
BHEER BAL BBEER BRI

BTER MERE- ETEm HEXH-

R OREREr  A0R it B REXE A0k ot
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS'000
fér T TEx  FEx AT TET  TET AT

PRC e 764 NATER NATER 164 1,439 - 561 2,000
Hong Kong 55 923 NATER NATER CVE] - - 1311 1311
1687 NATER NATER 1,687 1439 - 1872 3311
*  The above amounts represent the financial . rtieEA—T_NE—A—
information of the Group’s Mining Business AE-Z-_MFE+-_A=+=
companies during the period from 1 January 2024 =R PANCSE B NS )
to 23 December 2024. WG E RS -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. PEPERRUYE#
(c) Information about major customers () ERXEEFEF2EHR
Revenue from major customers, where each of KEFERFPFHRZ(ERESB
them accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s EAREBIWZEZ 10% KA £) -
revenue which are mainly attributable to Mobile TEREVHEEREFEMRE
Phones and Electronic Products Business, are set o FHywT
out below:
2024 2023
—E-QmEF —ET-=F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FAET
Mobile Phones and Electronic BEEERET
Products Business: EmER
Customer A ZEA 33,425 66,666
Customer B ZFB 5,735  N/A* TNEF *
Customer C ®RC 2,340 N/A* @A *
Customer D =FED 1,051  N/A* TN@E A *
Customer E EFE 597 N/A* @A *
Customer F =PFF N/A* T E A * 14,876
*  The corresponding revenue in the year for these * RFEAZSEEFR ZAEEREL
customers did not contribute over 10% of the total RMERE BB EFEIR10% ©

revenue of the Group.

# The revenue in the year for this customer did not & RERZEP 2 Wit R EAR
contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the SEEBWEEB10% °
Group.
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9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 9.

CUSTOMERS

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers
(i) The Group derives revenue from the

ER Ml

(a) EFEHNKESF
() FEEKZFEBBER

transfer of goods and services by RIRB (BEEERBRR ¥
categorise of major product lines and BoHE) FEREEEE
business which are mainly attributable to EREFEMELE
Mobile Phones and Electronic Products
Business
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHETT FAET
Revenue from contracts with & &R iE#RE %R
customers within the scope FISHEERRNZ
of HKFRS 15 EFEHWE
Major product FEEm
Trading of mobile phones and EEBEEZFR
electronic products EFEm
Mobile phones and electronic BEEENRET
products Em 43,634 81,542

The Group’s Mining Business did not generate
any revenue for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.

(ii) The Group derives revenue from the
transfer of goods and services by timing
of revenue recognition which are mainly

HE-_ZT-_MF+=A
=+ —ARZEZ=F+=
A=+—HIEFE ' A&H
PRI A A s o

(i) *FEEEBBERRRY
B 5 W a5 (121 25 78 52 05 fE
#7) TEXREBEER

attributable to Mobile Phones and REFEREX
Electronic Products Business
2024 2023
—EmF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEXT FET
Timing of revenue recognition U 752 b5
Trading of mobile phones and EEBE EFZ R
electronic products EFEm
At a point in time RE— R 2, 43,634 81,542

The Group’s Mining Business did not generate
any revenue for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 9. BEFGHINE#®)
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () EFEXWRED R (&)

with customers (Continued)

(iiij) The Group derives revenue from the (i) Z"EFBELERRRE
transfer of goods and services by FURA(EZEMETTEZ
geographical markets which are mainly 7)) FEREBBEZFR
attributable to Mobile Phones and EFEMFEE
Electronic Products Business
Information relating to the revenue from the FHAXERBBHEFL
transfer of goods and services by geographical EFEMEBNEBRE R
markets which are mainly attributable to KRS PTG WA (1@
Mobile Phones and Electronic Products HEl5 ) R ERIE M EES

Business is set out in note 8.

(b) Contract balances (b) E#EER

As at 31 December As at

R+=—A=+—H 1 January

2024 2023 2023

R-ZT =4

—ECoNE —T-=4F —H—H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

B FET FET FET

Trade receivables FEUWE 5 BR 25 42,652 20,440 3,272

Less: Allowance for B EEEE

credit losses e (3.342) (3.166) (3,272)
39,310 17,274 —

Contract liabilities BHBE 29 2,703 = =
Details of the Group's trade receivables and REEMNESERZENEDNA

contract liabilities are set out in note 25 and 29, BB D RIS PAMIFE 25 K 29 o

respectively.
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9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts

208

with customers and revenue recognition
policies

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group's activities.

The Group’s revenue is measured based on the
consideration specified in a contract with a
customer, less discounts and sales related taxes.

The Group's performance obligations for contracts
with customers and revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue for trading of mobile phones
Revenue for trading of mobile phones and
electronic products generally includes only one
performance obligation. The Group has concluded
that revenue from trading of mobile phones should
be recognised at the point in time when control of
the products is transferred to the customer,
generally when the products are delivered to and
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to customer.

The directors consider the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself and thus, the Group is a principal if it controls
the specified good or service before that good or
service is transferred to a customer.

9. EFAHIl=Em®)

(0 BEFEHNNENEERKE

TR BR

RS ﬁﬂ%uk%
R AR E A D AR
e

AEER W aERIEREFRT A
BRFETRA R ERIT IR HE
MR IRAT & -

AEEGREFPSHANBAE TN
R 2 Ko H U A T 5R BRCSR A
I

EF&# W

EEREEA Nz
BHEERETFTEME S —RIE
BIE-—HBROEE AEB &
WARBBEEFZE S 2 WAk
REmZEHIEER TR 2 RHE
R —RABEGMXNTE
PR @R RERRRER TR
PR o

EERA  AEEEBETHAED
MERE AN REETERK
Hlﬁ“ﬁ’]}@z’]fﬁc Eit - A
ERETERIRBEERTER

I%‘JEA%TE&WHE% PN S
?%%a%}\
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9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(9]

(d)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers and revenue recognition
policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenue for trading of mobile phones
(Continued)

The Group enters into sales contracts with
customers for each transaction. Revenue from the
sale of goods and services rendered is recognised
based on the price specified in the contract when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed and
services are provided. The Group does not expect
to have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of the promised goods to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one year.
Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specific location in accordance with
the contracts with the customers.

Other income

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Translation price allocated to remaining
performance obligation

The Group has applied practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, to exempt the disclosure
of revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date due to the majority of the
Company’s revenue contracts are short-term
contracts and have a duration of less than one year,
the practical expedient for contracts with durations
of one year or less is applied and therefore the
effect of the time value of money is not considered.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts with
customers is provided in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

9. EFAHIl=Em®)

(o)

(d)

EFENNBERNEERKE
RBUR ()

EFEEX W (F
EEREEA Wiz ()

AEERBRR HERPET L H
S5 - HEEmMRREHRRSEZ
Wt N E mm R M A B R A
KR BRF R IBE KRB 2 (B
REER - AEBEREH AL
AmEmBRTEFPERPNR
HIRBE —FHEREH - XN
RERBRBEZPREITNG RE
SR B EHLBEIR SEAK

Rt A

FIEKA

S A S s P E2E A 1o R AE R
ZARSRBEANERE

TRENGENETINGRE
=
AEBECRAE BN MRS LS
FBISHEL A A MaEF 121K
MEREE L BMReRBERR
SRHEENEFANELENTE
HIBR AR RFERBOWA - REZ
ARRHREDWAR KB
BHEHRIN—F  MAKH
HER A —FIATHELER
EREETE Rt ZEEEH
RREEENTE

FRASEEEFENBAER
HYERTBURAYE — P E R B4R
BB RRMIFES
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10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. Hittlr =R &8 - FHE
Other gains and losses, net from Continuing Operations REFBBERLLEEBMERIEEEER
and Discontinued Operation comprise: RE M R EE - FEeE
Continuing
Operations — Mobile Discontinued
Phones and Electronic ~ Operation — Mining
Products Business Business Unallocated Total
REEEXE
—BHEER BRLEEER
ETERER —RBER AR h
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRCRE CB-CF CRCRE CFC-F CBCRE CTo-F CRCRE CToCF
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Fér TEr TEn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEn
Exchange gains (loss), net Bl (BiE) 58 (20) 19 - - 61 - # 19
Fair value loss on financial assets ~ RATERFABHZ
at VTPL HEELATHE
B = = - - (1,364) (593)  (1,364) (593)
Impairment losses recognised in HEKRE AR R,
respect of trade and other R R
receivables, net WEEE H8 (357) (13) - - (40) 6 (o) 19
(Impairment losses) reversal of SELHBAREER
impairment losses recognised in RE L ERR L
respect of amounts due from (REER) B
non-controling shareholders of BEE 58
subsidiaries, net (340) 31 - - - - (340) 31
Impairment losses recognised in HEERR RERR
respect of inventories (999) - - - - - (999) -
Impairment losses recognised in FRBEAR R
respect of interests in associates AL RERR (134)  (1129) - = - = (134) (1129
Loss on termination of lease contract & IFEEA 42 B
(note 20(a)) (Wi 206) (10) - - - (73) (78) (83) (78)
(Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-HNBARL
(note 35(6) W (Wit 35) - 1919 - - - - - 1919
Loss on disposal of financial assets ~ HERATE AR
at L LHABRELBR = = - - = (65) - (65)
Gain on disposal of HERR Rk b
plant and equipment - = - = = 5 = 5
Others Aft - - - - 113 474 113 474
(1860) 8% - SM33) 08 BI8) 56
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11. FINANCE COSTS 11. BERAK
Finance costs from Continuing Operations and KREFELEER RO RIEEEERS
Discontinued Operation comprise: BB E AR BEE
Continuing

Operations — Mobile
Phones and Electronic ~ Discontinued Operation

Products Business — Mining Business Unallocated Total
FESEXK B9 BRLEEER
ERRETERRH — REEH AR fait

04 03 #4203 WW¥ B AU AB
ZRCRE CECCF CRCPF CT-CF CBCRE CTC-F CRCRE CECCR
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Féx TEr TEx TEr TExr  TEAr TEx  TET

Interest on lease liabilties BEAGZHE i} 59 - - [ 44 n 103
Interest on short-term borrowings IS 356 - - - - - 356 -
Others interest expenses AfRIS R - - - - 3 - 3 =

33 59 - - I W83
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12. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 12. RS HATEE
Loss before income tax from Continuing Operations and KEFEREEBE RO IEREERK
Discontinued Operation is arriving at after charging R PTER A ER DR (5T A) AT
(crediting): FIABER
Continuing

Operations — Mobile
Phones and Electronic ~ Discontinued Operation

Products Business — Mining Business Unallocated Total
RESERE B8  CRLEERE
ERRETERRH — R OB it

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CECME -E--F ZECME CE--F “EBCME CE-CF “BoOME CEoCE
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Fén TEr TAn  TET  FEr  TEr  TEAn  TEn

Staff costs BINRE
Directors’ emoluments (note 15a) ~ ES#4 (4 15) - = 189 467 2,808 2,903 2,997 3370
Other staff costs HEfETRA
— Salaries and allowances for —EHBTHE K2l

other staffs 695 1 4 65 4,454 5,268 5193 5,504
— Performance bonus — &AL - - - - - - - -
— Retirement benefit scheme — RINEHG I

contribution (excluding directors) ~ (FREES) 103 45 - n 183 83 286 139

798 216 233 543 7,445 8,254 8,476 9,013

Auditor's remuneration 2Tk 103 104 10 10 M 1 105 138
Cost of sales HERR 0,018 81,166 - - - - 08 81166
Depreciation of plant and equipment B kR BT E - - - 2 12 9 1 1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE 278 326 - - 602 690 80 1016
and after crediting: REFA:
Interest income HEHA (45) (79) - (1) (18) (1) (63) (81)
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FiSHAX

The amount of income tax expense from Continuing REBEEkEEBRARAZKRERFE
Operations and Discontinued Operation in the B ZETET BAR | RS TR FT ISR
consolidated statement of profit or loss and X &%

comprehensive income represents:

Continuing
Operations — Mobile
Phones and Electronic  Discontinued Operation

Products Business — Mining Business Unallocated Total
REEERK-BY  CRLEERE
EERETEREH —RBEH AR it

2024 203 2024 2003 2024 203 2024 203
ZBCRE CTO-F ZBCWE CTC-F CBCME CT0-F CBomE CTo-
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
FAr FEr TAn  FEr  FAr  TEr  TAT  FEn

Current tax e

— Hong Kong Profis Tax —BBHEH 8 2 - - - 8 2

—PRCHT —RERFAHEH 5 - - s - 5 -
13 22 - - - 13 2

Bermuda and the BVI

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and
the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax under
these jurisdictions for both years.

Hong Kong

Under the Hong Kong two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporations
are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are
taxed at 16.5%.

PRC

The Group’s major operations are being carried out
through its subsidiaries established in the PRC and
subject to the Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT”) rate of 25%
(2023: 25%), unless preferential rates are applicable in
the cities where the subsidiaries are located.

BREREBEZES
REABRELRRBEZESHRA R
ER - NEBER M EF S B AM
% B RAE RIS -

&8

BEEEFNSHEMARL - GERDE
2,000,000 7T 2 4 F # 1% 8.25%
BB G - 1 AR 8 2,000,000 % 7T
25 F B #6532 16.5% EO B REFL o

FE
REBBZBENR BN 2 HERA A
ETEEER WEK2D%(ZF
ZEF 5% 2 EMEHR(
Fﬁ/aﬁj)ﬁzéﬁqﬁ HEE R R E A
R ZEH B A R FTTE T BIBR SN o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. IS HEFEZ @)

AERZHBHRAXJRGEBRER
REU AT 2R PG H AT E R 5 BR a0

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to

the loss before income tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income as

follows:

T~

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Loss before income tax B PTS R A ES 18 (33,693) (15,077)
Income tax credit at the domestic RAHFT S &
income tax rate of 25% 25% (ZF==%F:
(2023: 25%) (note below) 25%)5tE 2
FrigBiEe
(RTXH3E) (8,423) (3,769)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N A] 1854 5 5% 2 B 75
& 6,585 5,372
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERMA Z B
-1 (1,162) (4,108)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R FER T IBE 18 K B
and utilisation of tax losses and AR B & AT
deductible temporary differences TR =R 2 B
2 1,838 1,755
Effect of different tax rates of REAL R AR R & &
group entities operating in ZEEERTRMN
other jurisdictions -7 935 704
Tax effect of tax concession HEBENREE - (22)
Tax effect of share of results DG E D RS
of associates - 232 90
Under-provision of tax HIERETRE 8 -
Income tax expense FIS i 13 22

Note: The domestic income tax rate represents the EIT rate
where the Group'’s operations are substantially based.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group had estimated
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$161,373,000 (2023: HK$167,716,000) available for
offsetting against future profits. The tax losses are subject
to the final assessment by the tax authorities in the
respective jurisdictions where the tax losses arising from.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated unused tax losses due to unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of approximately HK$8,585,000 (2023:
HK$15,133,000) that may be carried forward for a
period of five years from their respective year of
origination. The remaining unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of reporting period, the Group also had
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$4,393,000 (2023: HK$4,545,000). No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in relation to these deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

13. FiiSHiAX (#)

RB|BEER - AEB G5 AEEMN
AR mMz AR ERTIEEELN A
161,373,000 ;o( = T = = & :
167,716,000 7T) - BIIEEIBEGE
ERIEBENREREE RO
BVE & RTAN o B R MATERIR 2%
AR - A BT ET 2 MR B A
MEBERRAREFHEEE - 5T AR
e R I8 B 18 2 B 18 49 /3 8,585,000
# (= T = = £ :15,133,000/8
L) IEEASFEREEATF - F
THRFER A IR 515 Bl AT R PR B 458 o

RIBEER - AEB A AT B L R
EEI#4,393,0008 T(—E - =
4,545,000 7T) - AT KA BEEN A
AR =R A S E AR B R
B BB E ] A R KA
RELERBEE -

215



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND LOSS

ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED
OPERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Richly Giant
International Limited (“Richly Giant”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to
which Richly Giant agreed to sell 100% equity interest of
China Yellow Stone Group for a total consideration of
HK$100,000 (the “Disposal”). China Yellow Stone Group
is principally engaged in the exploration, exploitation,
refining and asset investment of mineral resources
business (i.e. the “Discontinued Operation”). Subsequent
to the Disposal of the Discontinued Operation, the Group
ceased its Mining Business (i.e. the “Discontinued
Operation”).

The Disposal was completed on 23 December 2024 (the
“Disposal Date”).

Information about the loss for the period/year
attributable to the Discontinued Operation and the loss
on disposal of the Discontinued Operation was set out
below. The comparative figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
reclassified to conform with the current year presentation
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets held for
sale and discontinued operations:

4. ERIBEEXEBRHUEERL

REXBZ2BE

HE_T-_MF+HA=+—HLF
B ARAzHEZEMNBARER
BREERAR(ER])E—FEISE
=AW Bt ERAEREE
PEEAEBEA100%KE - ARE
#100,0008 ([ HE]) - FEEA
SEXENEREESRYE  FEK-
BREEERE(AITERIEKE:
¥l REBEERIELEEKE - K
SERIEHRERES () [ER IR
ES DK

LESEEER _ZE_WNFE+ A
“+=H((HESEBH)EMK °

ERIEEE XSGR FEEE
REEERIEKEER 2 BEERSH
T BEZZT_=F+=A
—t+—HIEFEZHRABRERHEME
HABRAR BB FEREBERBHHG

HREAESRIFELECHERBE
EMERIEKEEBEHHE - AR
ERFEZES

1 January 2024 Year ended
to 23 December 31 December
2024 2023
—ElmF
—HA—BE HBE_T_=F%F
—E-OmFE t+-A=1+—H

+=ZA=+=H IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss for the period/year from BRI EEE 2
Discontinued Operation B EEEE (15,662) (949)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED

OPERATION (Continued)

The results of the Discontinued Operation for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 23 December 2024, i.e. the
Disposal Date and the year ended 31 December 2023,
which have been included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, were

14. EREREXERHEELK L

REXH2BE @)

ERIEEEEBR T _=F—H—
BE—_Z2_WF&E+_-_F=+=H (A
TESEAR HEAEZE T =
F+-_A=Z+—HILFEZEE (D
A EEEREMEEKARK) N

as follows: T
1 January 2024 Year ended
to 23 December 31 December
2024 2023
—FomE
—A—BE #HE_T_=F
ZE-mE +-H=+—H
+=A=+=H FFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue Wz - -
Cost of sales SHERA - -
Gross profit EF = =
Other income HAnlg A - 1
Other gains and losses, net HE A as R E1E -
FEE - —
Administrative expenses THER (602) (950)
Finance costs BLE R - =
Loss before taxation from ERIEREEK S
Discontinued Operation BRBLATE B (602) (949)
Income tax expense P BRI = =
Loss for the period/year from BRI EEE 2
Discontinued Operation i EEEE (602) (949)
Loss on Disposal of the Discontinued ~ H & 24 |F K&K
Operation Z &8 (15,060) =
Loss for the period/year from ERIEREHEK S
Discontinued Operation e FEBR (15,662) (949)
Loss for the period/year from BEE &R
Discontinued Operation E 394l
attributable to: FEBR:
— Owners of the Company — RREHE A (15,373) (489)
— Non-controlling interests — JEfEAR S (289) (460)
(15,662) (949)
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND LOSS 14. ERIREXEBRRHBESL L
ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED REXERZIEHE #)
OPERATION (Continued)

Loss for the period/year from Discontinued Operation ORI ER ZHM FEBES
includes the following: FEATEIE :
1 January 2024 Year ended
to 23 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-NE

—A—HBE ®HE-ZT_=
—E-ME +-A=+—H

+=ZA=+=H IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Staff costs: BTRA :
— Salaries and allowances for —HEmETHE K
other staffs AL 233 532
— Performance bonus — RIRTEAL - -
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIKEFIFTEIE R
contribution (excluding directors) (TEEES) - 11
233 543
Depreciation of plant and equipment & M REITE - 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND LOSS 14. ERIREXEBRRHBESL L
ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED REXERZIEHE #)
OPERATION (Continued)

The cash flows of the Discontinued Operation for the TR PR SEIE A — B — i 4E — F —
period from 1 January 2024 to the Disposal Date and the HeHEEEAHEREEE -
year ended 31 December 2023, which have been —=E4+-—A=+—BHItEECES
included in the consolidated statement of cash flows, FE (Bt AGAESRER)NT

were as follows:

1 January 2024 Year ended

to 23 December 31 December

2024 2023
—E-NE

—A—HZ BE_ZT-_=F
—2-m&E +=-A=1+—H

+=A=+=H LEFE
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FAET

Net cash outflows from operating KEEBR M

activities FEE (207) (521)
Net cash outflows from investing BEEEHES ML

activities HER - =
Net cash outflow from financing BMEEEBRS RN

activities pEiE-L] - =
Net cash outflows M FHE (207) (521)
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND LOSS
ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED

OPERATION (Continued)

Information about the loss on disposal of the

14. B ILRE

EBERHEERL
REER 2R #)

BRALEERLIBEXHZBHENE

Discontinued Operation was set out below: BEH T
HK$°000
T#T
Consideration: RE:
Total consideration BRE 100
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which XX iZ4IEzEEREE
control was lost: D
Plant and equipment B & 2% ="
Mining right RAEE =
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 AR 30 & At FE UL AR X 247
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEZEY 26
Trade and other payables JE 1~ B8 55 AR 3 I L Ath P A< R K (13,001)
Tax payables FEIBEIE (1,621)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEaEFHE (14,349)
Loss on Disposal of Discontinued HECRIEREXK ZEE .
Operation:
Consideration receivables R RAE 100
Transaction costs RBKA ()
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEBEFRE 14,349
Non-controlling interests AR (42,820)
Reclassification of cumulated translation reserve  HEB RIS L EKEEH D
upon Disposal of the Discontinued Operation HRGTE L 13,313
Loss on Disposal HEEIE EE (15,060)
Net cash outflow arising on Disposal: HEELEZRSREFHE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERELKBESZEY (26)

@ Less than HK$1,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’'s
emoluments

Directors and CEO remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules

1

5. EERITHRARME

(a) EBERITHAHME

RBEER EMRAEEERRG
BIRE 2 A FREEE MITHRER

and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as BT
follows:
Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit
and incentive scheme

Fees allowances  payments contribution Total
AR RAER
we FEREE EXRE  HEEX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TAT TAT TAT
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-EomE
TZA=t+-HLEE
Executive directors: HTEES:
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 3)ExXE - 2,100 - 3 2,103
(note (i) below) (B FXHiz()
Mr. Wang Yu TREAE - 175 - 14 189
(note (iv) below) (2 TXhiE ()
Mr. Li Jianwu FEAAE 2142 - - 5 pLy]
(note (i) below) (R FXHizE i)
Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle B at 83 = = = 83
(note (1) below) (B FXhiz®W)
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Dr. Law Chun Kwan i 125 - - - 125
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BEEET 125 - - - 125
Mr. Leung Wai Hung RiEH T 125 - - - 125
Total emoluments HoMs 700 2,275 - 2 2,997
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’'s

emoluments (Continued)

15. EERTHAHME @)

(a) EERTHARME (&)

Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit
and incentive scheme
Fees allowances  payments contribution Total
AR RAEA
we FEREE BXRE LR @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET FET &L T
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=%
TZA=t-BLEE
Executive directors: BITES:
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2NEE A - 2,284 - 3 2,287
(note (i below) (2 TXHiE ()
Mr. Wang Yu TR%AE - 433 - 34 467
(note (iv) below) (2 FXHiEE ()
Mr. Li Jianwu FEAAE 107 - - - 107
(note (iii) below) (% FXhizt (i)
Mr. Hou Zhenyang REFEE 134 - - - 134
(note (i) below) (& FXHiEE (i)
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Dr. Law Chun Kwan ERmET 125 - - - 125
Dr. Lo Wai Shun GifEREL 125 - - - 125
Mr. Leung Wai Hung PR 125 - - - 125
Total emoluments gemm 616 2,717 - 37 3370
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’'s
emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Lau Siu Ying is the Chairman and executive
director of the Company.

Mr. Hou Zhenyang resigned as the executive
director of the Company on 21 July 2023.

Mr. Li Jianwu was appointed as the executive
director of the Company on 21 July 2023.

Mr. Wang Yu retired as the executive director of
the Company on 31 May 2024.

Ms. Lau Zi Yin, Michelle was appointed as the
executive director of the Company on 27 August
2024.

The Chief Executive Officer and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive officer waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year.

15. EERTHAHME @)

(a) EERTHARME (&)

Witk

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

2/ NBEERRNRBLFEFRHN
TEF

REEFEAR-E-=F+ A
—t-BREAARRTE
=4

FRRAENR_ZT_=F+A
T+ HEZERRRRMIT
%

FTREEAR-_ZE_MNMFHA
=t HBETAQARRITE
=o

BB+t T _MEN\A
T+ ABZRERRRRBIT
B%-

EXFRITRERERITESRZ
MeRBEERERRRARREE
BER AR B o

EXFRRENIFRTEST 2 ME
DEBRFSERARRES 2B

7 o

FA

- MEBEESRITBASNE

SRABREE M E 2 L5k -
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Out of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, one (2023: two) was
director of the Company whose emolument is
included in note 15(a) above. The emoluments of
the remaining four (2023: three) individuals were as
follows:

(b)

15. EERTHAHME @)

BEME

AEBRUSZFSHFEALTH  HAp
—(ZEZ=F : W) BEAR
AEE HM& N L XM
15(@) e R T (ZTE==F:
=RO)ATZBEHT -

2024 2023

—E-ME —ECo=fF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FA&T

Salaries and allowances e &oERL 2,016 1,882
Performance related incentive RERBERES

payments - -
Retirement benefit scheme RREAFT R R

contribution 66 54

2,082 1,936

Their emoluments were within the following band:

ZEREZHMENFTIIHE :

2024 2023
—E-F —ET=-=
Number of Number of
employees employees
EE&E EEHE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T 4 3

None of the five highest paid individuals waived
any emoluments in current and prior years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the five highest paid individuals, including directors,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office.

16. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of reporting
period.

15. EERTHAHME @)

(b) EEM= (&)

HE_T-_NFRER_FT=_=F
+-A=+—HLtEE K&EH
BERAUSGEHFAT(BEE
B)IHAEAME - (EABER
EMAREMAREER 2 B $
SERBEBE -

16. K2

HE-ZT_NF+_A=+—HAK=
E-=F+-_A=1+—HIEE &K
N AN B 5B AR IR R R AN SR AR
© B RS BAR DA SR UM R (E (] AR

=
G
B o
SN
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17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss attributable to the

17. BRRE#E

ZN/N T%ﬁﬁAﬁT£ﬁ¢&%E%T§E

owners of the Company is based on the following data: BIELTS8ETE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHETT FET
Loss for the year attributable to ERREEAEBEEE
owners of the Company 3]
— Continuing Operations — BT (16,138) (12,127)
— Discontinued Operation — BERIERERE (15,373) (489)
(31,511) (12,616)
The calculation of the weighted average number of ordinary BRI EHETED T
shares is as following:
2024 2023
—EMNF —E-=
‘000 ‘000
FiR FAR
Weighted average number of ARGTESRELREIE
ordinary shares for the purpose HEBRINEEHE
of basic loss per share
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January E’q\*ﬂ —BzBET
@H& 211,556 183,556
Effect of 2023 First Subscription of T =FEHRREH
New Shares (note 31(a)(i)) Rz 2
(K3 7(a)(i)) - 8,926
Effect of 2023 Second Subscription of —ZF = =% — KR
New Shares (note 31(a)(ii) ik in 2 &
(K& 31(a)i) - 4,959
Effect of 2024 Subscription of — T MFEREHRMD
New Shares (note 31(b)) 2 (KE31b) 15,060 -
226,616 197,441
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the M EEE—_T-_NF+=_A=+—

AT -_=F+-A=+—HILHF
EEREAREEMS @ TBRINETF
HEERMETERBARQRFRND
EHFAEE - HEEFIBERME3 -

purpose of calculating basic loss per share for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 has
been adjusted Subscription of New Shares of the
Company for both years and details of which are set out
in note 31.
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17. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 17. BRRE#E (&)

The basic and diluted loss attributable to the owners of
the Company is as following:

RRBHEEARGERREEEEN
I

2024 2023
—ZE g —E=F
HK cents HK cents
A B
(Restated)
(& &31)
Loss per share BRER
— Continuing Operations — RHEREER (7.12) (6.14)
— Discontinued Operation — ERIERERH (6.79) (0.25)
— Continuing Operations and —RHBREEB R
Discontinued Operation BRI (13.91) (6.39)

No diluted loss per share is presented as there are no
dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for each of the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

REZE-_Z-_NF+=-_A=+—HK
—EZ=F+-A=+—HLEHF
B BARTEDBRTETEE LA
IR - MREB 25 SREEES -
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18. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. [RE M =&
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor Construction
improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
il £E
HE£B &L AE EEIR @t

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TET TAT TR

COST B
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F
—A—H 4,112 2,157 2,088 6,143 14,500
Exchange adjustments R (102) (48) (13) (163) (326)
Additions WE - 2 - = 2
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHHBAR - (278) (50) - (328)
Disposals & - () (435) - (439)
At 31 December 2023 R-Z_=%
+-A=1+—H 4,010 1,829 1,590 5,980 13,409
Exchange adjustments [ 5 R (136) 47) (16) 217) (416)
Additions B - 18 - - 18
Disposal of Discontinued HEDERIE
Operation Ba¥k (3,613) (1,104) (384) (5,763) (10,864)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z_MEF
+=A=1+-H 261 696 1,190 - 2,147
ACCUMULATED RAHERRAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 i ——
—HF—H 4,098 2,142 2,068 6,143 14,451
Exchange adjustments [ A (102) (48) (12) (163) (325)
Provided for the year FERE 4 7 - - 1
Disposal of a subsidiary &M B A A - (278) (32) = (310)
Eliminated on disposals HERLH - @) (434) = (438)
At 31 December 2023 R-Z_=%
+-A=1+—H 4,000 1,819 1,590 5,980 13,389
Exchange adjustments e (136) (A7) (16) 217) (416)
Provided for the year FEEE 5 7 - - 12
Disposal of Discontinued HEB SR
Operation Bk (3,613) (1,104) (384) (5,763) (10,864)
At 31 December 2024 R-F-JF
+=-RA=+-8 256 675 1,190 - 2121
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 i It
+-ZA=1+—H 5 21 - - 26
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=%
+=-A=+-H 10 10 - - 20
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z= —Z - ME+ - A=+—HILFE

19. MINING RIGHT 19. FRURHE
HK$°000
T#T
cosT A
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=%—H—H 415,840
Exchange adjustments b 5, S B (11,040)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZE_=F+-A=+—H
NZZEZ—mFE—H—H 404,800
Disposal of Discontinued Operation HEDRIEREER
(Note 14 and note 35(a)) (Btaz 14 K A7t 35() (390,080)
Exchange adjustments bE H T3 B (14,720)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZEZNF+=—A=+—H -
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt # 88 MORE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=%—H—H 415,840
Exchange adjustments bE H B (11,040)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 E’\\_ T =F+A=+—AHAK
—E-pFE—H—H 404,800
Disposal of Discontinued Operation HEDRIEREER
(Note 14 and note 35(a)) (Btaz 14 K K7t 35() (390,080)
Exchange adjustments bE H, 3B (14,720)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZWE+=—A=+—H -
CARRYING VALUE AREE
At 31 December 2024 RZZE_ME+-_A=+—H -
At 31 December 2023 R-ZFEZ=F+=—HA=+—H -
The mining right represents the right of A EEES FREESEAREREEGR AR ([
PR 2 &) (Huangshi Sifa Mining Company, “Sifa Mining”) BIRE D RPERIL AT ATEITE
to conduct mining activities in Huangshi City, Hubei BIEEBNET  ZATRBE_ZZT
Province, the PRC which was acquired during the year NE+ZRA=+t—RLEFEHELEE
ended 31 December 20009. Wi o
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19. MINING RIGHT (Continued) 19. HIERE (&)

Mining exploitation/operating permit

After the expiration of a 5-year mining exploitation
permit on 25 September 2012, Sifa Mining renewed the
mining operating permit for 2 years from the Ministry of
Land and Resources of the PRC (FFZE A R EH + &
JREE) (“MLR"), under which Sifa Mining was allowed to
carry out exploration activities only, but not exploitation
activities. The latest 2-year mining operating permit was
expired on 25 September 2016. Since then, the Group
had been preparing for the application of renewal for the
mining operating permit.

On 21 December 2017, the Department of Land and
Resources of Hubei Province of the People’s Republic of
China (the “DLR") issued an announcement (the “DLR
Announcement”) in respect of the deadline of
application of renewal for the expired mining operating
permit. The DLR instructed the owners of the expired
mining operating permits as identified in the DLR
Announcement had to furnish the application procedures
for the renewal before 28 February 2018. If the owners
fail to do so, they were required to de-register the mining
operating permits before 31 March 2018 by themselves
or the DLR will de-register their permits instead. The
Group, through its lawyer, submitted a letter on 8
February 2018 to the DLR for the clarification of the
Group's situation on whether the Group was allowed to
extend the renewal application deadline or submit a new
application for the mining operating permit in future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z= —Z - ME+ - A=+—HILFE

19. MINING RIGHT (Continued)

Mining exploitation/operating permit
(Continued)

Up to the date of the 2017 Annual Report, the Group
had not received the reply from the DLR and was not
able to furnish the application before the deadline. The
directors of the Company were of the opinion that there
was a material uncertainty on whether the Group would
be successful in the future application for the mining
operating permit because of the DLR Announcement.

The directors of the Company had factored this into their
assessment of the recoverable amount of the Group's
mining right and related plant and equipment, and the
carrying amount of the related deferred tax liability (the
“mining activities related assets and liability”) as at 31
December 2017, and on the assumption that the Group
could not renew the permit, provided a full impairment
of the mining right of HK$174,589,000 and related plant
and equipment of HK$8,965,000 and derecognised the
related deferred tax liability of HK$41,116,000 in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group,
through its lawyer, has tried to approach DLR by
telephone calls and resubmission of the letter sent in
February 2018 for the clarification of the Group’s
situation. However, DLR did not make reply to the
Group's enquiries. The directors were advised by the
lawyer that, in accordance with the rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group has lost its mining right and no
longer entitled to any benefit to be derived from the
mining right and thus, full impairment loss has been
recognised in prior years.

19. IRIRHE (&)

PRIEST R ()

BEEZZT—+FFHAH  AEEL
RABRLERECEE - BRER
%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂj$§§°$ﬁﬁj%$%

F REE RS KT R RIERT
—I FEE+TBERBAMMEFEEADT
EM

ARREERTHAEENR = —+
F+ZA=+—H 2 HKEE XK
B R A e ¢ 58 kAR RE R 18
BEREE(RKEXKHEREERE
BEDREFREERER  TREAS
Bl R EEEFIE BIGLERBERE
174,589,000 % 7T & 10 B8 i 5 K2 5% 1
8,965, oooi%ﬁ%ﬂai\gﬁimﬁﬁéﬁ It
RBE-_ZTZ—+tF+-_A=+—HL
i&ﬁé%ﬁﬁqﬂﬁx/ﬁﬁﬁﬁmwﬁ A IR
B1&41,116,0008 7T o

RBE-_ZFT-N\F+-_A=1t—HLt
FE - ZK’*IE@&EE@EW‘*%DA%
ERBHEIN-F—/\F= ﬂ?ﬁétﬂ
ZHEZ T A REE T EREE
BAKEZBER - AT iéxﬁﬁﬁ
WAREBIEAREE 2B - EEHERAED
SR RBHBEZERERL - AE
BEREERBEITNBZEREE
EEZEAME - Bt RBEEFE
EER B ERE -
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19. MINING RIGHT (Continued) 19. HIERE (&)

Mining exploitation/operating permit
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company
had carefully reassessed and reviewed the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit of the mining
business (the “CGU") to which the mining right is
allocated to and the related plant and equipment
regarding the mining business at the end of the reporting
period and thus, the recoverable amount of the CGU
should be remained as HK$ Nil. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had provision for close down and
restoration costs for the mine and details of which are
set out in note 28.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the mining
right was derecognised as a result of the disposal of
Discontinued Operation and details of which are set out
in note 14 and note 35(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

20. LEASES 20. fA§

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) ERAEEE

Properties lease for own use

BAY¥EE

2024 2023

—E-mF ZE=F

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FAET

At 1 January R—HA—H 1,596 980
Additions N 270 1,754
Depreciation e (880) (1,016)
Termination of lease contracts BIEHESH (510) (107)
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 8 B (24) (15)
At 31 December R+Z—A=+—H 452 1,596
Expenses relating to short-term leases E2XGEATHE B/ 2 B 81 289
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20. LEASES (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

234

The Group has lease various office premises for its
operations. Leases contracts generally have lease
terms of two years. Other office premises generally
have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is
individually of low value. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, the Group terminated a lease
contract for an office premise in the PRC. The early
termination resulted in a loss of approximately
HK$83,000 (2023: HK$78,000), which is the net
effect of the derecognition of the carrying amount
of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$510,000
(2023: HK$107,000), the derecognition of
corresponding lease liabilities of approximately
HK$427,000 (2023: HK$29,000).

20. 8

2§

(a) EREEEE)

AEBEHEZHPAEMEMN
HELECH - HESLHMEE
—MRBRE o HREYER
?ﬂﬁﬂ—ﬁﬁt’jﬁﬂﬂ FIAT R, K
&R BIEEE - HHERERIE%E
B - WEHA TR R EG -

TR E A8 & A B3 K 5T A 1S AT 3
Mz RER  AEEEAE4
ZEERETEE LA REIHNITZ
Hf - —ME  AEETER
AEBEINEERBHEHEEEE ©

REBE—E-_MF+=-_A=+—
Ak=ZZE_=F+=A=+—H
IEFE - REBKIERFBIR—
BRHASHNAEEARE - ZER
IHE B E B 483,000/ L (=%
— =4 :78,000/87L) ' AL
ﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂj
510,000 T( = & = = F:
107,000 7T ) ,i.&tﬁﬁ R A8 P
HEBENL427,008ET(=F
Z =4 1 29,000BTT) ZFRHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

20. LEASES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

20. & @)

(b) HERE

2024 2023
—E - PUE —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Amount analysed as: DR
— Non-current —3ERH 100 535
— Current — R® 365 1,063
465 1,598
Lease liabilities payable on: ENATHERRE :
— Within one year — —FNR 365 1,063
— Within a period of more than —HBA—FENERA
one year but not more than ME
two years 100 535
465 1,598
Less: Amount due for settlement BOmEIBEEET
within 12 months shown under 12 18 A W E H5
current liabilities EE g (365) (1,063)
Amount due for settlement after 12 3ERENEEE AR
months shown under non-current R12EAEEIE 2
liabilities 4EEFRIE 100 535
Interest on lease liabilities HERBZFE 72 103
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRE& RN B 994 1,216

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities is 4.58%-7.33% (2023:

5.07%-10.09%).

HMEBEBEMERZIN®E
FHIEIEEE K B458%E
733% (ZZE =% :507% &
10.09%) °
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20. LEASES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

236

Lease obligations are denominated in the following
currencies:

20. & @)

(b) HEEE#H)
MEAEATIIERTIE

2024 2023

—E-NE —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

HK$ BT 237 621
RMB AR 228 977
465 1,598

As at 31 December 2024, lease liabilities of
HK$270,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of HK$270,000 (2023: lease liabilities of
HK$1,754,000 and related right-of-use assets of
HK$1,754,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants in other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

RZEZNF+=—A=+—H"
EREE A& 270,000%8 T &
HERA{E A& EE 270,000 (=
TZ=F: AEAE1,754,000
BT REBEREEE
1,754,000%7T) ° lRIEHEARB
WHEEENERERIN - HE
E N ARE RS - HEER
ETSREERER -
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HFEREEZERERAA | —E-NFEFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REFE QT 2
2024 2023
—E-ME —E o=
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
KiaE FET FET
Cost of investments in unlisted A IE FHEE A F 2
associates REKA 3,450 2,815
Share of post-acquisition results {5 UREE EIRE EE
and other comprehensive Ht2mEmkas - {1k
income, net of dividend 2R S
received (1,356) (429)
Accumulated impairment loss ~ RFHREEE (1,258) (1,124)
Exchange adjustments PEE A B (307) (247)
529 1,015
Interests in associates comprise: HEtE N a] 2 s EIE ¢
— Guangzhou Tianping — BMKFE @) - 1,015
— Beijing Feiying — tRRE (b) - -
— Yueyang Quyuan — ESREIR (© 529 =
529 1,015
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21. RIS QT 2 S ()
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 December RZE-_NEFE+_A=+—RHE=_Z
2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows: —=FE+-A=1+—H "NEFKS
NEMEBAT
Place of Proportion of nominal
Form of business incorporation/ value of issued capital Principal

Name of associate structure operation held by the Group activities

SR FEEREERTREAEE
BENRER EBERKA  EERE MBS FTEEHR

2024 2023

—E-NE —EC=E

BMAFRERBEBERAR  Limited iability  PRC 25% 25%  Provision of fifth generation
(“Guangzhou Tianping”) company wireless communications
technology and related
artificial intelligence services

EMATREMBEAERAR  BREERAR & REFARESBERMK
(TBMKED BAAIEERS
ERREGENEAERART  Limited liability ~ PRC 33.5% 335% Trading in second-hand
(“Beijing Feiying”) company mobile phones and provision
of marketing services
TRREGENBEERAR  BRAAAR  HE BE_FHHBERES
(TERRED) ik
EGEMEREREMEEE  Lmited lability  PRC 30% - Investment holding and
EREREARAR company general trading
(“Yueyang Quyuan”)
EETEREERAREE  BAREERR  HE REZRR—RES
ERERERAR
(TEHER])
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Interest in Guangzhou Tianping

Impairment assessment of Guangzhou Tianping

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company
conducted an impairment assessment of the Group's
interest in the associate with reference to a professional
valuation based on value-in-use basis using discounted
cash flow approach performed by an independent
professional valuer by comparing the carrying amount
and the recoverable amount of the associate which was
based on certain key assumptions. The directors of the
Company assumed that the associate will continue to
provide 5G wireless communications technology and
related Al services with its major customers according to
the cash flow projection prepared by the management.
The calculation uses cash flow projection based on
financial budgets prepared by management covering a
5-year period by applying growth rate of 1.7%, (2023:
3.0%) and a pre-tax discount rate of 26.4% (2023:
28.0%). The cash flow projection during the budget
period are also based on the expected servicing income
during the budget period. Expected cash inflows/outflows
have been determined based on historical data of past
performance and the management’s expectations for the
market development.

Based on the valuation, the recoverable amount of the
company was lower than its carrying amount and thus,
impairment loss of approximately HK$134,000 has been
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$1,124,000).

All these assumptions and estimations are based on the
best information available to the management of the
Company.

21. RIS DR 2= (E

ffet

(a)

REMKFE

BEM X Bt B 7
RZEBE-_W&FE+=—_A=+—H" ' &K
ARAEE2EBH L HEGHEMFER
MBS RELARBESEGEY A
& BB A D AR R s 1T R (E BT
iy - WHBRBES T £ B R&AH
EARIREMAERATKESEE - RIE
EHERFECHSREEN XA
RIESREZBMELARBEERNE
FERFIRMESGELBERMRAT
AT RERTS - s E H A KA
EMERE s ATHIRBEAE
EZBEREBBA - BKA1.7% (=
TZ=F:30%) 2 EKREXR
264% (=T = =4 :28.0%) 2
RIBEIRR - BHHE B S RET
SR IMR 5B & HAR 2 FEHR R A R ©
BEHBESRA KL IRERER
RrBELERREREBHMSERE
ZTEHEE -

BEGE - ARARZ AR E S 5K
REEAE BEEREE=ZZT
“ME+-_A=t—BHILEFEER
EETE49134,0008 T (2 ==
£ 11,124,000 7T) °

P % SRR R AR RIEAR AR
BEEAF &EBEREDL °
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

240

Interest in Guangzhou Tianping (Continued)
Summarised financial information of the Guangzhou
Tianping

For the purpose of applying the equity method of
accounting, the management of the Guangzhou Tianping
prepared a set of financial statements based on a
realignment of its financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2024.

Guangzhou Tianping is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of
Guangzhou Tianping is set out below which are prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs.

21.

REtE DT 2 E2S (#)

fteE - (%)

(a)

REMNRF 2z (F)
BEMX PR BEERHE

REAEREE BMNKFEER
BREHEZE_ZE-_=Z6FKF_ZT_-N
F+_A=+—ALFERHERE
HFABRE T — OV EHRE -

BMKFRZEFEE M HoRERAIA
REEEARR ©

BRABRMRF 2HMBENBEHT
wr - DREFEEW RS EAGR
8o

2024 2023

—E-ME =4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEL

Current assets MENVE E 6,388 9,757

Non-current assets ERBEE 115 317

Current liabilities MENE & (7,629) (7,907)

Non-current liabilities ERBAE = =

Net (liabilities) assets (AR BEFE (1,126) 2,167

Revenue W as 7.868 16,146

Loss for the year FEERE (3,275) (1,447)

Other comprehensive expense for FEHAM 2 E S

the year (18) (85)

Group's share of loss for the year RNEEEIEFAEER (819) (362)
Group's share of total comprehensive A&EEEEFE LA L5

expense for the year (63) (65)

Dividend received from the associate
for the year

FAEEBE R RIEZ KR
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ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z= —Z - ME+ - A=+—HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) . RS RRl 22 (E)

Notes: (Continued) Bt (&)

(a) Interest in Guangzhou Tianping (Continued) (@) HEMRFZZfE®(E)
Summarised financial information of the Guangzhou BN K TSR ()
Tianping (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial B EER B EREAEFRRES
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s ISR EmA Y EMN R EREXER
interest in Guangzhou Tianping recognised in the {BYEE :

consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
—EOF ZZC=F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Proportion share of net (liabilities) DMEEM KT (BE) EE
assets of Guangzhou Tianping SFEZ A (BRSO
attributable to (see note below):
— The Group — AEHE 1,257 2,139
— Other shareholders of Guangzhou — — BN K 2 bk R
Tianping (2,383) 28
(1,126) 2,167
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 Met: B2 —F W& ‘I' - ﬂ
December 2023, the Guangzhou Tianping issued =t— El &%Zi_ ==
share capital was RMB4,192,000, the Group and +=ZA=+—H JtiE &
the other shareholders own RMB2,500,000 and MRFZEBEBTRAR/AR
RMB1,692,000 issued share capital of Guangzhou #4,192,0007 © A& B &k
Tianping, respectively. H MR D 5l %A BINK T

ZEBETRAARE
2,500,000t & A R ¥
1,692,000 7T,
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

242

21. REBIE QT 28 ()

fteE - (%)

Interest in Beijing Feiying (b) RILFRE>ER
In view of the Group's share of losses of Beijing Feiying 4B AR £2 B FE (5 I R E S 18 1R 8
exceeded its interest in Beijing Feiying and thus, the Ht o RE % thAEFHD
Group discontinued to share of the losses of Beijing LS R REREE - MRmR
Feiying and the financial information of the unrecognised FE (5 4k F R 1548 9 B 758 A
share of losses of Beijing Feiying is summarised below: mF
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BE-Z-_NF BE_T_=F
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
IEFE IFFE
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET TET
Unrecognised share of loss of RERDEHE R
associate for the year 518 = =
Accumulated unrecognised share of ~ R&F ARG I RREEE
losses of Beijing Feiying (11,797) (11,797)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had an
amount due from Beijing Feiying of HK$212,000
(equivalent to RMB200,000) which was unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand. This amount due
from Beijing Feiying was fully impaired in prior year based
on the accounting policy stated in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no
movements of the amount due from Beijing Feiying and
the related impairment loss recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, management
of Beijing Feiying submitted the application to the
relevant PRC government authorities to deregister Beijing
Feiying and up to the date of this report, the
deregistration procedures have not been completed.

RZFE_MOFR=ZFE=_=F+=A
=+—H  NEBEERILERE K
18 A212,0008 L (HHE R ARE
200,0007T) + AP - B2 KiIZ
ZREE - BESAVEREMT4
sz st ER - IEUIE RRE Z
HEERBEFEZERME - RE
EZZ_NMF+RA=+—HILHF
B UL RRE 2 KB REER
2 FER R E R IE N ) -

REBEEZZE=-_=F+=-A=+—H
IEFE tRRESEE R ARF
BT R PR R BB 5 - BUHIL =R
B mMBEARRE -
R M ARTTK ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(9]

Interest in Yueyang Quyuan

On 20 March 2024, &&= (1 F) =R B R A & (China
Fortune (Hunan) Holdings Limited, “Fortune Hunan”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
independent party A and independent party B, entered
into a co-operation agreement (the “Cooperation
Agreement”) to set up Yueyang Quyuan. Pursuant to the
terms of the Cooperation Agreement, the registered
capital of Yueyang Quyuan is RMB2 million, of which
independent party A, independent party B and Fortune
Hunan shall contribute RMB0.8 million, RMB0.6 million,
and RMBO0.6 million respectively, accounting for 40%,
30% and 30% of the registered capital of Yueyang
Quyuan respectively. Accordingly, the Yueyang Quyuan
was owned as to 40% by independent party A, 30% by
the independent party B and 30% by Fortune Hunan
respectively upon its establishment on 22 March 2024.

Yueyang Quyuan was a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability which is principally engaged in
investment holdings and general trading.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement and the Article
of Yueyang Quyuan, the Group has the right to
participate the policymaking process of the Yueyang
Quyuan. The Group has accounted for its investment in
Yueyang Quyuan as an associate as management
assessed that there is significant influence as the Group
has the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of Yueyang Quyuan based on
the Cooperation Agreement and the Article of Yueyang
Quyuan in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures (“HKAS 28").

Summarised financial information of the Yueyang
Quyuan

For the purpose of applying the equity method of
accounting, the management of the Yueyang Quyuan
prepared a set of financial statements based on a
realignment of its financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Yueyang Quyuan is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

1. REBE QT 2= ()

Hfet - (&)

(c)

REGERZER
R-ZE-_WME=ZA—1+H  AQA
—EEE2ENBARRE(CHR)IE
BERAR(ERHmE]) BILE
= FRARBYE=ZFLARIMNE
e ([AfEHZE D) UK &5 R
R BIBEEEBZ KGR EHE
RHEMERNEAEARB2EET
Hh B E=FFH BIUE=FH
LARREHEEDFILEARE
80EBTL ARKOETEARK 60
g1 PRt EBERFEMEARZ
40%  30% N30% ° At - R =
—ME=A-+ZBKIE  E5
BRSBTS =R EA
40% ~ BN FE = L7 HEH 30% A
REENEHES30% °

EERERARTEZEMKRZNER
NE EEREREERN—RE
5 e

RiBaEHENRERER AR -
AEBEER2EESERNRER
B RIBAEWZ  EHERZA
AREEGERELBR(-F
——FIRBERRREE LR
E((BEGERE285%]) R
EREFEAREERSEESRE
R REEBRFREK > MBEX
FEN WARECKERNESRRE
RZBENERBERT]

EEERZHMBEENGE

BEAEZESE EHERER
EREHZE_ZT_MNFEF+=A
—t+—BULEFENBERENFAER
BT —HIRRE

EBEERNZEHEEMBHRERAIA
AN ©

243



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(9]

244

Interest in Yueyang Quyuan (Continued)
Summarised financial information of the Yueyang
Quyuan (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of Yueyang
Quyuan is set out below which are prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

. R

EAT S @)

Hiet - (%)
(0 REEBR2ERSH)
EBEERZHBEEREE (F)

BEREGERZUBENEEZET
W BREERMBREEDR

2o

2024

—ENEF

HK$°000

FHET

Current assets MENE E 1,726
Current liabilities mEAE (385)
Net assets BEFE 1,341
Revenue Weas 935
Loss for the year FEEE (362)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEEA 7
Group's share of loss for the year REBEIEFAEE (108)

Group's share of total comprehensive income REBEIEFRNEEP AL

for the year 2
Dividend received from the associate for the year 4 A (Bt & /A RIUKER 2 B & -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in Yueyang Quyuan recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

RBHEREE R EENES
SRR ESE R
S -

2024
—E_NmEF
HK$°000
FET

Proportion share of net assets of Yueyang Quyuan & &5 8 R &G & & FE 2 )

attributable to (see note below): (R XXHsE) -

— The Group — XREH 530
— Other shareholders of Yueyang Quyuan — EI5E Rz EA IR 811
1,341

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Yueyang Quyuan’s issued share capital was
RMB1,600,000, the Group and the other
shareholders own RMB400,000 and RMB 1,200,000
issued share capital of Yueyang Quyuan,
respectively.

Fat: =2 _mW&F+ A
=+—H EBERZEH
TR A B A R # 1,600,000
T AEE R EAMRERED R
BEEGE RN BITRA
A R #.400,0007T & A R #&
1,200,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. BAFEAAEBS ZHBEEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
“E-F ZE=F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
KtaE FET FET
Financial assets at fair value RZAFEFAERZ
through profit or loss MKEE
— Unlisted equity investments — JE iR AERE @) 102 -
— Unlisted fund investment — I LMESIKE (b) - 1,300
— Listed equity investments — Rz FTHRE (©
in the PRC RE 533 642
635 1,942
Analysed as: DR
Current M EN 533 642
Non-current FERB 102 1,300
635 1,942
Notes: Hiat
(a) Unlisted equity investments (a) FLMRERE
Unlisted equity investments are investments in couple of RETRAIEE BRTREEERR
private entities incorporated in different jurisdictions that IR B EARIEB /Y Z MFL
engaged in different businesses. The directors of the ABBZRE - KNRAESHRKZ
Company intend to hold these investments for long term EREFIERBEEAR -

strategic purpose.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Unlisted fund investment

Unlisted fund investment is the investment of 13.3% in
the equity interest of a fund which focuses on the
investment in the property market, including a property
development project carried in PRC. The directors of the
Company intend to hold this investment for long term
strategic purpose.

Listed equity investments in the PRC

The amounts represent the Group listed equity
investments in the ordinary shares of entities listed on
Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock Exchange. As at 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024, the fair value of the
investments are based on the bid prices quoted on the
Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock Exchange at the end of the
reporting period which are classified within level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy.

Details of the fair value measurement of the Group’s
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are set
out in note 7(a).
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22. BRAFEFARGZMBEE

(4)

ffet - (&)

(b)

(c)

FETESRE
AETEESRERNR —RFIRY
X5 (BRRPBEETH —EYE
BHRIBEE)NESMN133% ERZER
B ARAEERBZRERIER
HABKIE Rk o

RE 2 EhRERE
ZEBEASER B8 RYIFS
RGMLEMmzEE 2 L@k EmR
KgE-RZT=_=F+= A
= +—BERZT-_NMF+=A
=+—H ZEEREZATEDR
BREHAR LR FIEERS
FiFiskz EABHE  WHEAR
FEEROENEL -

BRAKERAFESABR T
BEZ N FEAEFBHNMEE) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

23. CLUB MEMBERSHIPS 23. EEEE
HK$°000
T#T
cosT R
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%F—HA—H 1,371
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35(b)) HE—FWB AR (MaF350) (187)
Exchange adjustments BE 54, A B (8)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+=—HA=+—~H
R-_ZT_MF—H—H 1,176
Exchange adjustments bE 5, B -
At 31 December 2024 RZZB_MFE+—_H=+—H 1,176
IMPAIRMENT e
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZZE-_=%—H—H -
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 T =F+-_A=+—8 -
—ENF-A—BR
—E-ME+=—A=+—H 496
CARRYING AMOUNT IREE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZZWF+=—A=+—~H 680
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=—HA=+—H 680
Club memberships are stated at cost less any identified FHREREKABERD ZHBREE
impairment loss. For the purpose of impairment testing BIR - wAlgmeBEEERER -
on club memberships, the recoverable amount has been ARESEEAFEREEXAE
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal E o M ZFH5EREEKA
which represents the second-hand market price less cost
of disposal.
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24. INVENTORIES 24. 8

2024 2023

—E-mE —E =4

HK$000 HK$°000

FET F#ET

Mobile phones and electronic BEBEREFEM
products business £

— Finished goods — 8K m 1,501 2,341
Less: Impairment B RE (872) (377)

629 1,964

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. FEUNE 5 IR HAth R UK BR X

2024 2023
—E_ME ==

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables EUE FERFK 42,652 20,440
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEEEE (3,342) (3,166)
39,310 17,274

Value-added-tax recoverable eI (ET 151 309
Prepayments to suppliers TR e IR 30,031 23,493
Other receivables and deposits Hi B BRR R IZ S 7,459 8,464
37,641 32,266

Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEEEE (26,107) (30,061)
11,534 2,205

50,844 19,479
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group generally requests for full prepayment from
its trade customers but it also allows credit period of 30
to 90 days for certain trade customers. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits.
Limits attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.
Majority of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have no default payment history.

The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade
debts.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net
of allowance for credit loss) presented based on the
invoice date at the end of reporting period:

25. EURE 5 IR R H th B UR AR X

(#)

rEE-—REREFGEFEANEZEK
B BTG TETESEF=1TZ2
NTRZEEH - ZBEREFRHETR
Al AEESHMEEREFPZEEE
B ARATEERTE  THRAE
TEPZRE - AEoBERBH IR
B2 FEMUE 5 R R SR R AT 8% o

AR B L E B E KB E AR

0
on °

2024 2023

—E_ME —ET=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

0 to 30 days 0%30H 7,072 17,274
31 to 90 days 31290 H — =
91 to 365 days 91 %365 H 32,238 -
39,310 17,274
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BB 5 IRAM K H th B UER ™K
(Continued) (&)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect BRAEWE FERZR R EMERRRR
of trade and other receivables: BE B
Trade Other
receivables receivables Total
EWE 5 &M Hth R oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—f—H
Z KEER 3,272 31,712 34,984
Impairment losses recognised FARRZREBRE
during the year - 30 30
Reversal of impairment loss BRRZREEBRER
recognised - (11) (11)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHEAT (19) (889) (908)
Exchange adjustments e 5 FHEE (87) (781) (868)

Balance at 31 December 2023 and R=—T==%

1 January 2024 TZA=+—HkK
“Z-NE-A—H
2 3,166 30,061 33,227
Impairment losses recognised FRABRZRERBE
during the year 322 77 399
Reversal of impairment loss BRRZREEBRER
recognised - () @
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AT (29) (3,050) (3,079)
Exchange adjustments B 5 % (117) (979) (1,096)

Balance at 31 December 2024 R-Z_NF

+=-A=+—H

Z KEER 3,342 26,107 29,449
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other JE W 'E 5 AR 3k B2 H th FE UL BR 3R 2 R E
receivables are set out in note 7(b). A IEH M 7(0) ©

250



RFEREERBERAA / =

E_NMEFRH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON-

26. FEUR FEATEE D EIFEIEAR AR

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OF HHIE
SUBSIDIARIES
2024 2023
“E-FE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Amounts due from non-controlling FEU AT FEIE AR AR R
shareholder of: SKIE
— Sifa Mining (note 14) (note 19) — SREEEE (et 14)
(BtaE19) - 386
— Fortune Telecom Supply — REB(EHERE
Chain Limited BRAT] 344 344
344 730
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEERE (344) (390)
- 340
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAT AT SEIEARAR R
shareholder of: SKIE
— Beijing Daizhangmen — It R&REF] 27 28
27 28

The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayable on demand.

B e

BERREEN - TR ERARERE
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27.

28.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are mainly
denominated in RMB and HK$, which are the functional
currencies of the relevant entities of the Group.

Included in cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
2024 are the amounts in RMB of approximately
RMB6,327,000 (2023: RMB5,977,000) and USD of
approximately USD3,000 (2023: USD4,000) in form of
cash on hand and at banks, respectively.

RMB balances are not freely convertible into other
currencies.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating bank deposit
rates.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. RERAESFEY

AKE2RERASSENEEUA
REEHERZ RS ARE RS
FEATME -

R-BE-_NME+-_A=+—0"'#%
kRS EEBMBREAARB RETL
BZFRERRITREDAMHOARE
6,327000L( —Z T =_=F: AR¥
5,977,0007T ) & #)3,000E jt( = &
=% :4,00057T) °

AREERI SRR RAEME -

RITR LT B IRTT 7 N X BRERF
g o

IS

28. B E 5 IR K H At IR

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=4F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Trade payables JERTE SRR 32,820 19,141

Value-added-tax payables AT IBE TR 243 2

Prepayments from customers B IEMNKIA 943 1,025
Other payables and accruals H Ath FE - BR KR FE 5T

i di 15,446 9,638

Amount due to an associate e — B E A 1,060 —
Provision for close down and restoration 8B M k18 AK A B %

costs - 11,783

50,512 41,589
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of
reporting period:

28. BN ERRRREMEM RN

(#)

RBERRBNEZEFIRER
25 2 BRI DA T

2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET T#T

Trade payables: BB SR
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 43 19,141
Over 90 days HBi®90 H 32,777 =
32,820 19,141

During the year ended 31 December 2024, in the
ordinary course of the Group's business, the Group has
been subject to a claim from a supplier arising out of and
in the normal course of business. At the end of the
reporting period, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group has already accrued the payable
to the supplier and would not result in any material
adverse impact on the financial position or results and
operations of the Group.

RBE-ZT-MF+=-_A=+—HL
FE - RASEHNAEERKBES -
AEERBBEB2INIBIERZE
HEFMERR - RI|EHR - ARF]
EERE A5EECRFEMNEER
I TEEHASEN BRI E
BREBENEMERTFIFE -
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. BEAE
2024 2023
—EF —T-=F
HK$000 HK$°000
FHT TET
Contract liabilities BRAERG 2,703 -
Contract liabilities represent payment received in advance AREBBERFPFRAEEEERHS
from customers in connection with the Group'’s sales of HENETFERAAES N ZFRIE - FBH
mobile phones and electronic products. Contract TeEREFEFELBHRNES Y
liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within the ARABE NBREAEEREFHEE
Group's normal operating cycle, are classified as current REEREEEDE AT KIER
or non-current based on the Group'’s earliest obligation o NIBEHIKR  AEEBFEAREA
to transfer services to the customers. As at end of the SN BRE -
reporting period, all of the Group’s contract liabilities are
classified as current.
All contract liabilities are non-interest bearing. FEARAEESATER -
The movements in contract liabilities during the years HE_ZEZ-—_NERKR-—FT-—_=®%+—A4
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: =+—HItEE  ARAaGEZEIHN
T
2024 2023
—E-IF —TC=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHT T BT
Balance at 1 January R—A—H - =
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ETEUE B 5T E 2
payment received in advance from aBRABEEM
customers 2,754 =
Exchange realignments PE 3 3 B (51) =
Balance at 31 December R+T_A=+—Bzi&s 2,703 -
The change in balance of contract liabilities was mainly EREBEEHRESHTEANAKRER
due to the increase in payment received in advance from KRS NPT B °
customers.
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30. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 30. FEHAER
2024 2023
—E-MF —Eo=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET TF#ET
Other borrowings — unsecured HAb e — EEHR 10,469 -
The carrying amounts of bank and other ERE & FTEEHEl
borrowings based on scheduled ERAEMIRITR
repayment dates set out in the loan H b & REREE
agreements
Within one year or on demand —FAFKERK 10,469 -
10,469 -
The carrying amounts of other borrowings Bi& i B X325 i BV EF
that become immediately due and DE R EN R REE
payable due to breach of loan RERKEERIER KA
covenants and/or contain a repayment R —FRIZERK(EE
on demand clause/or payable within one  #)E 4th & ZX & BR I B
year or demand which was shown (RRBBEETIIR)
under current liabilities (10,469) -
Amounts shown under non-current FERBBEE TR
liabilities IR = -
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unsecured, R-ZE-_WNE+—-_A=+—H ' K&
fixed interest-rate other borrowings which carry interest EAEEEKT  BEMNENEMER -
ranging from 12.00% to 14.40% per annum. REFZE12.00% £ 14.40% 51 B °
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. @A
Number of ordinary shares Share capital
EER™A [
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EBoME -—E--F ZB-NME —E--F
Notes ‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fifzt TR TR FET FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 ZREE0.018 T
each EER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares BER
At beginning and at theend ~ FAREH T R
of the reporting period HEHR 20,000,000 20,000,000 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRABRE
Ordinary shares EEK
At the beginning of the R & B 1)
reporting period 211,556 183,556 2,116 1,836
2023 First Subscription of “ETZFER @)
new shares RETRD - 18,000 - 180
2023 Second Subscription of —TE-=FF =)k (@)i)
new shares REBHB D - 10,000 - 100
2024 Subscription of “ECNERE (b)
new shares Filien) 26,000 = 260 =

Atthe end of the reporting ~ AIREHIK
period 237,556 211,556 2,376 2,116
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The movements of the issued share capital of the
Company during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023, and subsequent to 31
December 2024 are as following:

(@) Changes of the share capital of the
Company during the year ended
31 December 2023

()

2023 First Subscription of new shares

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 27 March 2023 (the “2023 First
Subscription Announcement”), at the same
date, the Company entered into certain
subscription agreements (the “2023 First
Subscription Agreements”) with certain
subscribers (the “2023 First Subscribers”),
pursuant to which the 2023 First Subscribers
have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue an aggregate of 18,000,000
subscription shares (the “2023 First
Subscription Shares”) to the 2023 First
Subscribers at the subscription price (the
2023 First Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26
per 2023 First Subscription Share (the “2023
First Subscription”).

The 2023 First Subscription Shares represent
(i) approximately 9.8% of the existing issued
share capital of the Company as at 27 March
2023; and (ii) approximately 8.9% of the
issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
2023 First Subscription Shares.

31. @A (&)

RBEE-_T_NOFE+_A=+—HRK

TEC=Ft-A=t—HULEFER

E/\_%E_EE—F A=+—H%& &K
RAZBBETRAEFHINT -

(a) ﬁ E”_EFE_= £|E '|' A
E+T-BLEFEERRATZR
B
() =—FE=-=FEXRRBIRK

17
BEAQXAGBHAZ-T
Z=F=AZ+tEHZA
ﬁ(f——«—_iémauﬁﬁ
~fel) REAR - $“
HEFTRBA(ZZ==
FERREAD TI%:F
RE = (f_q__ié
RARBWHHED - B
—\’__Eé//\a/uﬁﬁ/\"ﬁ_ﬂx
HRERE MARAE
BHRERE RETE R
18,000,000 1% 7R 8 M 19
((ZEZ=FFRRER
DHTFT_ZE_=FBERR
BA RBE(T=ZZ==
FEARBEED RBR =
T=FERRERM
0266 B TL([ZE =557
IRREE]) °

TEZ=FHRRBERM
BB == A
—t+tt+tBEARAREE
TTHEANA79.8% & Mz (if) 45 iR
?&%ﬁ_?:—iém
REROMBER AR
BEBEITIRAN48.9% °
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 31. A #)

(@) Changes of the share capital of the (@ BZ=-E=-=+=A8

258

Company during the year ended

Z+t—BRLEFEXARFAZR

31 December 2023 (Continued) I E) ()

(i) 2023 First Subscription of new shares () —E-_=F5RZBEFK
(Continued) fﬁ (&)
The 2023 First Subscription Price is fixed at CECCFHARARBER
HK$0.26 per 2023 First Subscription Share, EAEBER-_T_=ZF7/K

which represents (i) a discount of
approximately 11.9% to the closing price of
HK$0.295 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 24 March 2023, being the last
full trading day prior to 27 March 2023; and
(i) a discount of approximately 11.9% to the
average of the closing prices per share of
HK$0.295 as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the last five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of the 2023
First Subscription Agreements.

The 2023 First Subscription Shares would be
issued under the general mandate granted to
the directors of the Company by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 31 May 2022.

The directors consider that the 2023 First
Subscribers are independent third parties.

REE 150268 T 0 BK()
BN _E=_=F=A
—tHR (A =ZE==F=
AZ+tRHAi&%E— @z
BRXS5B)MB2BMES
f80.2957% T #1 #E A
11.9% : K (i) B 22 BT B2 4%
TECCHFFHARARERE
AHf &L EEER S
BFrmegRkEHKmE
0.295 B TTHTEL11.9% ©

—EC=FHRAEERMD
BREBERER =T ==

AA=+—B81T2AKA
AIRRBEFRE LETA
NAEF 2 —MIEET -

EERR —T=FH
RRBARBNLE=T7
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #&Z - T - NE+-A=+—HILFE
31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 31. A& (&

BEz_Z2_-_=%t+t+=AH
Z+t-—BLEFEXRAZR

(a) Changes of the share capital of the (a)
Company during the year ended

31 December 2023 (Continued) BB ()
(ii) 2023 Second Subscription of New Shares (il —E-=ZFEF - RFBEH
BRH

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 30 March 2023 (the “2023 Second

BERAAGBHAE -=
:EEEHE+EZA%

Subscription Announcement”, together with (ZEZ=FFXRE
the 2023 First Subscription Announcement, Nl BRI B =FH
the “2023 Subscription Announcements”), at RN - RIEA F_
the same date, the Company entered into a Z=FRBAMD R
subscription agreement (the “2023 Second H - ARQAEE—F wﬁﬁ)\
Subscription Agreement”, together with the (ZEZ=FFXRE
2023 First Subscription Agreements, the Al Lﬂ_?‘_—ié}/’i
“2023 Subscription Agreements”) with a REA SEARIZE==
subscriber (the “2023 Second Subscriber”, FR ﬁﬁ}\l) uT_L % wﬁ%
together with the 2023 First Subscribers, the G A —— i%
2023 Subscribers”), pursuant to which the IR @H e
2023 Second Subscriber has conditionally FERREHR SBA
agreed to subscribe for and the Company has f_%ﬁi $n/uﬁ§bm ) ’
conditionally agreed to allot and issue an TJ%EI: —= __Eéﬁ

aggregate of 10,000,000 subscription shares
(the "2023 Second Subscription Shares”,

REAB GRMTRER %
[IRAACIR RSN iy

together with the 2023 First Subscription &%ﬁ.’:} $£ 10,000,000 %
Shares, the “2023 Subscription Shares”) to RERMD(TZF __i%
the 2023 Second Subscriber at the ZRARERMD] - ERZ

subscription price (the “2023 Second __¢§/Auﬂﬁﬁﬁxfﬁ' #
Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26 per 2023 BRI ZZE_=ZFREBR
Second Subscription Share (the “2023 Second B F_E __Ekk — R
Subscription”, together with the 2023 First REA R ﬁ% B(=Z%
Subscription, the “2023 Subscription”). —=FE_RRBED 7,%

BR B -_=FF KR
B I 90.2678 rc(f - =

“ZFE-RRBB
—F-= E%u\ﬁ?&ﬁ% %L
%ﬁw% |——§—:¢E’7ujnﬁ\%J)
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(@) Changes of the share capital of the
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Company during the year ended
31 December 2023 (Continued)
(ii) 2023 Second Subscription of New Shares

(Continued)

The 2023 Second Subscription Shares
represent (i) approximately 5.5% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 March 2023; and (ii) approximately
4.7% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and
issue of the 2023 Second Subscription Shares.

The 2023 Second Subscription Price is fixed at
HK$0.26 per 2023 Second Subscription Share,
which represents (i) a discount of
approximately 11.9% to the closing price of
HK$0.295 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 29 March 2023, being the last
full trading day prior to 30 March 2023; and
(i) a discount of approximately 11.9% to the
average of the closing prices per share of
HK$0.295 as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the last five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of the 2023
Second Subscription Agreement.

The 2023 Second Subscription Shares would
be issued under the general mandate granted
to the directors of the Company by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 31 May 2022.

The directors consider that the 2023 Second
Subscriber is an independent third party.

31. A& (&®)
(a) BE-_Z-_=+=ZA
ZStT-BLEFEFXRQFZR
NEBE) ()
(i) —FE-=FFZRBBEH
KR ()
—7—_$ /Aw E%HX
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=+BHARRARRBEEELT

PR 5.5% + F (ii) £E Fig B
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BOBIR T ==

ZAZthBEIZE==
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TERZXSH)HZ R
DU T E 0.295 B TR L
11.9% : R (i) Bt 32 Fr 2 8
T =FEZRRED
ZHHIIREREBER
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W T B 0.29578 LT & 40
11.9% o
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 31. @A (&)
(@) Changes of the share capital of the (@ BZ=-E=-=+=A8

Company during the year ended E+—BLEFEXRQTZR

31 December 2023 (Continued) B (F)

(ii) 2023 Second Subscription of New Shares (il —E-=FLE - RFE
(Continued) Rz (&)
Pursuant to the Company’s announcement BEAQRGHHA S
dated 4 July 2023, the Board of Directors of —=%tA E EI AN
the Company consider that all the conditions $ NAEEEgRA_Z
precedent set out in the 2023 Subscription Z=FREW %‘?Fﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ
Agreements have been fulfilled, the ﬁi‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂ*#iﬁﬂéﬁk
completion of the 2023 Subscription took T FREEREC
place on 4 July 2023 in accordance with the Z=FREWE 1%5’(&

terms and conditions of the 2023 Subscription
Agreements. An aggregate of 28,000,000
2023 Subscription Shares, representing
approximately 13.24% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the
issue and allotment of the 2023 Subscription
Shares, have been allotted and issued to the
2023 Subscribers at the subscription price of
HK$0.26 per 2023 Subscription Share. The
net proceeds (after deduction of all relevant
expenses) from the 2023 Subscription of
approximately HK$7.16 million would be
applied as general working capital of the
Group as disclosed in the 2023 Subscription
Announcements.

The new issued 2023 First Subscription Shares
and 2023 Second Subscription Shares shall
rank pari passu with the existing shares in all
respects.

The details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 27 March
2023, 30 March 2023 and 4 July 2023.

BHERZZEZ=F+tAHX
HE K o & #£28,000,000
RZZEZ=FRERH (G
i«@’*ﬂ&@ﬂ%*_?_:i
RERMDMBEAHARA
E%TTHQKZ’JBM%)E
EER—_E-_=ZFRER
1%026/%7[;21%@%{5@6?’%
RETTE_=FRE
A BT _=FRE
NEFIRE — T =%
RIS SR IBF 58 (FIBRFR
ERHBEHAI®) L
7,160,000 %8 T8 A EAR &
E-REEESD -

MBOZ-_T_=FAR
RBERNOE_FT_=F%

ZRRBERORAATE
BN FERFHAL -

LM FBEHN AR A
B-_E_=F=H-—++

B-ZF_=Ff=A=+
EI)Si;?;_itHEEI
/ﬁﬁo

261



China Fortune Holdings Limited / 2024 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZ_—Z—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) 2024 Subscription of New Shares

262

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 20
March 2024 (the “2024 Subscription
Announcement”), at the same date the Company
entered into the subscription agreements (the
“2024 Subscription Agreements”) with six
subscribers (the “2024 Subscribers”), pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to
allot and issue to the 2024 Subscribers, and the
2024 Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe for an aggregate of 30,000,000
subscription shares (the “2024 Subscription
Shares”) at the subscription price (the “2024
Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26 per 2024
Subscription Share under the general mandate
granted by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 23 May 2023 (the
“2024 Subscription™).

The 2024 Subscription Price of HK$0.26 per 2024
Subscription Share represented: (i) a premium of
approximately 10.6% over the closing price of
HK$0.235 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the date of the 2024 Subscription
Agreements; (i) a premium of approximately 1.6%
over the average closing price of approximately
HK$0.256 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five (5) trading days
immediately before the date of the 2024
Subscription Agreements; and (iii) a premium of
approximately 88.4% over the unaudited
consolidated net asset value attributable to the
Shareholders of approximately HK$0.138 per share
as at 30 June 2023.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 14
May 2024, two of the 2024 Subscribers terminated
their respective subscription agreement with the
Company.

(b)

31. BA& &)

—E_MERBHRG
BEARRIBHA-ZS _NF=
AZ+Hz2m ([ ZEZHFR
B RREAB - KRARIENR
ZRBATZZ-UFEREBAD
RIVRERE (T HFRE
Wkl - Bt - AAFIERER
—E-_=FRA-+=B%8172
AABIRRBFEAE FREFT
Z—RERE - BRMHRERER
BOTFE_NFREBA W=
TN FRBANEREEEHE
ERBE(ZZ-_NEREED
ER-ZZ-ZMNFRERMDO.26
78 70 7R B8 A& $£30,000,000 A% 7R
BROD (2T -mFERERG])
(- EFRE]) -

—HFEREBEER=_Z=

w%hﬁomﬁxf mﬁx
FTRZE N FERE W= B HFT
W ETRARMO. 235?%7373?’1
B #710.6% : (B RX TN —
ZMFREE W B HAAD ELE( )
Bz 5 B Pk F W mE SRR
7#)0.256 B TTRE#)1.6% &
(i) —E-=FANA=THBRHE
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) 2024 Subscription of New Shares

(Continued)

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 3
June 2024, the Company announced that all the
conditions precedent set out in the 2024
Subscription Agreements have been fulfilled, and
completion of the 2024 Subscription with the
remaining 2024 Subscribers took place on 3 June
2024 in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the 2024 Subscription Agreements.

An aggregate of 26,000,000 2024 Subscription
Shares, representing approximately 10.94% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the issue and allotment of the 2024 Subscription
Shares, have been allotted and issued to the
remaining 2024 Subscribers at the 2024
Subscription Price of HK$0.26 per 2024
Subscription Share. The net proceeds (after
deduction of all relevant expenses) from the
subscriptions of approximately HK$6.72 million
would be applied as general working capital of the
Group as disclosed in the 2024 Subscription
Announcements.

The directors consider that the 2024 Subscribers
are independent third parties.

The new issued 2024 Subscription Shares shall rank
pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

The details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 20 March 2024,
14 May 2024, 22 May 2024 and 3 June 2024.

31. @A (&)

(b)

“ECNEFBHRG (&)
ﬁ%$@ﬁ%:;:@$ﬁﬁz
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BB EK - Iﬁ%T TAF
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& £26,000,000/% — T — /4 4
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“HFERBERMDMEAHEA
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R =E ZOFRERKK0.2645
mm_ﬁ MU RIS E R 3 R 3%
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(c) Changes of the share capital of the
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Company subsequent to 31 December
2024

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 8
January 2025, at the same date, the Company
entered into the subscription agreements (the
“2025 Subscription Agreements”) with certain
subscribers (the “2025 Subscribers”), pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to
allot and issue to the 2025 Subscribers, and the
2025 Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe for an aggregate of 16,000,000
subscription shares (the “2025 Subscription
Shares”) at the subscription price (the “2025
Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26 per 2025
Subscription Share (the “2025 Subscription”) under
the general mandate granted by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 31 May 2024.

The 2025 Subscription Price of HK$0.26 per 2025
Subscription Share represents:

(i) a premium of approximately 44.4% over the
closing price of HK$0.18 per share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on 8 January 2025;

(i) a premium of approximately 43.6% over the
average closing price of approximately
HK$0.181 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five (5) trading days
immediately before the date of 8 January
2025; and

31. @A (&)

(9)
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 31. BA (&)
(c) Changes of the share capital of the (00 R=ZE-—_WE+=-—A=+-—

AERNRATZRESE (&)

Company subsequent to 31 December

2024 (Continued)

(iii)

a premium of approximately 130.1% over the
unaudited consolidated net asset value
attributable to the Shareholders of

(iii)

—E-NENA=TER
REGREERGREE
SEEFRA 01138 T (B

approximately HK$0.113 per share as at 30 #1130.1% @ TR —ZF
June 2024, calculated by dividing the Group’s FEXNA=THKREEHENR
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable EEARERGEEBEEF

to the Shareholders of approximately
HK$26,790,000 as at 30 June 2024 by
237,555,888 shares in issue as at 8 January
2025.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on
22 January 2025, the Company announced
that all the conditions precedent set out in
the 2025 Subscription Agreements have been
fulfilled, and the completion of 2025
Subscription took place on 22 January 2025
in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the 2025 Subscription Agreements (the
"2025 Subscription Completion”). An
aggregate of 16,000,000 2025 Subscription
Shares, representing approximately 6.3% of
the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the issue and allotment of the
2025 Subscription Shares, have been allotted
and issued to the 2025 Subscribers at the
2025 Subscription Price of HK$0.26 per 2025
Subscription Share. The net proceeds from
the subscriptions of approximately
HK$4,120,000 will be applied as general
working capital of the Group.

B #926,790,00078 7T K& JA
—ET_RE—AN\BDE
7T B% 7 237,555,888 i% =t

B o
A

i RRARIEMZ
FREHRPAEME L
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(c) Changes of the share capital of the

Company subsequent to 31 December
2024 (Continued)

The 16,000,000 2025 Subscription Shares represent
(i) approximately 6.7% of the issued share capital
of the Company immediately before the 2025
Subscription Completion; and (ii) approximately
6.3% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the issue and allotment of the 2025
Subscription Shares immediately following the 2025
Subscription Completion.

The 2025 Subscription Shares shall rank pari passu
in all respects among themselves and with all other
shares in issue at the time of allotment and issue of
the 2025 Subscription Shares.

The details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 8 January 2025
and 22 January 2025.

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 28 May
2014 which was effective at the same day and has been
expired on 28 May 2024. The primary purpose of the
Scheme is to provide incentives to directors, eligible
employees and other qualified persons who in the

opinion of the board of directors has made or will make
contributions which are or may be beneficial to the
Group as a whole.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may,
subject to certain conditions, grant to any directors,
employees, suppliers, agents, customers, distributors,
business associates or partners, professionals or other
advisors of, or consultants or contractors to, any
members of the Group or any associated companies who
in the opinion of the board of directors has made or will
make contributions which are or may be beneficial to the
Group as a whole, options to subscribe for shares in the
Company at any price but not less than the higher of (i)
nominal value of a share, (ii) the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange on the day of grant, and
(iii) the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options, subject to a
maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders, (i) the total number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, and (ii) the number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.
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32.

33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Options granted must be taken up within the time period
set out in the offer letter and upon payment of HK$1 for
each lot of share option granted.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption and up to 28 May 2024. As at 28 May 2024
and 31 December 2023, there were no outstanding
shares in respect of which options had been granted
under the Share Option Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Under the rules of the Scheme, the employer
and its employees are required to make contributions to
the Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a fixed rate of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

268

32.

33.

URGHERAR2ZXS (&)

BREEAR ZR KT ARSI 2 BER
TR AARNERSRIE L ZE
BREGFM1ETZER -

BRNBREFEURERBEZEZZ
ZHFERAZFTN\BILE - BEREE
IREETEIRE - 17« SR
ERE - RZZT_mFRA=-+N\B
ZFT-_=F+=-A=+—80 @&
EREERESEREERECEE
1TRR D ©

RIKEFIETE

AEBRAEEAEREREEER
HEAEERFBI(EE]) - 5EIZE
ERXEARGzECREASEEE
DA - BB 2R BER
HEBARMANIEE 2 b R mat &
Ko AEBYEE 2 —RER/RIE
FHEIEH AR EHK -

AEBETHE B AREESRT
BT E 2 B R e BRI AE A 5T &
KB - ZEWNBRARARFEZKRAZ
Bl L R A R AR AR B B
SEHEEMEHRES - NEEARERIK
BAIEF IR — B ERIEREE MR -



FEREZERERAA | —E-WEFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—_Z-_NF+_-A=+—HILFE

34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

35.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$270,000 and HK$270,000, respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements of certain office
premises and staff quarters (2023: HK$1,754,000 and
HK$1,754,000).

DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND GAIN
ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED
OPERATION

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Saved as Disposal of Discontinued Operation for
the year ended 31 December 2024 as disclosed in
note 14, the Company did not have any significant
disposal of subsidiaries for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

On 30 June 2023, Fortune Wayal Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Fortune Telecom Retail Chain
Holding Limited, “Fortune Wayal”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an agreement with a non-controlling
shareholder of ZK/8M BIREBAREER A T
(“Zhuhai Reminda”), pursuant to which Fortune
Wayal agreed to sell the remaining 51% equity
interest of Zhuhai Reminda for a total consideration
of RMB1 (the “Zhuhai Reminda Disposal”).

The Zhuhai Reminda Disposal was completed on 6
July 2023.
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35.
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FRAEEENRBEESE270,0005 T
} 270,000 T( = T = = F:
1,754,000 %7t & 1,754,000 8 7T) °

ERILEEXZBEREEERL
RBERB 2 W=

@ BZ=-=_-_MNMFE+=A
=+—HILFE
B4R BEEHE T _UF
+-A=+—HLEFELHEER
IEEEERIN - NARFAIE
FREALERNBAR -

BEZE-_ZEZ-_=+=ZA
=+—RHILFE
R-ZE-=%xXA=+A" ' &A
RAZAEEENBARRERER
ZRER AR (AIBRRESE
HIERAER A A [REBE])
HIKEMEBREBARBEERA
A((HWEERE ] N —RIHER
RERET s - IRt RIREER
RENARE 1 THNEEHELE
KRG BIREMERT51% (IR
BERENEEE]) -

(b)

KEEBEHESECN S
—ZELARARR
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35. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND GAIN 35 B IIEEXBERHESKIL
ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED REER IS (&)
OPERATION (Continued)

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2023 b)) BEE-—_FT_=F+=

(Continued) =+—BHLEE#E)
The net assets of Zhuhai Reminda at the date of KEERENHERHNEEF
disposal were as follows: (ERUNNE

HK$’000

FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEBFIRZEERBBD M :
which control was lost:

Plant and equipment 5 & 5% 18
Club membership BFEE 187
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 BR 3k B HoAth FE U BR 5K 25
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 43

270

Trade and other payables JE A~ BB 55 B Rk B L A B A~ BR X (1,820)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEBEFE (1,547)
Gain on disposal of Zhuhai Reminda: HEKRBEREZWE !
Consideration received BEHRE —*
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEAEFE 1,547
Non-controlling interests SRR E A (758)
Reclassification of cumulated translation BEEREEREL RFTER

reserve upon disposal of Zhuhai Reminda FEENOBREERR

to profit or loss 1,130
Gain on disposal of Zhuhai Reminda HEKESERE W= 1,919
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELEZ2REREFE .
Cash consideration ReERE —*
Less: Bank balance and cash disposed of B EHRERITESRKA S (43)

(43)

*  Less than HK$1,000.

*  /LFA1,00008 7T ©

\S



FEREZERERAA | —E-WEFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. AREE
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MG ABERREMIBOTEESE
statements, the Group had no material contingent Gh REBR-_ZE-_WME+=A
liabilities and guarantees as at 31 December 2024 (31 = t—HUESAIABERER(Z
December 2023: Nil). E-=F+—-A=+—H: &)-
37. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES 37. BAEALZHH5E
Saves as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MBAGEMIEHRREMEDFTIREE
financial statements, the Group had the following Hh REBRFANEBEALTBUT
transactions and balances with related parties during the R oMK o
year.
(a) Amounts due to related parties () BENBEALZRIE
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Amount due to Mr. Lau (note) FET RIS R E (B aF) 10,574 11,663
Amount due to Ms. Lau Zi Yin, FEN BIRE B 22 508
Michelle 83 -
10,657 11,663
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing ZEFEREER T ERA
and repayable on demand. REREE -
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37. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

37. AEATZIKE (&)

(Continued)
(a) Amounts due to related parties (Continued) () ENBEALZFIEE)
Note: Mt -
The Company obtained the Letter of Undertaking dated ARalR—_E-_RAF=A=+—H
31 March 2025 from Mr. Lau, the Chief Executive Officer, BITHARH  ITEFRAD A
executive director and the controlling shareholder of the RE AR B B e A RS K RN R
Company that he agrees to provide adequate funds to ERERANESSAEERENE
enable the Group to meet its liabilities and to settle TR BERE =AU EEL
financial obligations to third parties as and when they fall HWAREB A LEEFBERKETNE
due so that the Group can continue as a going concern —E-NF+_A=+—HERK
and carry on its business without a significant curtailment + — @8 B ATE B8 KR H 8 & E
of operations for a period of at least the next twelve BB NHRER
months from 31 December 2024.
(b) Compensation of key management (b) EEEBAESZHM
personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members FNEERHEMTIBEIEASK
of the key management during the year was as SvMemT :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET T#ET
Short-term benefits %2 BRAE A 3,792 4,217
Performance related incentive KB RABERES
payments = -
Post-employment benefits RIKEEF 39 55
3,831 4,272
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 38. EREFRHELE 2B HEEHK
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRIFVAEBRRE TS ME iZ
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BEYE  ERSNMIEFREGE
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing ﬂﬁ/é@?iﬁ’]ﬁf@%%?giﬁiﬁmgﬁ
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future FARRBEERESSHIEARER
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated BELELENIRSRENEAE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Amounts
due to
Short-term related Lease
borrowings parties liabilities Total
EEEE

RN AL2HE HERE R
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000

FET FET FET FET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZ_-ZT_NF

+=A=t+-H

LEE
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-mM&E—HF—H - 11,663 1,598 13,261
Changes from cash flows: RERERE
Borrowing raised BEEBER 10,667 - - 10,667
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEAE = — (994) (994)
Advance from related parties R T B R - 83 - 83
Repayment to related parties {838 T B 75 5IA - (1,089) - (1,089)
Total changes from financing cash flows: BEH & 7 E &

B 10,667 (1,006) (994) 8,667
Other changes: Hi 25
Addition of lease liabilities NEHERRE - - 270 270
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEABEZFISRZ - - 72 72
Termination of lease contract RIFHERN - - (427) (427)
Exchange adjustments B 5 (198) - (54) (252)
Total other changes H it B Eh4a%e (198) = (139) (337)
At 31 December 2024 T S 1t

+-A=+—H 10,469 10,657 465 21,591
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

38. HMEEFHELE 2B EHR#®@)

(Continued)
Amounts
due to
related Lease
parties liabilities Total
eI REE
AL 2B HEBE fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE-E==%
+tZA=+—-HILEE
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=4—-A—-AH 313 1,001 1314
Changes from cash flows: ReRERE:
Repayment of lease liabilities BREERE = (1,216) (1,216)
Advance from a related party RE—ZBEBALZER 11,350 = 11,350
Total changes from financing cash flows: HEREREE
435 11,350 (1,216) 10,134
Other changes: Hing 5 :
Addition of lease liabilities NEHERRE = 1,754 1,754
Interest expense on lease liabilities MERBIMERX = 103 103
Termination of lease contract KIFEEEY = (29) (29)
Exchange adjustments b 5 = (15) (15)
Total other changes Hih B a%E = 1,813 1,813
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=%F
+-A=+-H 11,663 1,598 13,261
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39. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

39. ZIRATMBEMRRR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 R-EBE-MFE+=HA=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
Non-current Asset FIRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR 2”& - -
Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables H i R U BR X 54 223
Amount due from a ER—FEHRB AR
subsidiary I8 13,408 11,763
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEZEY 11 13
13,473 11,999
Current Liabilities REEE
Other payables H A FE T BR X 6,616 2,487
Amount due to a N —REEALTZ
related party K 83 -
Amounts due to a subsidiary A —RERE AR
KIE 22,539 26,507
29,238 28,994
Net Current Liabilities REBEEEE (15,765) (16,995)
Net Liabilities EEFE (15,765) (16,995)
Capital and Reserves EXR#E
Share capital f& s 37 2,376 2,116
Reserves (L] (18,141) (19,111)
(15,765) (16,995)
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40. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 40. A E)HE

The movements of the reserves of the Company are as RNARIEBEEINT -
followings:
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
B {5 E BaRe RItER @ct
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
T FET FET FET
(note (i) (note (ii)
below) below)
(R FX (£ TFX
30)) Fiet (i)
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F
—H—H 463,439 40,948 (526,023) (21,636)
2023 Subscription of New Shares —Z==%
(see note 31(a)) RO
(RHf7t31(a) 7,000 - - 7,000
Issuance of new shares expenses  ZE{THI DB (72) - = (72)
Loss and total comprehensive FENEEREE
expenses for the year Fx 85 - = (4,403) (4,403)
At 31 December 2023 and R_Z_=F
1 January 2024 +=—H=+—"H
R-_ZT_MF
—H—H 470,367 40,948 (530,426) (19,111)
2024 Subscription of New Shares =& ~[J4F
(see note 31(b)) REBHA
(ZHizt31(b)) 6,500 - - 6,500
Issuance of new shares expenses  E{THII% (7 BT 2 (45) - - (45)
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZER
expenses for the year X 4B%E - = (5,485) (5,485)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZNF
+=A=1+—H 476,822 40,948 (535,911) (18,141)
Notes: Hiet -
(i)  The share premium represents the amount subscribed for i)y BHOBRERERERASEBLEE
share capital in excess of nominal value. ZFRIE .
(i)  The contributed surplus represents the difference iy EBERBHEEHEKBAREARR

between the consolidated shareholder’s funds of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company, and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation less the amount applied to pay up the
1,000,000 Nil paid shares at the time of the group
reorganisation.

WEZEAZGEARRESEARF
REBBAR L L B m TR
D EERAASEREEEAR
171,000,000 B A AR AR B A7 AR
ZARIEAME ZER °
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of
which are incorporated with limited liability as follows:

41. FENHBATIER

ARREEMERR (G REMKIL
ZERRAB)FHBWMT

Issued and fully

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary  establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activity
AR BRORBE FRAMBERTRAEE/
WEAREH ko Bx/ &R afER LA TEXH
2024 2023
—BCmE  —ZT-CF
Express Fortune BVI Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
Express Fortune RERTES RERIES RERR
Holdings Limited
Express Fortune Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10 100% 100%  Provision of
Non-voting deferred management
HK$5,000,000 services
(note (i) below)
RERRAA BB EBRI10ET RUERRY
ERFERTRR
5,000,000/ 7T
(FXHiz()
Fortune Shanghai Wholly foreign owned US$28,100,000 100% 100%  Trading in mobile
enterprise established phones
in the PRC
LERE RPERI NI EEE 28,100,000 REVDER
1
Sifa Mining Sino-foreign equity joint RMB1,000,000 - 50.80%  Exploration and
ventures established extraction of
in the PRC mining resources
g £ R BRI RIEE AR% 1,000,000 BRREFEREE
gatx £V
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. EENHBATIER (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Proportion of nominal

Issued and fully value of issued share
Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary  establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activity
KL/ ERORBR ARAMHCRIRAEE/
WEARER B Ba/ZRELR afEAR 2 Al TEXH
2024 2023
it S S —

Eagles Fund Technology Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited

ZRESHERE BB LB 10,0004 T REEK
BRARA

Fortune Telecom Supply Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 51% 51%  Trading in mobile
Chain Limited phones and

electronic
products

REEEHER &b LR 1,000 BEBHEER
BRAT EFERD

Shanghai Yuanjia Wholly foreign owned US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

enterprise established
in the PRC

LEER R BRI BE 5,000,000 %7 RAEK

i1

EREREFRI Sino-foreign equity joint RMB2,000,000 60% 60%  Advertising and
AR2A7] (“Beijing ventures established (note (ii) below) subscription
Daizhangmen”) in the PRC services

IRREFRBEER  RPERZAPIEE AR2,000,0007C BERRBRS

RA(ERKEM])  FERx (& FXHiE (i)

RO RESAERBE  Sino-foreign equity joint RMB10,000,000 51% 51%  Trading in electronic
RERHBRAR ventures established products
(Changyuan in the PRC
Shuangyu”)

RORESHERBE RPERIOPIEE AR 10,000,0007 BEEEfEM
BRI ERLH etz
(IRE%R])
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)  The deferred shares carry practically no rights to dividends
or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of the respective company or to participate in
any distribution on winding up.

(i)  Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Beijing
Daizhangmen, the registered share capital of Beijing
Daizhangmen was RMB20,000,000. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group and non-
controlling shareholder of Beijing Daizhangmen made a
contribution of RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,260,000) and RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,840,000) to Beijing Daizhangmen respectively. As
at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the issued
capital of Beijing Daizhangmen was RMB 10,000,000, the
Group and the non-controlling shareholder of Beijing
Daizhangmen owned RMB6,000,000 and RMB4,000,000
issued capital of Beijing Daizhangmen respectively.

The Company directly holds the interest in Express
Fortune Holdings Limited. All other interests shown
above are indirectly held by the Company.

The principal activities are carried out in the place of
incorporation/establishment except for Express Fortune
Holdings Limited which mainly carries out its business in
Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

41. FENMBLATER (&)

Kt -

() BERMHER LTS KEERH
XA Z BB S MER A B A R AT A
RRGBEHILERRAGINE
FRESHIFRIE2E IR 2T o

(i) WMEUILIKREMZAZBZZHEA -
ITRKREMZAMBRARARE
20,000,000L > B =2 =T = — F
+ZA=+—BLFE T&£EK
IEREBEP 2 TR R S Bl
TREFHE ARE,000,0007T (17
B 77,260,000 T ) & A R ¥
4,000,000 7T ( #8 & 724,840,000 %
L) e RZE-_WE+=-A=+—H
;=T =F+=-A=+—80" 1t
AREMEZFTREARARE
10,000,0007C * A& B RILREKE
PIZ IR R D BIHER L RRE
P92 B 81T A A R ¥ 6,000,000 7T
N AR# 4,000,000 7T °

K A &l H ¥ #F B Express Fortune
Holdings Limited 2 # % o FiltFT A &
MRS BAQREERS -

F% Express Fortune Holdings Limited 3
BEERBRERRIN LA FERK
EhNS IRV AVE: - T L

&M B R AR AR B AR ] 15
EEMEFES

ERFIEDESRRYAREZE
EREEFEAERTEZARAN
BAR - BEEZRR - B EMBHER
AIZFHBEESARERERITER -
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42.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

42, FFiEpRERS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material AREEHEGEAFIERER ZHBA
non-controlling interests are set out below: BEEEHEY T -
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=
Percentage of equity held by non- IR PR R 2
controlling interests: =R
Sifa Mining (Note 14) SR (MfaF 14) - 49.20%
Zhuhai Reminda (Note 35(b)) B EWRE (M 350)) N/ATEA -
Beijing Daizhangmen IER&EF 40.00% 40.00%
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Loss for the year allocated to non- SEREEIFERERZ
controlling interests: FARE
— Sifa Mining — BEIIEE (289) (2,462)
— Zhuhai Reminda — IRBEIRE N/ATRE R 1,555
— Beijing Daizhangmen — It REEF] (365) (1,432)
— Individually immaterial subsidiaries — BEIEE AR R 2 (@ Al
with non-controlling interests FERMEBRF] (1,541) (144)
(2,195) (2,483)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling ¥R B 8 JEiERHE
interest at the reporting date: 2 BETH 5 -
— Sifa Mining — EREBEE - (43,915)
— Zhuhai Reminda —RBERE N/ATREH =
— Beijing Daizhangmen — It REEFT (1,629) (1,318)
— Individually immaterial subsidiaries — HEIEER i 2 fE R
with non-controlling interests FERMBAF] (506) (490)
(2,135) (45,723)
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42. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 42.
(Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set our below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intergroup

FEFERR S (/)

BAEEAFER G 2 A ARE LB
RBIZHMBEMREHINAT « AT
MBI B R B S HAT 258

eliminations.
Sifa Beijing
Mining Daizhangmen
SRR ETRKEM
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
As of and for the year ended BE-Z-IOF
31 December 2024 +=-HA=+-—H
RBEZBHLFE
Revenue Wz - -
Total expenses FElE (4,465) (1,161)
Loss for the year FEEE (4,465) (863)
Total comprehensive expenses FRNEHERZETE
for the year (1,153) (727)
Current assets mENEE - 160
Non-current assets ERBNEE - -
Current liabilities MEEE - (4,181)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - =
Net cash flows generated from KEEBME (TR RS
(used in) operating activities mEFR (205) 276
Net cash flows generated from KREEBFSHERE
investing activities R - —
Net cash flows used in BEEBARERE
financing activities it - (267)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and Re MRS FEYIL N
cash equivalents Rl ) %758 (205) 9
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42. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 42, FFIERERS (E)
(Continued)
Sifa Zhuhai Beijing
Mining Reminda Daizhangmen
RS KEERE I REREF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000
T T T
As of and for the year ended H#Z=-ZF=-=
31 December 2023 +=A=+-—8
kRBZZA
LLFE
Revenue Wz - - =
Total expenses FELE (5,005) (45) (4,446)
Profit (loss) for the year FEm M (EE) (5,004) 3,713 (3,582)
Total comprehensive income FREERA
(expense) for the year (FAX) 4% (2,671) 3,273 (3,557)
Current assets mENEE 475 - 311
Non-current assets EMENEE - — 560
Current liabilities MEAE (89,292) - (3,987)
Non-current liabilities EmEAE - = (178)
Net cash flows used in KEEEFTARS
operating activities mEFE (534) = (86)
Net cash flows generated from & & EBFT5H G
investing activities mEFEE = = =
Net cash flows used in BMEESMARE
financing activities ME R - = (91)
Net decrease in cash and ReERRESEZEY
cash equivalents B EER (534) = (177)
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD

On 8 January 2025, the Company entered into
subscription agreements with two independent third
parties (“the 2025 Subscribers”), pursuant to which the
2025 Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe,
and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue, a total 16,000,000 shares of HK$0.26 each for a
cash consideration of approximately HK$4.16 million
(“the 2025 Subscriptions”). On 22 January 2025, the
2025 Subscriptions has been completed and details of
which are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 22 January 2025.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, there were no other significant
events subsequent to the reporting period.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31
March 2025.

43.

44.

HREHEREIR

RZZE-RAF—HANH " ARQAER
EBUE=A(ZZE-_AFRBAD
FIUREWRE Bt —E-RFR
BADBBRUERERE - ﬁ$@75
ERHEREREZRETAEH
16,000,000 X F AR EI{E 0.26 /& JTHY AR
7 MERELE4,160,000/8 ([ =
T_REREFRE]) - NZTAF
—A-+-R —ZE-AFERBEEE
XK BRAFBHRAAREEHA
TECRF A+ ZHMAMH -

BREREMBREAASBEEESIN  HE
IR W M EMEANEIR -

GRS M EERE

HEMBRRENR_-_T_RAF=A4
=t AREESHERIRETE -
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—ECTE T —T--F —T-=-F —BE-NE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHETL FET FET FET FET
Revenue I 80,949 79,172 80,576 81,542 43,634
Loss for the year FEEE (4,624) (14274  (20,389)  (15,099)  (42,078)
Attributable to: FEfh
Owners of the Company ZA/NCIEZEUN 219 (9,928)  (14,372)  (12,616)  (31,511)
Non-controlling interests IR (4,843) (4,346) (6,017) (2,483) (2,195)
4,624)  (14274)  (20,389)  (15,099)  (33,706)
Total assets BERE 39,335 47,512 15,747 38,902 60,977
Total liabilities BERRE (64,627)  (36,373)  (25,097)  (56,584)  (74,833)
(25,292) 11,139 (9,350)  (17,682)  (13,856)
Equity attributable to owners 72 B A A (G
of the Company = 16,763 53,854 35,688 28,041 (11,721)
Non-controlling interests FETER R (42,055) (42,715) (45,038) (45,723) (2,135)
(25,292) 11,139 (9,350)  (17,682)  (13,856)
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